

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm



MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

> Jeffrey S. Saltz Kevin Crowston Robert Heckman Yatish Hegde



How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

> David Henriques Ruben Pereira Isaías S. Bianchi Rafael Almeida Miguel Mira da Silva

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

48

Moutaz Haddara Angelo Constantini



Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

> Camilo Micán Gabriela Fernandes Madalena Araújo





Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

Mission

The mission of the IJISPM - International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management - is the dissemination of new scientific knowledge on information systems management and project management, encouraging further progress in theory and practice.

The IJISPM publishes leading scholarly and practical research articles that aim to advance the information systems management and project management fields of knowledge, featuring state-of-the-art research, theories, approaches, methodologies, techniques, and applications.

The journal serves academics, practitioners, chief information officers, project managers, consultants, and senior executives of organizations, establishing an effective communication channel between them.

Description

The IJISPM offers wide-ranging and comprehensive coverage of all aspects of information systems management and project management, seeking contributions that build on established lines of work, as well as on new research streams. Particularly pursuing multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary perspectives, and focusing on currently emerging issues, the journal welcomes both pure and applied research that impacts theory and practice.

The journal content provides relevant information to researchers, practitioners, and organizations, and includes original qualitative or qualitative articles, as well as purely conceptual or theoretical articles. Due to the integrative and interdisciplinary nature of information systems and project management, the journal may publish articles from a number of other disciplines, including strategic management, psychology, organizational behavior, sociology, economics, among others. Articles are selected for publication based on their relevance, rigor, clarity, novelty, and contribution to further development and research.

Authors are encouraged to submit articles on information technology governance, information systems planning, information systems design and implementation, information technology outsourcing, project environment, project management life-cycle, project management knowledge areas, criteria and factors for success, social aspects, chief information officer role, chief information officer skills, project manager role, project manager skills, among others.

Topics covered

The journal offers comprehensive coverage of information systems management and project management.

- The topics include, but are not limited to:
- information technology governance
- · information systems planning
- information systems design and implementation
- information technology outsourcing
- enterprise architecture
- information systems governance
- information systems department
- chief information officer role
- information technology leadership role
- chief information officer skills
- information systems management tools
- management of complex projects
- audits
- innovation
- ethics

- project environment project management life-cycle
- project initiation
- project planning
- project execution
- project control and monitoring
- project closing
- success criteria and success factors
- project manager role
- project manager skills
- · portfolio management
- program management
- managing organization structure
- tools and techniques
- project evaluation

- · project management knowledge areas
- scope management
- time management
- cost management
- · quality management
- procurement management
- risk management
- communication management
- human resources management
- performance teams
- social aspects
- conflict management
- managing organization responsibilities
- project management office
- contracts

Special issues devoted to important specific topics will be evaluated for publication.



Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

Editorial board

Editor-in-Chief: João Varajão, University of Minho, Portugal

Senior Editors:

Albert Boonstra, University of Groningen, The Netherlands Manuela Cruz Cunha, Polytec. Institute of Cávado and Ave, Portugal Philip Powell, University of London, United Kingdom

Associate Editors:

Ahmed Elragal, German University in Cairo, Egypt António Trigo, Polytechnic Institute of Coimbra, Portugal Duminda Wijesekera, George Mason University, USA Janne Härkönen, University of Oulu, Finland Ricardo Palacios, Østfold University College, Norway Susan P. Williams, University of Koblenz, Germany **Executive Editor:** Dulce Domingos, *University of Lisbon, Portugal*

International Editorial Review Board:

Anca Draghici, Politehnica University of Timisoara, Romania Kathryn Cormican, NUI Galway, Ireland Leandro Pereira, University Institute of Lisbon, Portugal Liane Haak, Hochschule Osnabrück - U. of applied sciences, Germany Hans-Henrik Hvolby, C. for Logistics, Aalborg University, Denmark Michael A. Chilton, Kansas State University, USA Mirjana Pejić Bach, University of Zagreb, Croatia Moutaz Haddara, Høyskolen Kristiania, Norway Stephen Burgess, Victoria University, Australia Vicente Montequín, University of Oviedo, Spain

Submissions

Researchers and practitioners are encouraged to submit their manuscripts to the IJISPM. The guidelines for submission can be found at the journal's home page: ijispm.sciencesphere.org

Special issues

Proposals for special issues should be submitted to the Editor-in-Chief. E-mail: editor.ijispm@sciencesphere.org

Advertising information

The journal accepts advertising in the following categories: IT/IS events; IT/IS training and education; IT/IS entities. For full details, please contact the editorial office. E-mail: jjspm@sciencesphere.org

Correspondence and questions

All correspondence and questions should be directed to João Varajão (Editor-in-Chief). E-mail: editor.ijispm@sciencesphere.org

Copyright © 2020, SciKA. General permission to republish in print or electronic forms, but not for profit, all or part of this material is granted, provided that the International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management copyright notice is given and that reference made to the publication, to its date of issue, and to the fact that reprinting privileges were granted by permission of SciKA - Association for Promotion and Dissemination of Scientific Knowledge.



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

Table of contents

SPECIAL FEATURES

01 Editorial

João Varajão, University of Minho, Portugal

RESEARCH ARTICLES

05 MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

Jeffrey S. Saltz, Syracuse University, USA Kevin Crowston, Syracuse University, USA Robert Heckman, Syracuse University, USA Yatish Hegde, Tulane University, USA

25 How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

David Henriques, Instituto Universitário de Lisboa, Portugal Ruben Pereira, Instituto Universitário de Lisboa, Portugal Isaías S. Bianchi, Al-Farabi Kazakh National University, Kazakhstan Rafael Almeida, University of Lisbon, Portugal Miguel Mira da Silva, University of Lisbon, Portugal

48 Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

Moutaz Haddara, Kristiania University College, Norway Angelo Constantini, Kristiania University College, Norway

67 Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Camilo Micán, University of Valle, Colombia Gabriela Fernandes, University of Coimbra, Portugal Madalena Araújo, University of Minho, Portugal



Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

IJISPM

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020



Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

Editorial

The mission of the *IJISPM* - *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management* is the dissemination of new scientific knowledge on information systems management and project management, encouraging further progress in theory and practice.

It is our great pleasure to bring you the third number of the eighth volume of IJISPM. In this issue readers will find important contributions on data science analysis, ERP, IT Governance, IoT project implementation, and Project portfolio risk management.

The first article, "MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis", is authored by Jeffrey S. Saltz, Kevin Crowston, Robert Heckman, and Yatish Hegde. As the authors state, with the increasing ability to generate actionable insight from data, the field of data science has seen significant growth. As more teams develop data science solutions, the analytical code they develop will need to be enhanced in the future, by an existing or a new team member. Thus, the importance of being able to easily maintain and enhance the code required for an analysis will increase. However, to date, there has been minimal research on the maintainability of an analysis done by a data science team. To help address this gap, in this article the data science maintainability was explored by (1) creating a data science maintainability model, (2) creating a new tool, called MIDST (Modular Interactive Data Science Tool), and then (3) conducting a mixed method experiment to evaluate MIDST. The new tool aims to improve the ability of a team member to update and rerun an existing data science analysis by providing a visual data flow view of the analysis within an integrated code and computational environment.

The title of the second article is "How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation", which is authored by David Henriques, Ruben Pereira, Isaías S. Bianchi, Rafael Almeida, and Miguel Mira da Silva. Internet of things (IoT) is considered a key technology for the Industry 4.0 revolution. Information Technology (IT) governance (ITG) is now an increasingly important tool for organizations to align their IT strategy and infrastructures with the organizations' business objectives. The most adopted ITG framework is COBIT, which defines seven enabler categories. These enablers aim to facilitate the implementation, identification, and management of IT. This research aims to determine, explore, and define which are the most suitable IT governance enablers to assist managers in IoT implementation. Results indicate that data privacy, data protection, and data analysis are currently the most relevant enablers to consider in an IoT implementation because they increase the efficiency of the solution and enhance data credibility.

The third article, authored by Moutaz Haddara and Angelo Constantini, is entitled "Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II". One of the major visions is having one system that covers all business functions and satisfies virtually all the standard processes and routine transactions within organizations. In the last decade, several academics and practitioners have predicted the rise of what is called enterprise resource planning systems II (ERP II). ERP II was sought to be a digital platform that is capable of supporting timely decision-making through covering all business functions' processes through having preloaded modules that will minimize the need for external systems like separate customer relationship management (CRM), e-business platforms, and supply chain management (SCM) systems, among others. While ERP systems nowadays have matured, and several packages come with CRM modules and other solutions, however separate CRM systems are still widely adopted by organizations. Thus, this study investigates why organizations that currently have ERPs with CRM modules are still investing in separate CRM systems. The results show that the current ERP systems did not reach the ERP II state as envisioned, as most organizations are inclined to adopt separate CRM systems. The authors have presented five main reasons for this inclination, which are: scoping during ERP implementations, costs, features and functionalities, user-friendliness and ease of use, and finally integration with e-business platforms.



Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

"Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research" is the fourth article and is authored by Camilo Micán, Gabriela Fernandes, and Madalena Araújo. Project Portfolio Risk Management (PPRM) has been identified as a relevant area regarding project portfolio success. This paper reports on a structured literature review of PPRM. The content analysis reveals four main recurrent topics in PPRM: (1) The influence of RM on project portfolio success, based on project portfolio impact level, moderators or contingency factors between RM and project portfolio success, and PPRM dimensions; (2) risk and project interdependencies, highlighting resources, technology, outcome, value, and accomplishment project interdependencies; (3) project portfolio risk (PPR) identification, where four main risk source categories are identified; and (4) PPR assessment, composed of risk measures and the main methods used for risk assessment. This study also provides an overview of PPRM as a research field, while it also promotes four future research directions: (1) PPRM as part of organizational RM; (2) RM, success dimensions and strategic impact; (3) mechanisms for PPR assessment, and (4) PPRM as a complex and dynamic system.

We would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to the distinguished members of the Editorial Board, for their commitment and for sharing their knowledge and experience in supporting the IJISPM.

Finally, we would like to express our gratitude to all the authors who submitted their work, for their insightful visions and valuable contributions.

We hope that you, the readers, find the International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management an interesting and valuable source of information for your continued work.

The Editor-in-Chief, João Varajão University of Minho Portugal



João Varajão is currently a professor of information systems and project management at the *University of Minho*. He is also a researcher at the *ALGORITMI Research Center* at the *University of Minho*. Born and raised in Portugal, he attended the *University of Minho*, earning his Undergraduate (1995), Masters (1997), and Doctorate (2003) degrees in Technologies and Information Systems. In 2012, he received his Habilitation degree from the *University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro*. His current main research interests are related to Information Systems and Information Systems Project Management success. Before joining academia, he worked as an IT/IS consultant, project manager, information systems analyst and software developer, for private companies and public institutions. He has supervised more than 100 Masters and Doctoral dissertations in the Information Systems field. He has published over 300 works, including refereed publications, authored books, edited books, as well as book chapters and communications at international conferences. He serves as editor-in-chief, associate editor and member of the editorial board for international journals and has served on numerous committees of international conferences and workshops. He is the co-founder of CENTERIS – Conference on ENTERprise Information Systems and of ProjMAN – International Conference on Project MANagement.

www.shortbio.net/joao@varajao.com

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 1-2



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

Jeffrey S. Saltz

Syracuse University 343 Hinds Hall, Syracuse, NY 13210 USA jsaltz@syr.edu

Kevin Crowston

Syracuse University 343 Hinds Hall, Syracuse, NY 13210 USA crowston@syr.edu

Robert Heckman

Syracuse University 343 Hinds Hall, Syracuse, NY 13210 USA rheckman@syr.edu

Yatish Hegde

Tulane University 7 McAlister Drive New Orleans, LA 70118 USA yhegde@tulane.edu



J. S. Saltz, K. Crowston, R. Heckman, Y. Hegde, "MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis", International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 5-22, 2020.



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

Jeffrey S. Saltz Syracuse University 343 Hinds Hall, Syracuse, NY 13210 USA jsaltz@syr.edu

Kevin Crowston Syracuse University 343 Hinds Hall, Syracuse, NY 13210 USA crowston@syr.edu Robert Heckman

Syracuse University 343 Hinds Hall, Syracuse, NY 13210 USA rheckman@syr.edu

Yatish Hegde

Tulane University 7 McAlister Drive New Orleans, LA 70118 USA yhegde@tulane.edu

Abstract:

With the increasing ability to generate actionable insight from data, the field of data science has seen significant growth. As more teams develop data science solutions, the analytical code they develop will need to be enhanced in the future, by an existing or a new team member. Thus, the importance of being able to easily maintain and enhance the code required for an analysis will increase. However, to date, there has been minimal research on the maintainability of an analysis done by a data science team. To help address this gap, data science maintainability was explored by (1) creating a data science maintainability model, (2) creating a new tool, called MIDST (Modular Interactive Data Science Tool), that aims to improve data science maintainability, and then (3) conducting a mixed method experiment to evaluate MIDST. The new tool aims to improve the ability of a team member to update and rerun an existing data science analysis by providing a visual data flow view of the analysis within an integrated code and computational environment. Via an analysis of the quantitative and qualitative survey results, the experiment found that MIDST does help improve the maintainability of an analysis. Thus, this research demonstrates the importance of enhanced tools to help improve the maintainability of data science projects.

Keywords:

project management; data science; maintainability; visual programming; data science development environment.

DOI: 10.12821/ijispm080301

Manuscript received: 20 May 2019 Manuscript accepted: 5 April 2020

Copyright © 2020, SciKA. General permission to republishe in print or electronic forms, but not for profit, all or part of this material is granted, provided that the International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management copyright notice is given and that reference made to the publication, to its date of issue, and to the fact that reprinting privileges were granted by permission of SciKA - Association for Promotion and Dissemination of Scientific Knowledge.

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 5-22

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

1. Introduction

Data Science is an emerging discipline that combines expertise across a range of domains, including software development, data management and statistics. Data science projects typically have a goal to identify correlations and causal relationships, classify and predict events, identify patterns and anomalies, and infer probabilities, interest and sentiment [1]. As a new field, much has been written about the development of data science algorithms. Unfortunately, less has been written about other challenges that might be encountered when working as a data scientist [2].

One such challenge that has not yet been extensively explored, but that will grow in importance, is the ability to create an analysis that is easy to maintain and enhance. Maintainability, which is the ease with which a solution can be modified to correct faults, improve performance, enhance capabilities, or adapt to a changed environment [3], is of growing importance due to the fact that not every data science analysis is a "one-off" task, and, as more organizations start to leverage data science, there will be a growing need to update previously developed insights. For example, an analysis might need to be updated due to a change in a data source or to evaluate a new machine-learning algorithm. Moreover, this update might need to be done by a new team member, thereby increasing the importance of having code that is easy to understand by someone that was not part of the original team that developed the initial analysis.

In general, maintenance (or actions taken after the first implementation) is an important aspect of a project's lifecycle [4] and as well as an important aspect of project management [5]. While project documentation can represent a valuable source of knowledge, it has been noted that the knowledge codified in project documents is typically not re-used in future projects [6]. Hence, project documentation, while helpful, is not sufficient for a team to maintain an application.

With respect to data science, Jagadish et al. [7] describe a workflow where data flows from acquisition, to information extraction and cleaning, then to data integration, and then modeling and analysis. Furthermore, due to the exploratory nature of data science, this workflow typically involves iterative cycles of obtaining, cleaning, profiling, analyzing, and interpreting data [8, 9]. However, RStudio, which is the most commonly used tool for creating an analysis when using the R programming language [10, 11], uses a functional code-based framework, which is similar to many software development interactive development environments (IDEs), in that there are multiple views within the environment, including views of actual source code, the output of recently run commands, and of the variables defined in the current scope of execution.

Due to this non-linear flow within data science, Rule et al. [12] observed that an analysis, written using a linear construct, which is how one creates R code within RStudio, often becomes difficult to navigate and understand. This difficulty in navigation and understandability discourages sharing and reuse. One approach that has been explored to address this challenge is the use of a visual data flow metaphor [13], and in fact, a data flow construct has been suggested as the conceptual mental model used by a data scientist [14]. This mental model is very different from the text-based coding environment used within tools such as RStudio. Hence, using tools such as RStudio might create a representation mismatch between the code being written and the abstracted data-driven mental model used by the data scientist [15]. This conceptual mismatch could make it difficult for a data scientist to understand and update code that was previously developed, especially if that code was developed by a different person.

Currently, there is no commonly used general purpose R development environment that is based on the concept of a visual data flow metaphor that defines and links R modules. Thus, one potential step forward to improve the maintainability of an analysis could be via a tool that creates such a visual data flow paradigm, integrated within a codebased programming environment. With this background in mind, our research explored if the maintainability of an analysis could be improved when data scientists use an enhanced development environment. Specifically, we focused on the following research question:

Does using visual data flow tool, within an integrated data science development environment, improve the ability of a new team member to reuse and update an existing analysis?

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

The next section provides some additional background context. In Section 3, we describe the new tool that was developed to explore our research question, and the methodology used for an experiment to assess the impact of the tool on the maintainability of an analysis. Section 4 presents findings from the study. Section 5 presents a synthesis of our research results, and Section 6 summarizes the research, discusses limitations, and describes possible next steps.

2. Background

2.1 Data Science Project Maintainability

Pimentel et al. [16] noted that data science analyses often use poor coding practices, which means that their results can be hard to reproduce and maintain. For example, prior research has revealed that many analyses were difficult to understand, and that even the original analyst can struggle to understand their prior effort [12, 17]. Furthermore, while describing the challenge of creating maintainable R applications, Malviya et al. [18] state that a well-defined workflow (i.e., where to put/get data and how to produce, collect and report the results) can help improve maintainability. They hypothesize that this workflow should be created within a tool, but only describe the tool at a high level. In support of this view, Simmons et al. [19] analyzed code from 1048 data science projects and observed that data science projects suffer from a high rate of functions that use an excessive number of parameters and local variables, and thus, would be difficult to maintain. It was also noted that data science projects do not follow traditional software engineering conventions because traditional software engineering conventions are inappropriate in the context of data science projects.

To help try and address this maintainability challenge, one recent study explored the ability to fold (i.e., hide) logical chunks of code, which had mixed results due to, for example, new data scientists overlooking folded sections [12]. Others have explored how to best capture previous exploration within an analysis by improving tools to understand the history of the analysis [20].

Beyond this, research on data science maintainability is rare [21]. Others have, however, noted the importance in maintaining an analysis. For example, Dhar & Mazumdar [22] identify maintainability as a key challenge in using big data science within an enterprise context and note that the availability of new tools and IDEs could minimize this challenge and make maintenance less of an issue. In addition, Sachdeva & Chung [23] also observe that maintainability is a key challenge that is typically ignored, but which is becoming increasingly important and needs to be handled in a well-defined manner.

Finally, one key aspect of maintainability is reproducibility, which Tatman et al. [24] define as "recreating the exact results" (pg. 2). In other words, it is the extent to which consistent results are obtained when an analysis is repeated. This is an important first step with respect to maintainability because if one cannot reproduce an analysis, then one cannot refine/enhance that analysis. Tatman at al. [24] describe three levels of reproducibility. Low reproducibility studies are those which merely describe algorithms that were used within an analysis, medium reproducibility studies are those which provide the code and data but not the computational environment in which the code can be run, and high reproducibility studies are those which provide the code, data, and full computational environment necessary to reproduce the results of the study.

With respect to reproducibility, it has been noted that high reproducibility is a significant challenge when developing Rbased analyses [25]. In fact, Beaulieu-Jones & Greene [26] observed that even an analysis that is "scriptable and should be easy to reproduce (...) remains difficult and time consuming to reproduce computational results because analyses are designed and run in a specific computing environment, which may be difficult or impossible to match from written instructions" (pg. 342).

2.2 Data Science Development Environments

Beyond RStudio, there are other development environments that focus on high reproducibility, such as container-based environments. Specifically, high reproducibility can be achieved via the use of a container tool such as docker, which allows an application to be packaged with all its parts, such as libraries and other dependencies, and act like a light

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

weight virtual machine for creating a complete computing environment [25, 26]. This includes tools such as Kaggle Kernels [27] and Jupyter notebooks [28]. However, none of these environments address the non-linear nature of data science analysis [12].

As previously noted, a visual data flow metaphor might be an interesting alternative to existing data science IDEs. At its core, a visual data flow program represents code using graphical box-and-wire diagrams, where boxes denote modules (or functions) and wires denote the passing of values between functions [27]. Leveraging this visual data flow paradigm has been used for decades to analyze data [29, 30]. For example, the Application Visualization System (AVS) was created nearly thirty years ago [31] and was designed around the concept of software building blocks, or modules, which could be interconnected to form a visual data flow program. In fact, it has been noted that visual data flow programming is most successful where data manipulation is the foremost important task [32].

This visual metaphor is now receiving renewed attention across a range of applications [33, 34]. However, within a data science context, these visual data science data flow tools do not focus on the development of R code. Rather, these are higher-level tools that promote the idea of "machine learning for everyone" by enabling people who do not code to be able to create a data analysis. For example, Weka [35], a popular machine learning development environment, provides both a command line interface and a graphical interface that is focused on higher-level graphical programming, as opposed to providing a graphical user interface to help data scientists develop their R code. Another visual data science tool, KNIME, does make it possible for programmers to create nodes using a node wrapper that understands/parses R code, but like Weka, developing new R code is not core to the thought process of the users of KNIME [36]. Other examples of these higher-level visual programming environments include ViSta for statistical analysis [37], and Orange for machine learning [38]. In other words, while there are visual data flow programming tools for data science, these tools are focused on higher level constructs to create an analysis by reusing existing nodes or whole workflows (i.e., not focused on programming). Due to this difference in focus, it has been observed that when trying to develop R code within tools such as KNIME, users had issues due to the lack of integration between visual data flow editor and the textual environment, which led to user frustration [39].

In short, there is currently no commonly used general purpose development environment for developing R code that is based on the concept of data flow, where the user creates code modules and links those custom nodes [39]. However, a small 4-person case study of a data flow prototype system found that integrating a code-based environment with a visual data flow view was useful in creating a more understandable analysis [40], which suggests that a visual data flow view might improve maintainability.

2.3 Software Development Project Maintainability Models

Even in software development, the concept of maintainability is often overlooked. For example, in a systematic literature review that focused on compiling and synthesizing project success factors in Information Technology (IT) projects, the concept of maintainability was not explicitly noted [41]. Furthermore, the need for maintainability was only implicitly noted in a systematic literature review that identified factors of IT project complexity, where reusability was noted as a key complexity factor [42].

However, due to the importance of software maintainability, during the past 20+ years, a wide range of maintainability models have been proposed. In one model, Muthanna et al. [43] focused on design level metrics that characterize the overall data and control flow between modules. In a different example, [44] describes a higher-level quality model, which includes self-descriptiveness, modifiability and testability as the sub characteristics for maintainability. In yet a different example, Rizvi et al. [45] describe a model for maintainability that has two key factors: understandability and modifiability. More generally, Dubey & Rana [46] analyzed 17 maintainability models and identified 37 different maintainability attributes. The most frequently mentioned attribute was testability (noted in 47% of the models), and other frequently mentioned attributes included self-descriptiveness, modifiability and understandability. In fact, understandability has been identified as playing a pivotal role in software maintenance [47].

With respect to evaluating the maintainability of a software system, Roehm et al. [48] explored maintainability via an observational study of 28 developers to identify the steps developers perform when understanding software and the

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

artifacts they investigate. A different approach was used by Shima et al. [49], where they assessed the ability of students, acting as a proxy for developers, to correctly reconstruct a system from its components, which they termed "software overhaul".

2.4 Deriving a Data Science Maintainability Model

Our data science maintainability model is shown in Figure 1. Since many, such as Schneberger [50], noted the importance of a development environment, this is the initial factor within the model. Furthermore, while testability was a key concept within a software development context, we leveraged Tatman et al.'s [24] concept of reproducibility as a related, but more relevant factor for data science analysis. So, in parallel with reproducibility, we also introduced understandability as a key factor to enable maintainability. Thus, within our model, the maintainability of an analysis is driven by being able to understand and recreate the analysis, both of which could be facilitated via the use of an enhanced development environment. Note that we broadly define a development environment to include the tools used to create, update, run and share an analysis.



Fig. 1. Data Science Maintainability Model

3. Methodology

3.1 Research Method

To explore how to improve data science analysis maintainability, we used our data science maintainability model, which was previously shown in Figure 1. First, we developed a new visual data flow data science development environment, called MIDST (Modular Interactive Data Science Tool), that we hypothesized would improve understandability and reproducibility. Then, to compare the maintainability of an analysis done using RStudio to an analysis done using the new visual data flow tool, we measured the reproducibility and understandability of an analysis done using RStudio with an analysis done using MIDST.

In short, to evaluate reproducibility and understandability, we leveraged the previously discussed methodological concept of a software overhaul [49], but adapted the software overhaul concept to a data science context by having the data scientist share an analysis with a person not involved with its development, and then having that other person update and re-run that existing analysis. Specifically, we conducted an experiment where, in the baseline condition, the analysis and updates were done using RStudio, and in the other, experimental condition, teams used MIDST's new visual development environment. All teams, across both conditions, analyzed the same data, and the new person was given the same task in terms of updating the analysis.

The rest of this section describes our research method in more depth.

3.2 New Visual Data Flow Environment - MIDST

MIDST is a web-based data science IDE that was developed for this project. Due to MIDST's web-based architecture, all the R code runs on a common compute server. This shared execution environment greatly facilitates team collaboration since issues such as what libraries and what versions are installed as well as other details such as location of data files are eliminated. As well, it makes it easy to share code between team members.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

When using MIDST, all members of a team can share their code via an easy to use graphical code management system that lets each team member easily "push" their updates and "pull" updates from the team's shared repository, which integrates all modules used in the team's analysis. In fact, MIDST has reminders when a team member needs to pull the updates from their shared repository. In addition, MIDST provides a common computing infrastructure, where each user has a clone of the same computing environment. MIDST provides several different views to enable data scientists to leverage visual data flow programming to construct an analysis.

MIDST Network View: MIDST's network view provides the high-level data flow view of the modules within the application. This network view, shown in Figure 2, enables users to create nodes, define the input and output for each node, and then connect those nodes together, via the concept of data flowing between the nodes. In addition to code modules (the R code is within each of the code modules of the network), there are data nodes and output visualization nodes. Similar to other data flow systems, each code module node within MIDST has inputs and outputs, and MIDST users connect the nodes, where the output of one node is the input to another node. For example, Figure 2 shows a simple application that reads in a raw data file, cleans the data file, stores that data file and then generate a histogram.



Fig. 2. MIDST Network View

As with other data flow tools, the network editor helps users break tasks into chunks, and to visualize the flow of the project. Of course, since the user has control over how to define the network and the inputs and outputs of each node, the simple analysis shown in Figure 2 could be implemented via a different data flow diagram, as shown in Figure 3.

Within this network view, MIDST users can easily execute the entire network (within their cloned virtual environment) by pressing the 'run' button at the top of their network view window, and any errors that occur during execution of the network are clearly visible as failed nodes, as shown via the exclamation mark in Figure 4. The current version of MIDST does not provide a library of previously created nodes/modules that were used in previous projects or created as utility modules by others. A more production-oriented version of MIDST could easily provide such a library of modules.

MIDST Source Code Editor: MIDST also allows users to drill down to the actual R code within a module, by clicking on a node to view/edit the actual R code within the MIDST source code editor, which is similar to the editor in RStudio. The code view is more of a typical source code editor, with the ability to view, edit and run the actual R code for each

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

of the modules within the application. As shown in Figure 5, the editor enables the user to write and debug the R code for a module. For example, the R code for the clean module from Figure 3 is shown in Figure 5. In this view, similar to how one uses RStudio, the user writes R code to implement the required functionality for that module. Also, within the source code editor, one can either run the entire module or execute a line of code in the module. Output for the module is always shown in the bottom window pane of the source code editor. This output is for the most recent run of the module (whether that was due to the full network being run in the network view, the full module being run in the source code editor view, or a specific line being executed within the source code editor).



Fig. 3. Alternative MIDST Network



Fig 4. MIDST Network View - with an error



Fig. 5. MIDST Source Code Editor

3.3 Maintainability Experiment

To evaluate the impact of MIDST, a mixed method experiment was conducted where the experimental condition, of participants using MIDST, was compared to the baseline condition, of participants using RStudio.

Participants in both conditions were assigned the same initial task, which was an eight-week long group project, where teams of 4-6 people analyzed a customer survey dataset. The analysis included typical data science tasks such as using visualization, mapping techniques, and machine learning to predict unhappy customers. After the analysis was completed (and submitted for evaluation), there was an optional extra task. For this voluntary task, participants shared

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

their project with a person in a different team (but within the same experimental condition), and then that new person updated the analysis. The update consisted of the simple task of sampling 75% of the data, after cleaning, and then comparing the results the analysis using the sampled dataset with the evaluation that was conducted when using the entire dataset.

During the experiment, for both the baseline (RStudio) and treatment (MIDST) conditions, quantitative and qualitative information was collected. Table 1 shows the quantitative data collected, which was used to measure reproducibility and understandability. Specifically, we considered two sharing metrics to be indicators of reproducibility: the time it took to locate and assemble the original code, and the percentage of the original code that was shared. The percentage of the original analysis that was able to be run correctly is a third indicator of reproducibility. The time necessary to update the analysis is an indicator of understandability. The time metrics are similar to those used in a software development context, where the maintainability of a system was explored by measuring the total effort, in personminutes, to comprehend, modify, and test the artifacts related to the system [51].

Table 1. Metrics collected and map from actions to testability and modif	ïability
--------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------

Action	Metrics	How Measured	Relevance: Reproducibility	Relevance: Understandability
Share Analysis	Time to Share Analysis	Self-reported by person sharing the analysis	Х	
	Percentage of Analysis Shared	Objective assessment	Х	
Run Analysis	Percentage of Analysis run correctly	Objective assessment	Х	
Update Analysis	Time to modify analysis	Self-reported by person doing the updates		Х

With respect to the qualitative data, to better understand the thoughts and perceptions of doing this assignment, participants were asked, via an online survey, the following open-ended questions:

- "What were the key challenges to get the code running?"
- "What challenges did you encounter when you tried to update the other team's code?"
- "Please provide some general thoughts/impressions of doing this assignment."

3.4 Data Evaluation

For the quantitative data, the percentage of code shared as well as the percentage of the analysis that was able to be run correctly was determined via an analysis of the code performed by a teaching assistant for the class, who was not part of this research effort. The participants also reported on the time it took them to share their team's analysis, as well as the time it took them to modify the analysis the analysis that they were given to update.

The qualitative data was analyzed to identify the key themes with respect to sharing, updating and running the analysis. This thematic analysis was performed for the comments in the MIDST condition and another thematic analysis was performed for students in the baseline condition. Specifically, for each condition, the Miles and Huberman approach to analytic induction was used [52], with a goal of identifying common themes via an iterative process of item surfacing, refinement and regrouping. The coding started by reviewing each response and defining a high-level item description. If needed, one response was broken into multiple items. These item descriptions were then grouped and re-grouped into higher level conceptual themes. To increase reliability, the coding was done independently by two researchers [53], and ambiguities in coding were discussed and resolved amongst the researchers.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

3.5 Experimental Conditions

The participants in this study were graduate students. In terms of the appropriateness of using graduate students within the study, while there has been little written about using students to gain insight into industry teams within a data science context, student experiments within the software development domain have been taking place for decades. In fact, students were used as subjects in 87% of the experiments analyzed over a representative ten-year period [54]. It is also important to note that when using students as subjects, several factors are typically considered. First, "students vs. professionals" is actually a misrepresentation of the confounding effect of proficiency, and in fact differences in performance are much more important than differences in status [55]. Hence, using master level students, many of whom have several years of industry experience can often be a more appropriate choice than undergraduate students with minimal experience. Second, comparing across experimental conditions, using students may actually reduce variability because all students have about the same level of education, leading to better statistical characteristics [56]. Finally, a third consideration is that while students might not be as experienced as practicing professionals, they can be viewed as the next generation of professionals and hence many believe they are suitable subjects for these types of studies [57, 58].

In total, ninety-six graduate students participated in our study. While most of the students in each section were graduate information system students, approximately fifteen percent of the students in each section were in other graduate programs, mainly business administration or public policy. Sixty-five percent of the students had previous work experience. In addition, forty percent of the participants were female. Thirty five percent of the participants were from North America, fifty-five percent from Asia, and ten percent from other locations (all students were co-located during the actual experiment).

The students initially registered to be in one of four sections, without any knowledge of which sections would use MIDST, or which sections would not use MIDST. Two of the sections (with a total of 44 students) were selected to be in the baseline (i.e., RStudio) condition, and two of the sections (with a total of 51 students) were in the treatment (i.e., MIDST) condition, where the students used MIDST to do the analysis.

4. Findings

In the Baseline (RStudio) sections, 31 students out of 44 chose to do the extra-credit assignment. In the Treatment (MIDST) sections, 13 students out of 52 chose to do the extra credit assignment using MIDST.

We note that there were 19 other students in the MIDST condition who chose to do the voluntary extra credit assignment using RStudio, which was permitted for the voluntary assignment. This was likely due to the fact that MIDST was an early prototype system, and as will be noted in the qualitative findings, there were some issues that students would occasionally encounter. To explore the possibility of selection bias, we observe that the 19 students in the MIDST condition that used RStudio had a final grade average of 86.1% (with a standard deviation of 4.7), and the 13 students that used MIDST for the maintainability task had an average of 87.0% (with a standard deviation of 3.4). Thus, since the focus of our analysis was on comparing the "No MIDST" condition with the "MIDST" condition, and since there was no selection bias (as noted via the final grade averages), we excluded the 19 students that used RStudio but were in the MIDST condition from the analysis. Also note that, during the sharing of the code, one MIDST user found a bug in MIDST and the time reported for this user was heavily influenced by this bug, so this user's data was not used during the analysis (hence we only evaluated the 12 students that used MIDST and did not encounter this bug).

4.1 Sharing the project

As can be seen in Table 2, students in the MIDST condition shared more of the project (100% vs 84%, on average), and did so much more quickly (30 minutes vs 80 minutes, on average). Using a t-test, which is a statistical test that can be used to determine if there is a significant difference between the means of two groups (in other words, a t-test lets one know if the difference in the mean could have happened by chance), the difference in both what was shared, and how long it took to share the code, was significant.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

Table 2. Results for Sharing the Code				
How the code was sharedR Files(s)MIDST Network(N=31)(N=12)		Significant Results (at p=0.5 level)		
Time required to share the code (average # of minutes)	80	30	Yes	
Percentage of project that was shared (average)	84%	100%	Yes	

lto for Charin

4.2 Updating & Running the project

As can be seen in Table 3, students in the MIDST condition got more of the project code analysis to run correctly (91% vs 78%, on average). It also took them significantly less time to update the code. MIDST users took an average of 3 hours to complete the task, versus close to 5 hours for students working within RStudio. Using a t-test, the differences in how much of the project was able to be successfully recreated, as well as how long it took to do the project update, were both significant. Note that 3 people in the "no MIDST" (RStudio) condition did not finish the project enhancement, and hence, were removed from this part of the analysis.

Table 3. Results for updating the code criteria

	Updates Done Using		Significant Results
	RStudio	MIDST	(at p=0.5 level)
Percentage of code that was working correctly (percentage of total analysis)	78%	91%	Yes
Time needed to make changes (<i>average # of minutes</i>)	299	180	Yes

4.3 Qualitative Feedback

Our thematic analysis of the qualitative data (i.e., the free form participant survey questions), provides some context as to the challenges RStudio students encountered when sharing and updating the project. Specifically, three key themes were identified for the baseline (RStudio) condition, all related to how difficult the task was to do (i.e., sharing, updating and running the code). In contrast, in the MIDST condition, three different themes emerged (sharing and running the code was easy, and updating the code was easier due to visual data flow network that made the code easier to understand). Below, these themes are explored in more depth.

4.3.1 Baseline Users Qualitative Feedback (RStudio)

As demonstrated by the example comments below, for each of the identified themes, participants felt that sharing the analysis was difficult because after they divided the work across the team members, the team members did not share their code with the other team members. In other words, each team member typically worked in isolation from each other. Furthermore, many in the baseline condition thought that updating the code was difficult, mainly due to the fact that it was a challenge to understand the flow of the analysis. Finally, running the code in the baseline condition was also difficult, mainly due to not all the code being integrated within a single environment.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

Sharing the code – hard to do

"For our project, each group member was responsible for using their own code in creating allocated visualizations, models, etc. So, when attempting to combine it as one code, some things didn't match up. Naming of vectors was different, subsets we defined and used then interfered with later code, there was just a few things that weren't included. For some reason I wasn't able to include the association rules code."

"Not all of our code was shared with me so I shared as much as I could."

"Text mining- I did not have the function that was created and used ... Hence, instead of sharing an incomplete code, I chose not to include that [part of the analysis]."

"I did not share a particular code of my group project ... the person who did his part ... was travelling [and] I did not want the person waiting."

"Shared the R script file via Email. Sent it as an attachment."

Updating the code – hard to do

"It is too hard to find which part should be modified."

"The flow of the analysis was a little haywire, with no clear distinctions between linear modelling, descriptive statistics, a-rules and SVM. They were all correct, but it took me a while to understand the flow of the code."

"What made the project relatively hard to follow and replicate is the fact that there was no cohesion in the work. Given that the folder that I received contained different files representing the various sections of the project, it was not obvious to figure out objects that may change from one section to the other. As such, there was no structure to follow in re-running and updating the project."

"One of the key challenges was to understand the code. Although there were comments ... the code as a whole was little haphazard."

Running the code – hard to do

"Different files used different datasets so it was really difficult to change it."

"With respect to the R code, I had to update the variables and adjust some codes w.r.t. the sample dataset."

"I had to change ... the variable names so that I could get the code running."

"About 30% of the code [had to be] changed. I had to correct the syntax errors, changed the map visuals to make them work."

"[it was difficult] going over the errors and understanding why the errors were happening and also looking at different functions. Every group had their own functions so understanding what different functions do [was challenging]."

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

"Three of the substantial algorithms failed to run due to missing objects that were not defined and that I couldn't figure out their origin/source."

4.3.2 MIDST Users Qualitative Feedback

Unlike the baseline users, almost all people using MIDST noted that sharing was easy, as was updating the code. However, due to the fact that MIDST was a prototype system, some also noted the MIDST bugs and performance issues.

Sharing the code – was easy

"I shared the entire code with the other person through MIDST."

"I shared every single part of our project with the other member."

"Easiest way was to provide the Midst link by adding them as temporary collaborator."

Updating the code – leveraged the visual data flow network to understand the code

"It was important to understand the other team's project and the flow of data between all the nodes in order to update the code so as to get the code running without any errors."

"I just needed to add a node with the sampling coded ... and then supply this sampling dataset to the models."

"I updated code in a single node... I was able to understand the code due to the flow in MIDST."

"I added a node in the MIDST tool to sample the data. After cleaning, I added the flow to the new node sampling.R. After creating the sampled data set, the data was supplied to the models for analysis."

"The code provided on MIDST was put in an easy to understand fashion. I went through various nodes to understand their function."

Running the code - easy except for MIDST bugs

"Overall, I did not face any major challenge while running the code."

"The entire project was running properly. The only issue was ... a bug in MIDST, which resulted in errors but after running the network again, the entire network ran without any errors."

"There were some errors shown on MIDST, but after running the code node by node, the errors were fixed."

"My code was in MIDST and I was able to easily run all my modules at one time. The only problem I had was while editing the code, there was an error message popping and it was taking too long to execute whereas the same code was running fast in R."

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

5. Discussion

By leveraging our maintainability model, it can be noted that MIDST improved the both the reproducibility and understandability of an analysis, and thus improved the maintainability of that analysis. Specifically, as shown in Figure 6, there are two key features, which are discussed below, that enabled this improvement. The two features are that (1) MIDST provides a complete, integrated code and execution environment, and that (2) MIDST provides a visual data flow view of the analysis that augments the code-based view of the analysis.





5.1 MIDST's Integrated code and execution environment

One key feature of MIDST is that it provides the code, data, and full computational environment within an integrated environment. Our results show that this integrated environment improved the reproducibility of an analysis by enabling more of the code to be shared, in less time. It also helped enable more of the code (i.e., the analysis) to be executed by a new person.

Some teams in the "No MIDST" condition tried to mitigate this issue (of not having an integrated environment) by having each team member work on a specific analysis. Then, the results of the different analyses were "merged" via a high-level report (i.e., the final report was a collection of non-integrated efforts and the code was not merged into a shared repository/code base). Unfortunately, this approach created maintainability problems because others on the team could not easily understand or run the full analysis. An integrated code repository, such as Github [59], only partially solves this issue in that different team members might still have different execution environments – for example, different libraries installed or access to different data repositories. Hence, an integrated environment is necessary "in order to avoid the 'it runs on my machine' problem, where a project can only be reproduced by running it on the same computer it was originally written on" [24]. This problem is why it has been noted that sharing code and data is an important first step to improve reproducibility, but having a cloned computational environment "increases the ease and longevity of reproducible research projects" [24].

5.2 MIDST's visual data flow dataflow metaphor

MIDST's visual data flow metaphor might have improved the understandability of an analysis due to the fact that the visual data flow view mapped to a data scientists' mental model. With this in mind, we believe that MIDST creates an easier to understand analysis. Several participants noticed MIDST's ability to help improve the understanding the entire project, including comments such as:

"It was important to understand the other team's project and the flow of data between all the nodes in order to update the code so as to get the code running without any errors."

"I was able to understand the code due to the flow in MIDST."

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

"The code provided on MIDST was put in an easy to understand fashion. I went through various nodes to understand their function. Overall, I did not face any major challenge while running the code."

6. Conclusion

6.1 Summary

This study defined and then used a new data science maintainability model, which is based on understandability and reproducibility. The study then used the model to evaluate a new data science interactive development environment (MIDST), which provides an integrated code and execution environment as well as a visual data flow of the analysis, was described and analyzed.

Specifically, to address our research question (*Does using visual data flow tool, within an integrated data science development environment, improve the ability of a new team member to reuse and update an existing analysis?*), a mixed method research study comparing the maintainability of an analysis developed in MIDST compared to an analysis developed within RStudio was performed.

The results of the study did answer the research question, in that the study demonstrated that using visual data flow tool does improve the ability of a new team member to reuse and update an existing analysis. In short, this research shows that a visual data flow tool, such as MIDST, improves the reproducibility and understandability of a data science analysis. Hence, the study highlights the need to explore the development of additional code-level visual data flow IDEs, to complement existing higher-level visual data flow IDEs that currently target higher-level end users who do not need to develop code.

6.2 Limitations and Next Steps

Based on our newly defined data science maintainability model, this study suggests that an analysis is easier to maintain when using MIDST. Future research should leverage these results to continue to explore how tools and processes could improve the maintainability of a data science analysis. Future research could also explore MIDST within an industry context.

One limitation of this research was that some of the findings, with respect to how long tasks took, were self-reported. Future research could explore different approaches to measure how long a task takes to complete, such as providing a fixed amount of time to update an analysis within a controlled environment, similar to what was done by Rule et al. [12]. Further refinements of the Maintainability Model could also be explored, such as whether there are alternative ways to operationalize the reproducibility and understandability variables. In addition, the bugs and performance issues within MIDST might have reduced the impact of the visual data flow approach. Hence, work will continue on improving the robustness and usability of MIDST.

Another possible next step is to note that another alternative to code-based programming environments, such as notebooks, which as previously noted, enables one to integrate R code, R output and formatted textual explanations of the analysis within one document. However, since notebooks do not naturally enable one to easily keep track of the output from one step (such as data cleaning) that is to be used across multiple next steps (such as different data analytical algorithms or visualizations), future research could explore the use of notebooks within a data flow context.

References

[1] M. Das, R. Cui, D. Campbell, G. Agrawal, and R. Ramnath. "Towards methods for systematic research on big data," IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), 2015.

[2] J. Saltz, and I. Shamshurin. "Big Data Team Process Methodology: A Literature Review and the Identification of Critical Factors for a Project's Success," IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), 2016.

[3] IEEE. Standard Glossary of Software Engineering Terminology, IEEE Computer Society Press, 1990.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

[4] K. Henttonen, J. Kääriäinen, and J. Kylmäaho. "Lifecycle management in government-driven open source projectspractical framework," International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, vol. 5, no.3, 2017.

[5] R.Teubner. "IT program management challenges: insights from programs that ran into difficulties," International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, vol. 6, no. 2, 2018.

[6] A. Coners, and B. Matthies. "Perspectives on reusing codified project knowledge: a structured literature review," International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, vol. 6, no. 2, 2018.

[7] H. Jagadish, J. Gehrke, A. Labrinidis, Y. Papakonstantinou, J. M. Patel, R. Ramakrishnan, and C. Shahabi. "Big data and its technical challenges," Communications of the ACM, vol. 57, no. 7. 2014.

[8] R. Guo. Software tools to facilitate research programming, Ph.D. Dissertation, Stanford University, 2012.

[9] R. Muenchen. The Popularity of Data Analysis Software, http://r4stats.com/articles/popularity/, 2017.

[10] J. Racine. "RStudio: A Platform-Independent IDE for R and Sweave," Journal of Applied Econometrics, vol. 27, no. 1, 2012.

[11] S. Kandel, A. Paepcke, J. Hellerstein, and J. Heer. "Enterprise data analysis and visualization: An interview study," IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, vol. 18, no. 12, 2012.

[12] A. Rule, I. Drosos, A. Tabard, and J. Hollan. "Aiding Collaborative Reuse of Computational Notebooks with Annotated Cell Folding," Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, 2(CSCW), 2018.

[13] K. Subramanian, J. Maas, M. Ellers, C. Wacharamanotham, S. Voelker, and J. Borchers. "StatWire: Visual Flowbased Statistical Programming," In Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, ACM, 2018.

[14] J. Saltz. "The Need for New Processes, Methodologies and Tools to Support Big Data Teams and Improve Big Data Project Effectiveness," IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), 2015.

[15] L. Thamsen, T. Renner, M. Byfeld, M. Paeschke, D. Schroder, and F. Böhm. "Visually programming dataflows for distributed data analytics," IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), 2016.

[16] J. Pimentel, L. Murta, V. Braganholo, and J. Freire. "A large-scale study about quality and reproducibility of jupyter notebooks.," In 2019 IEEE/ACM 16th International Conference on Mining Software Repositories (MSR) IEEE, 2019, pp. 507-517.

[17] M. Kery, B. John, R. O'Flaherty, A. Horvath, and B. Myers. "Towards Effective Foraging by Data Scientists to Find Past Analysis Choices," In Proceedings of CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings, 2019.

[18] A. Malviya, A. Udhani, and S. Soni. "R-tool: Data analytic framework for big data," In 2016 Symposium on Colossal Data Analysis and Networking (CDAN) IEEE, 2016, pp. 1-5.

[19] A. Simmons, S. Barnett, J. Rivera-Villicana, A. Bajaj and R. Vasa. "A large-scale comparative analysis of Coding Standard conformance in Open-Source Data Science projects," In Proceedings of the 14th ACM/IEEE International Symposium on Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement, 2020.

[20] M. Kery, M. Radensky, M. Arya, B. John, and B. Myers. "The story in the notebook: Exploratory data science using a literate programming tool," In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, ACM, 2018.

[21] N. Davies, and S. Clinch. "Pervasive data science," IEEE Pervasive Computing, vol. 16, no. 3, 2017.

[22] S. Dhar, and S. Mazumdar. "Challenges and best practices for enterprise adoption of big data technologies," 2014 IEEE International Technology Management Conference, IEEE, 2014, pp. 1-4.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

[23] V. Sachdeva, and L. Chung. "Handling non-functional requirements for big data and IOT projects in scrum, "In 2017 7th International Conference on Cloud Computing, Data Science & Engineering-Confluence, IEEE, 2017, pp. 216-221.

[24] R. Tatman, J. VanderPlas, and S. Dane. "A Practical Taxonomy of Reproducibility for Machine Learning Research," In Reproducibility in Machine Learning Workshop at ICML, 2018.

[25] C. Boettiger. "An introduction to Docker for reproducible research," ACM SIGOPS Operating Systems Review, vol. 49, no. 1, 2015, pp. 71-79.

[26] B. Beaulieu-Jones, C. Greene. "Reproducibility of computational workflows is automated using continuous analysis," Nature biotechnology, vol. 35, no. 4, 2017.

[27] Z. Usmani. https://www.kaggle.com/getting-started/44916, accessed March 1, 2019.

[28] T. Kluyver, B. Ragan-Kelley, F. Pérez, B. Granger, M. Bussonnier, J. Frederic, ... & R. Ivanov. Jupyter Notebooksa publishing format for reproducible computational workflows. In ELPUB, 2016, pp. 87-90.

[29] A. Culler and D. Culler. "Dataflow architectures," Ann. Rev. Comput. Sci., vol. 1, 1986.

[30] A. Davis, and R. Keller. "Data flow program graphs," Computer, vol 2, 1982.

[31] C. Upson, T. Faulhaber D. Kamins, D. Laidlaw, D. Schlegel, J. Vroom, ... and A. Van Dam. "The application visualization system: A computational environment for scientific visualization, "IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications, vol. 9, no. 4, 1989.

[32] D. Hils. "Visual languages and computing survey: Data flow visual programming languages," Journal of Visual Languages & Computing, vol. 3, no. 1, 1992.

[33] A. Henley, and S. Fleming. "Yestercode: Improving code-change support in visual dataflow programming environments," In 2016 IEEE Symposium on Visual Languages and Human-Centric Computing (VL/HCC. IEEE. 2016, pp. 106-114.

[34] L. Melander, K. Orsborn, T. Risch, and D. Wedlund. "VisDM–A Data Stream Visualization Platform," In International Conference on Database Systems for Advanced Applications, 2017, pp. 677-680.

[35] M. Hall, E. Frank, G. Holmes, B. Pfahringer, P. Reutemann, and I. Witten. "The weka data mining software: An update," ACM SIGKDD Explorations Newsletter, ACM, vol. 11, no. 1, 2009, pp. 10–18.

[36] S. O'Hagan & D. Kell. "Software review: the KNIME workflow environment and its applications in Genetic Programming and machine learning," Genetic Programming and Evolvable Machines, vol. 16, no. 3, 2015, pp. 387-391.

[37] F. Young and C. Bann. "ViSta: The Visual Statistics System, Technical Report," UNC LL Thurstone Psychometric Laboratory Research Memorandum, 1996.

[38] J. Demšar, B. Zupan, G. Leban, and T. Curk. "Orange: From Experimental Machine Learning to Interactive Data Mining," In Proceedings of the 8th European Conference on Principles and Practice of Knowledge Discovery in Databases (PKDD '04), 2004, pp. 537–539.

[39] K. Subramanian, J. Maas, M. Ellers, C. Wacharamanotham, S. Voelker, and J. Borchers. "StatWire: Visual Flowbased Statistical Programming," In Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, ACM, 2018.

[40] T. Kluyver, B. Ragan-Kelley, F. Pérez, B.E. Granger, M. Bussonnier, J. Frederic, J., ... and P. Ivanov. "Jupyter Notebooks-a publishing format for reproducible computational workflows," In ELPUB, pp. 87-90, 2016.

[41] C. Iriarte, and S. Bayona. "IT projects success factors: a literature review," International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, vol 8, no. 2, pp. 49-78. 2020.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

[42] S. Morcov, L. Pintelon, and R. Kusters. "Definitions, characteristics and measures of IT project complexity-a systematic literature review," International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, vol. 8, no. 2, 2020, pp. 5-21.

[43] S. Muthanna, K. Kontogiannis, K. Ponnambalam, and B. Stacey. "A maintainability model for industrial software systems using design level metrics," In Proceedings Seventh Working Conference on Reverse Engineering, IEEE, 2000, pp. 248-256.

[44] R. G. Dromey. "A model for software product quality," IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering, vol. 2, pp. 146-163, 1995.

[45] S. Rizvi, and R. Khan. Maintainability Estimation Model for Object-Oriented Software in Design Phase (MEMOOD) (No. arXiv: 1004.4447), 2010.

[46] S. K. Dubey, and A. Rana. "Assessment of maintainability metrics for object-oriented software system," ACM SIGSOFT Software Engineering Notes, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 1-7. 2011.

[47] S. Scalabrino, G. Bavota, C. Vendome, M. Linares-Vásquez, D. Poshyvanyk, and R. Oliveto. "Automatically assessing code understandability: How far are we?," In Proceedings of the 32nd IEEE/ACM International Conference on Automated Software Engineering, IEEE Press, 2017, pp. 417-427.

[48] T. Roehm, R. Tiarks, R. Koschke, and W. Maalej. "How do professional developers comprehend software?," In 34th International Conference on Software Engineering (ICSE), 2012, pp. 255–265.

[49] K. Shima, Y. Takemura, and K. Matsumoto. "An approach to experimental evaluation of software understandability," In International Symposium on Empirical Software Engineering, 2002, pp. 48–55.

[50] S. Schneberger. "Distributed computing environments: effects on software maintenance difficulty," Journal of Systems and Software, vol. 37, pp. 101–116, 1997.

[51] J. Lim, S. Jeong, and S. Schach. "An empirical investigation of the impact of the object-oriented paradigm on the maintainability of real-world mission-critical software," Journal of Systems and Software, vol. 77, no. 2, 2005.

[52] K. Punch. Introduction to Social Research: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches, 2nd ed., Sage Publications, Newbury Park, California, pp. 197-202, 2005.

[53] D. Silverman. Qualitative data analysis: interpreting talk, text and interaction, 3rd ed., Sage Publications, Newbury Park, California, 2006.

[54] D. Sjøberg, J. Hannay, O. Hansen, V. Kampenes, A. Karahasanovic, N. Liborg, and A. Rekdal. "A survey of controlled experiments in software engineering," IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering, vol. 31, no. 9, 2005.

[55] Z. Soh, Z. Sharafi, B. Van den Plas, G. Porras, Y. Guéhéneuc, and G. Antoniol. "Professional status and expertise for UML class diagram comprehension: An empirical study," IEEE 20th International Conference on Program Comprehension, 2012, pp. 163-172.

[56] A. Ko, T. LaToza, and M. Burnett. "A practical guide to controlled experiments of software engineering tools with human participants," Empirical Software Engineering, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 110-141, 2015.

[57] B. Kitchenham, S. Pfleeger, L. Pickard, P. Jones, D. Hoaglin, K. El Emam, and J. Rosenberg. "Preliminary guidelines for empirical research in software engineering," IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 721-734, 2002.

[58] I. Salman, A. Misirli, and N. Juristo. "Are students representatives of professionals in software engineering experiments?," In Proceedings of the 37th International Conference on Software Engineering-Volume 1, 2015, pp. 666-676.

[59] B. Beer, Introducing GitHub: A non-technical guide. 2nd ed., Sebastopol, CA, USA, O'Reilly Media, Inc. 2018.

MIDST: an enhanced development environment that improves the maintainability of a data science analysis

Biographical notes



Jeffrey Saltz

Jeffrey Saltz is an Associate Professor at Syracuse University, where he leads their graduate applied data science program. His research focuses on agile data science project management. Prior to joining Syracuse, he worked as the head of technology for risk and authorizations for Chase Credit Card, Vice President of computational technology for JP Morgan and Chief Technology Officer at Goldman Sachs/Goldman Sachs Ventures. He started his career as a technology leader with Digital Equipment Corp and holds a B.S. degree in computer science from Cornell University, an M.B.A. from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania and a Ph.D. in information systems from the New Jersey Institute of Technology.



Kevin Crowston

Kevin Crowston is a Distinguished Professor of Information Science at Syracuse University. He received his A.B. in Applied Mathematics (Computer Science) from Harvard University and a Ph.D. in Information Technologies from the Sloan School of Management, Massachusetts Institute of Technology. He currently serves as Associate Dean for Research. His research examines new ways of organizing made possible by the use of information technology. He approaches this issue in several ways: empirical studies of coordination-intensive processes in human organizations (especially virtual organization); theoretical characterizations of coordination problems and alternative methods for managing them; and design and empirical evaluation of systems to support people working together.



Robert Heckman

Robert Heckman is Professor Emeritus at Syracuse University. He has previously served as Graduate Program Director, Associate Dean for Academic Affairs, and Senior Associate Dean in the School of Information Studies at Syracuse. His research interests include design of work-based learning experiences, learning strategies for information professionals, self-directed learning, and collaboration in virtual communities and teams. Previously, he had more than 20 years of experience in the information services industry as a senior manager of data processing operations, systems development, and information systems marketing. He received his Ph.D. in information systems from the Katz Graduate School of Business, University of Pittsburgh.



Yatish Hegde

Yatish hegde is a Lecturer in A. B. Freeman School of Business at Tulane University. He has a wealth of experience leading the system development for research projects in Machine Learning, Natural Language Processing and Information Systems domains. Yatish also has considerable experience teaching data science at both graduate and under-graduate levels.



Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

David Henriques

Instituto Universitário de Lisboa (ISCTE-IUL) Av. das Forças Armadas 36, 1649-02, Lisbon Portugal david_rodrigues_henriques@iscte-iul.pt

Ruben Pereira

Instituto Universitário de Lisboa (ISCTE-IUL) Av. das Forças Armadas 36, 1649-026, Lisbon Portugal ruben.filipe.pereira@iscte-iul.pt

Isaías S. Bianchi

Al-Farabi Kazakh National University 71 Al-Farabi Avenue, 050040, Almaty Kazakhstan isaias.bianchi@ufsc.br

Rafael Almeida

University of Lisbon Av. Rovisco Pais 1, 1049-001, Lisbon Portugal rafael.d.almeida@tecnico.ulisboa.pt

Miguel Mira da Silva

University of Lisbon Av. Rovisco Pais 1, 1049-001, Lisbon Portugal mms@tecnico.ulisboa.pt



D. Henriques, R. Pereira, I. S. Bianchi, R. Almeida, M. Mira da Silva, "How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation", *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 25-45, 2020.



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

David Henriques

Instituto Universitário de Lisboa (ISCTE-IUL) Av. das Forças Armadas 36, 1649-02, Lisbon Portugal david_rodrigues_henriques@iscte-iul.pt

Ruben Pereira

Instituto Universitário de Lisboa (ISCTE-IUL) Av. das Forças Armadas 36, 1649-026, Lisbon Portugal ruben.filipe.pereira@iscte-iul.pt

Isaías S. Bianchi

Al-Farabi Kazakh National University 71 Al-Farabi Avenue, 050040, Almaty Kazakhstan isaias.bianchi@ufsc.br

Rafael Almeida

University of Lisbon Av. Rovisco Pais 1, 1049-001, Lisbon Portugal rafael.d.almeida@tecnico.ulisboa.pt

Miguel Mira da Silva

University of Lisbon Av. Rovisco Pais 1, 1049-001, Lisbon Portugal mms@tecnico.ulisboa.pt

Abstract:

Internet of things (IoT) is considered a key technology for the Industry 4.0 revolution. Information Technology (IT) governance (ITG) is now an increasingly important tool for organizations to align their IT strategy and infrastructures with the organizations' business objectives. The most adopted ITG framework is COBIT, which defines seven enabler categories. These enablers aim to facilitate the implementation, identification, and management of IT. This research aims to determine, explore, and define which are the most suitable IT governance enablers to assist managers in IoT implementation. The study adopted the Design Science Research methodology, including two systematic literature reviews and a Delphi method to build the artefact. The artefact was demonstrated and evaluated in a real organization. The results indicate that data privacy, data protection, and data analysis are currently the most relevant enablers to consider in an IoT implementation because they increase the efficiency of the solution and enhance data credibility.

Keywords:

IT governance; IoT; enablers; COBIT; Design Science Research; Delphi method.

DOI: 10.12821/ijispm080302

Manuscript received: 20 April 2019 Manuscript accepted: 11 September 2020

Copyright © 2020, SciKA. General permission to republishe in print or electronic forms, but not for profit, all or part of this material is granted, provided that the International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management copyright notice is given and that reference made to the publication, to its date of issue, and to the fact that reprinting privileges were granted by permission of SciKA - Association for Promotion and Dissemination of Scientific Knowledge.

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

1. Introduction

Information Technology (IT) is one of the pillars of our society, changing the way people relate to each other and how businesses communicate and interact among them [1]. IT has become an essential asset in operations and business growth; organizations are becoming completely dependent on it, which has led them to shift their attention to IT governance (ITG) [2][4].

ITG has been demanded by many organizations [5] to ensure that IT is aligned with business objectives [6] and creates value to the business [7]. Measuring IT performance and competitive advantages delivered by IT within the organization as well as align IT objectives with the overall business strategy are among the main goals of ITG [8]–[10]. Plus, ITG formalizes IT accountability to ensure more effectiveness and ethical management within the organization [11][7].

Grounded on the critical role of IT for business success, some ITG frameworks have been developed to guide and assist ITG implementation. One of the most known is COBIT [12], developed by the Information Technology Governance Institute of the Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA) [13]. It defines COBIT as the framework for governing and managing IT in a holistic manner in all organizations [14]. Contributions of COBIT to organizations were studied before [15]. COBIT 2019 defines a set of enablers to support the implementation of an ITG system within an organizations' IT [14]. Enablers have the intention of allowing organizations to manage their complex interactions and facilitate successful outcomes [16]. ITG has been used to govern different kinds of technologies including emergent technologies applied in smart cities [17]–[19].

This is even more critical when an organization wants to adopt novel technologies to win competitive advantage. In turn, IoT was considered as the next wave of innovation by the industry leaders [12] and is becoming very popular in the context of the IT revolution that most are now facing [20]. According to a McKinsey report [21], there will be at least 30 million IoT devices connected and interacting by 2020. Given the ability to create better systems of knowledge-based decision systems [22], IoT is considered an important strategic technology trend that will shape business opportunities and competitive advantage [23]. However, it needs to be well integrated, managed, and governed to potentiate its benefits [24][25]. So far, no studies have been aimed at investigating ITG issues regarding IoT projects. Therefore, this research aims to investigate which are the main ITG enablers to help organizations implement IoT. Two systematic literature reviews (SLR) were performed to systematize ITG enabler definitions and define the former list of ITG enablers for IoT. Then, a Delphi study with three rounds was performed with 7 IoT experts. Lastly, the final list of ITG enablers was assessed in a very experienced organization regarding IoT projects.

2. Research Methodology

This research follows the design science research (DSR) methodology. It includes two SLRs and a Delphi method to find out a set of enablers that were afterwards validated via interviews to reach our artefact. In Figure 1 one may understand how all these techniques were applied and integrated. The motivation behind DSR is to improve the environment [26], implementing new and innovative artefacts [27] to solve identified organizational problems [28].



Fig. 1. DSR process model

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 25-45

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

The first and second phase of DSR are detailed in the Introduction. The remaining phases will be further explained in following sections. We performed two systematic literature reviews and a Delphi research to find out a set of enablers that were afterwards validated with interviews.

2.1 Design and Development

Grounded on the information presented in Figure 1 regarding the "Design and Development phase", Figure 2 conceptualizes how the several used methods relate to building the final artefact.



Fig. 2. Design and Development: How the methods relate to build the artefact

2.2 Systematic Literature Review of IT Governance Enablers

To perform this SLR the authors have followed guidelines proposed by Kitchenham [29]. Figure 3 delineates the methodology steps that were followed, which are further detailed in the next paragraphs.



Fig. 3. ITG enablers SLR stages.

This SLR aimed to better understand the definition of each ITG enabler proposed by COBIT2019. These are Principles, Policies, and Frameworks; Processes; Culture, Ethics, and Behavior; Services, Infrastructure, and Applications; People, Skills, and Competencies; Organizational Structures; and Information.

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

The search for this review began on July 12th, 2018 and ended on October 15th, 2018 in the following databases: Google Scholar and Scopus. Data sources were systematically searched using carefully selected search terms or keywords that are presented in Table 1.

Table 1 ITC anables CLD. Course stains and become

Table 1. 11G enablers SLK: Search string and keywords			
Search Category	Keywords		
ITG	IT governance definition		
ITG Enablers	IT governance principles, IT governance culture, IT governance ethics, IT governance information, IT governance people, Governance organizational structures, IT governance skills, IT governance competencies, IT governance applications, IT People		
COBIT Enablers	COBIT processes, COBIT principles, COBIT framework.		

For example, the term ITG is included along with enablers, as they are very complementary to one another. The search was separated by categories ("ITG", "ITG enablers", "COBIT enablers"). Within these categories, several keywords were selected and combined using Boolean "AND", e.g.: between IT governance "AND" principles. Table 2 presents the filtration stages and which filters were used.

The inclusion and exclusion (IE) criteria for this review were guided by the following criteria questions:

- **IE1:** Is the article context related to ITG?
- **IE2:** Is the article related to the research context?
- **IE3:** Do the findings of the article provide valuable insights to define one or more ITG enablers?

Table 2.	ITG	enablers	SLR:	Filtration	stages

Filtration	Description	Assessment criteria	Article
Iterations			Count
1st filtration	Identification of the relevant studies from the selected databases.	Search Category and keywords using the filter "".	35559
2nd filtration	The studies were excluded based on their titles.	Title = Search terms.	3327
3rd filtration	The studies were excluded based on their abstracts.	Keywords inside the abstract.	359
Final filtration	Obtain the most relevant articles.	Address the quality and criteria questions.	31

It is important to point out that this review included only articles published in English with a year range between 1999 to 2018. Furthermore, quality criteria were applied. The authors have selected only articles ranked as Q1/Q2 (from Scimago) or A/B (from ERA) ranking. Overall, 31 articles were selected and analyzed. Following the concept-centric approach [30], Table 3 identifies the analyzed articles for each ITG enabler. Each enabler was then defined and its description used in the Delphi phase. For space limitations, the complete definition of each enabler is not presented.

ITG enablers	References	Total
Principles, Policies, and Frameworks	[12], [13], [31]–[43]	14
Processes	[32], [39], [40], [42], [44]–[47]	8
Culture, Ethics, and Behavior	[39], [42], [43], [46]–[50]	8
Services, Infrastructure, and Applications	[33], [36], [39], [51]–[53]	7
People, Skills, and Competencies	[39], [40], [50], [54]–[57]	7
Organizational Structures	[5], [39], [42], [46], [47]	5
Information	[39], [42], [50], [58]	4

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

2.3 Systematic Literature Review of IT Governance Enablers for IoT

To perform this SLR the authors have followed guidelines proposed by Kitchenham [29]. Figure 4 presents the methodology steps that were adhered to and are further detailed in the next paragraphs.



Fig. 4. ITG enablers for IoT implementation SLR stages.

The search for this review began on October 20th, 2018 and finished on December 23rd, 2018 in the following databases: Google Scholar, Taylor & Francis and Scopus. Google Scholar and Scopus are two brokers from which we captured nearly all the articles. During the second SLR we decided to further reinforce our review and chose to include Taylor DB. We could have chosen IEEE or ACM, but these DBs tend to be more technical; we believed that Taylor could be more productive to obtain proper articles. The data sources were systematically examined using carefully selected search terms or keywords (Table 4). Table 5 presents the filtration stages and which filters were used in this search.

Table 4. ITG enablers SLR for IoT: Search string and keywords			
Search Category	Keywords		
IoT	IoT definition, IoT adoption		
IoT Enablers	IoT principles, IoT adoption principles, IoT frameworks, IoT frameworks standards, IoT policies, IoT processes, IoT processes governance, IoT processes cobit, IoT organizational structures, IoT structures, IoT culture, IoT ethics, IoT behavior, IoT information, IoT services, IoT infrastructures, IoT applications governance, IoT people, IoT people roles, IoT people responsibilities, IoT skills, IoT competencies		

Table 5. ITG enablers SLR for IoT: Filtration stages

Filtration Stages	Description	Assessment criteria	Count
1st filtration	Identification of the relevant studies from the selected database	Search Category and keywords using the filter ""	12315
2nd filtration	Exclude the studies based on their titles	Title = Search terms	9965
3rd filtration	Exclude the studies based on their abstract	Keywords inside the abstract	2347
Final filtration	Obtain selected relevant articles	Address IE and QC	44

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

The IE criteria used to tune this review were the following: "IE1: Is the article context related to ITG?"; "IE2: Is the article context related to IoT?"; "IE3: The description of the article is related to the research context?"; "IE4: Do the findings of the article provide valuable insights to define one or more ITG enablers?".

Quality criteria were also applied. The authors have selected only articles from SJR Q1/Q2 classification, ranking ERA A/B, or ranking Qualis A1/A2/B1. In the end, 44 articles were selected and analyzed. Following the concept-centric approach [30], Table 6 lists the enablers for IoT implementation and respective references.

Enablers	ID	Recommendations	References from literature
Principles, Policies, and	F1	Promote interoperability via decentralization.	[70]
Frameworks	F2	Promote collaboration between organizations.	[71]
	F3	Implementation of trust.	[72]
	F4	Implementation of transparency.	[72]
	F5	Implementation of data privacy and data protection.	[72]
	F6	Implementation of accountability.	[72]
	F7	Interiorization of risk management.	[73]
	F8	Cooperation between organizations in building policies.	[74]
	F9	Governance framework application.	[75]
	F10	Strategic policies to promote innovation.	[74]
	F11	Include users' privacy issues in IoT policies.	[76]
	F12	Operational principles are aligned with IoT procedures.	[74]
	F13	Include cybersecurity and digital policies in IoT policies.	[77]
	F14	Governance framework guides the management team in IoT implementation.	[72]
Processes	P1	Strategy processes to coordinate IoT processes.	[78]
	P2	Business processes to align the IoT process with business models.	[79]
	P3	Governance processes to decompose and decentralize the business processes.	[79]
	P4	Information processing towards business decisions.	[80]
	P5	Implementing a sound data management process.	[81]
	P6	Implementation of data analytics process.	[81]
	P7	Implementing application management process to promote scalability.	[82]
	P8	Implementing application monitoring process to guarantee business continuity.	[83]
	P9	Implementation of application security management in development process.	[75]
Organizational Structures	01	Assignment of roles, responsibilities, and tasks in IoT.	[84]
Culture, Ethics, and	B1	Spread social culture in IoT implementation.	[85]
Behavior	B2	Organization's culture aligns with identity, autonomy and trust protection of IoT users.	[82]
	B3	Organizations implement his culture and values in IoT acceptance.	[85]
	B4	Ethics integrates social behaviors, privacy, and integrity in IoT implementation.	[86]
	B5	Implementation of awareness in people's attitude and motivation.	[87]
Information	I1	Information research techniques for IoT support.	[88]
Services, Infrastructures	S 1	IoT services promotes sustainability.	[89]
and Applications	S2	IoT services are built on top of strong standards and protocols.	[90]
	S 3	IoT infrastructures it is aligned with continuity of investment.	[85]
	S4	Ensure IoT services improve the organization's efficiency by being	[90]
		aligned with business needs.	
People, Skills, and	C1	Integration of people in IoT.	[85]
Competencies	C2	Socio-technical skills to promote automation.	[87]
	C3	Implementation of strategic skills for goals guidance.	[91]
	C4	Implementation of information skills for requirements analysis	[91]
	C5	Implementation of organization skills to improve decision making	[91]
	C6	Implementing people as an important role in IoT accentance	[85]
	C6	Implementing people as an important role in IoT acceptance.	[85]

Table 6. ITG enablers SLR for IoT: Former list of ITG enablers for IoT implementation

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 25-45
How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

3. Delphi Method

The Delphi method has been a popular tool in information systems research [59]. It aims to obtain the most reliable information from a group of experts [60] via a series of questionnaires with feedback-controlled opinion [61] to reach a reliable consensus amongst them [59]. The five-point Likert-type scale is the preferred tool, with the cut-off point set within score three and four [62]–[65]. In this research the cut-off is 3.5. Previously used in ITG domain [66] the Delphi method was then adopted by the authors to reach consensus regarding the final list of ITG enablers for IoT implementation.

Eleven experts were invited to participate in this research with a 37 percent drop off rate (7 experts accepted). The Delphi method was divided into three rounds. By the end of the third round none of the participants quit the study. According to literature, the tendency is reducing the number of participants in each new round [67]–[69]. Another point that is important to highlight is that this Delphi study took more than 45 days, as also recommended in literature [60]. Table 7 details all the rounds of the Delphi. The first round was used to validate the initial list of recommendations extracted from the literature using a degree of concordance between 1 and 5, and to increase the list with new recommendations provided by the participants. The second round was used to determine the level of efficiency from each recommendation on each ITG enabler in IoT, identifying a top 10 most important recommendations for an IoT implementation. The third round was used to increase the consensus of concordance and efficiency within the group about the recommendations. Table 6 lists the enablers for IoT implementation and respective references.

Phase	Phase Date		Input	Output	Participants	
	Begin	End	-		Invited	accepted
Round 1	01/02/2019	28/02/2019	ITG definitions	New List of recommendations	11	7
			ITG Enablers for IoT	and their definition		
Round 2	19/03/2019	06/04/2019	List recommendations from round 1	Top 10 recommendations and efficiency level on each recommendation.	7	7
Round 3	12/04/2019	06/05/2019	List of recommendations from round 2	Consensus in the efficiency level and top 10 recommendations	7	7

Table 7. Delphi: List of rounds

3.1 First Round

During the analysis of the first round, an exclusion criterion was created to factor out the weakest recommendations on the initial list. The exclusion criteria used was: any recommendation is excluded if the average rate of the recommendation is equal or below 3.5. After the first round, the confirmatory phase led to the exclusion of eight recommendations (red bars in Figure 5) from the initial list (F8, F11, F14, P3, B1, I1, C3, and C5). In addition, two recommendations were merged (F5 and F11) since according to participants they represent the same objective. The authors have created graphs for each ITG enabler for IoT.

Moreover, by exploring the qualitative information collected from the interviewees, the authors were able to add nine new recommendations. Table 8 presents these new recommendations which are: F6; F11; P3; P10; O2; I1; S5; S6; C3. It must be noted that the new recommendations (when possible) took the IDs of the removed ones.

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation



Fig. 5. List of excluded recommendation

Table 8. Delphi - first round: Final list of ITG enablers for IoT implementation

ID Recommendations

- F1 Promote interoperability via decentralization
- F2 Promote collaboration between organizations
- F3 Implementation of trust
- F4 Implementation of transparency
- F5 Implementation of data privacy and data protection
- F6 IoT agile principles
- F7 Interiorization of risk management
- F8 Governance Framework Application
- F9 Strategic policies to promote innovation
- F10 End-to-End security principles
- F11 Data audit principle
- F12 Operation Principles are aligned with IoT procedures
- F13 Include Cybersecurity and digital policies in IoT policies
- P1 Strategy processes to coordinate IoT processes
- P2 Business processes to align IoT processes with business models
- P3 Problem identification processes
- P4 Information processing towards business decisions

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 25-45

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

- ID
 Recommendations

 P5
 Implementing a sound data management process
- P6 Implementation of data analytics processes
- P7 Implementing application management process to promote scalability
- P8 Implementing application monitoring process to guarantee business continuity
- P9 Implementation of application security management in development process
- P10 Digitalization processes
- O1 Assignment of roles, responsibilities, and tasks in IoT
- O2 Implementation of accountability
- O3 Responsabilization assignment matrix
- B1 Organization's culture aligns with identity, autonomy and trust protection of IoT users
- B2 The organization implements his culture and values in IoT acceptance
- B3 Ethics integrates social behaviours, privacy, and integrity in IoT implementation
- B4 Implementation of awareness in people's attitude and motivation
- I1 Data exchange between organizations
- S1 IoT services promote sustainability
- S2 IoT services are built on top of strong standards and protocols
- S3 IoT infrastructures it is aligned with continuity of investment
- S4 Ensure IoT services improve the organization's efficiency by being aligned with business needs
- S5 Predictive technologies to support decision makers
- S6 Service delivery management to improve scalability
- C1 Integration of people in IoT
- C2 Socio-technical skills to promote automation
- C3 User experience to improve effectiveness
- C4 Implementation of information skills for requirements analysis
- C5 Implementing people as an important role in IoT acceptance

The next section presents the second round of Delphi.

3.2 Second Round

The second round was sent on March 19th to the participants with a two weeks deadline to fulfil the questionnaire. This round aimed to get a rate in terms of efficiency of each ITG enabler recommendation validated in the first round, using a score between one (not efficient) and five (very efficient). In addition, the participants were invited to point out from the list of recommendation which ones they believed to be the top 10 for an IoT implementation. After gathering all the answers, ranking points were used to define each position. First choice gets 10 ranking points and the 10th gets 1 ranking point. Table 9 presents the overall top 10 recommendations.

Table 9. Delp	ohi – Round 2:	Top 10 re	ecommendations
---------------	----------------	-----------	----------------

Top10	ID	Recommendations	Ranking Points
1	F5	Implementation of data privacy and data protection.	49
2	P5	Implementing a sound data management process.	36
3	P6	Implementation of data analytics processes.	33
4	S2	IoT services are built on top of strong standards and protocols.	31
5	F10	End-to-End security principles.	18
6	F8	Governance framework application	17
7	P2	Business processes to align IoT processes with business models.	16
8	F2	Promote collaboration between organizations.	14
9	C2	Socio-technical skills to promote automation.	14
10	01	Assignment of roles, responsibilities and tasks in IoT.	13

3.3 Third Round

In the third round, participants were asked to review their answers from round two according to the group's average. The objective of this round was to deliver more consensual results in terms of ITG enablers efficiency and in the top 10 recommendations. Comparison between round two and three is detailed in Figure 6.

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation



Fig. 6. Delphi – Round 3: Comparison between efficiency scores (Round 2 – Orange; Round 3 – Blue)

Table 10 presents the ten most important recommendations by the participants involved in the Delphi research.

Тор	ID	Recommendation	Ranking Points	Ranking Points	Delta	Position
10			Round 2	Round 3		
1	F5	Implementation of data privacy and data protection	49	59	+10	
2	S2	IoT services are built on top of strong standards and protocols	31	45	+14	$\uparrow +2$
3	P5	Implementing a sound data management process	36	42	+6	↓-1
4	P6	Implementation of data analytics processes	33	40	+7	↓-1
5	F10	End-to-End security principles	18	30	+12	
6	F8	Governance Framework Application	17	27	+10	
7	01	Assignment of roles, responsibilities, and tasks in IoT	13	18	+5	<u>↑</u> +3
8	P2	Business processes to align IoT processes with business models	16	17	+1	↓-1
9	F2	Promote collaboration between organizations	14	10	-4	
10	02	Implementation of accountability	10	10	0	New

Table 10. Delphi - Round 3: Tuned top 10 recommendations

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 25-45

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

The next section presents the demonstration and evaluation.

4. Demonstration and Evaluation

An experienced IoT organization was assessed in order to validate if the proposed recommendations were used in their IoT projects and if they resulted in a positive impact. The interviewee has more than 20 years of experience in the field and the targeted organization has dozens of ongoing IoT projects. However, for confidentiality reasons we are not able to provide information on the organization nor the name of the interviewee.

We asked for the interviewee's opinion regarding the most important and efficient recommendations obtained (Figure 6) and if the top 10 recommendations were useful in an IoT project. Regarding the full set of mechanisms, qualitative information is provided in Table 11. The researchers made an effort to collect more qualitative information about the top 10 mechanisms, but others were also discussed. On the top 10 mechanisms, the interviewee argued that "...all recommendations mentioned in the top 10 recommendations are useful in an IoT project to bring more effectiveness of the solution and to meet the requirements requested by the customer during the implementation. However, I must say that we did not feel the need to implement B2 since we do not feel that acceptance depends on meeting the culture and values in this organization". This remark is due to the fact that this organization has a strong involvement in IoT projects, and the workers are aligned with that mindset. However, in less experienced organizations this recommendation may be important to consider. In Table 11, you can see the detailed comments of the interviewee for each recommendation.

ID	Recommendation	Comments
Q1	Implementation of data privacy and data protection (F5)	"This recommendation is essential to exist during an IoT implementation and after the implementation and our organization implements from the begin of the implementation until the end solution."
Q2	Implementation of data privacy and data protection (F5)	"There is a constant worry and care to have this during an implementation."
Q3	IoT services are built on top of strong standards and protocols (S2)	"In our IoT implementations we normally use protocols in the levels of encryption, access and in data formatting and some example of protocols are AES, LoRa, IPSec, SSH, SHA and REST protocol."
Q4	Implementing people as an important role in IoT acceptance (C5)	"People are essential during the implementation and after the solution is implemented. In addition, it is important to consider that people and processes must be adaptive based on the solution, therefore we tried to include the stakeholders during the implementation process to leverage the acceptance."
Q5	Implementing a sound data management process (P5) and Implementation of data analytics processes (P6)	"Yes we use these recommendations and we put more emphasis into data identification and data validation, because there is uncertainty in data obtained by the solution, so there must be several ways to test the data and to validate the data using data harmonization."
Q6	Promote collaboration between organizations (F2)	"If an organization has the idea to be alone in the IoT sector will not be successful. So, a partnership is essential during an IoT implementation. The interaction was made at the same level between organizations (IoT and data levels)."
Q7	Governance Framework Application (F8)	"Our organization didn't use any governance framework during an IoT implementation, therefore this recommendation in my perspective is not useful."
Q8	Business processes to align IoT processes with business models (P2)	"Yes, we tried to implement this recommendation, but the trend for the future is the opposite, because if the organization only focus to align the IoT processes to the business models will lose scalability in IoT where in the long term will not bring many benefits in terms of business to the organization."
Q9	Assignment of roles, responsibilities, and tasks in IoT (O1)	"Normally the people already have their roles in the organization, we only make the adaption of processes, and people only change tasks and not functions."

Table 11. Evaluation - interview: Comments per recommendations

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 25-45

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

ID	Recommendation	Comments
Q10	F5, P9, O2, B2, I1, S2, C5	"The organization in the IoT implementation use all of the recommendations to bring more efficiency into the solution and we put more focus in the S2 recommendation "IoT services are built on top of strong standards and protocols". In addition, the organization focused on the use of open standards in their IoT solutions."
Q11	End-to-End security principles (F10)	"The organization implements it through all IoT projects. Actually, we turned it native using IPv6."
Q12	Implementation of accountability (O2)	"The organization tries to implement this recommendation but there is a flaw in the assignment of responsibilities which makes the IoT implementation less efficient, due to a lack of responsibility level in the new tasks of the people."
Q13	Implementation of application security management in development process (P9)	"The organization do not apply this recommendation in particular, because the solution already has security tools that applied security management process."
Q14	The organization implements his culture and values in IoT acceptance (B2)	"Any implementation of values and culture was not made in the IoT solution because the acceptance does not depend on meeting the culture and values but instead depends on the effectiveness of the solution, therefore we do not implement this recommendation."
Q15	Data exchange between organizations (I1)	"We use this recommendation, but this exchange of information did not increase efficiency, instead increase the credibility, due to the validation of data to support the decision makers to getting the right decisions for the business. Also, increased the speed of acceptance and the priority level of IoT. This exchange of information between organizations brings always new ideas, new solutions."

5. Research Synthesis and Findings

At the end of this research, some literature statements were reinforced, and others elicited and added as novel insights to the body of knowledge. The following paragraphs intend to connect the main findings of this research and the literature of the area.

Organizations do not implement IoT for matters of marketing or image. The IoT adoption, like any other technology, should be a strategic decision [92] grounded on business needs and aligned with business objectives [93]. Therefore, new business processes must be designed or a redesign of current ones is required to incorporate IoT technology in an organizations' business (P2).

A business process is usually defined as a set of activities that together perform a business objective [94]. With the inclusion of IoT technology in business processes new activities will be added; therefore, new roles and responsibilities must be defined (O1) so that accountability can be established (O2) and absence of responsibility in IT failures is avoided [84].

IoT systems collect and manipulate huge amounts of data [95] and privacy must be assured as well as protected from threats (F5). The exponential growth of data in IoT systems and the need to be controlled calls for a solid Data Management process (P5) which is seen in literature as a core process for IoT success [96]. Plus, since IoT projects are complex [97] and data security seems to be a critical issue, end-to-end security principles (F10) must be evangelized. One way to ensure security is by adopting one or more of the many standards and protocols (S2) that already exist [98].

Information is currently one of the key assets of organizations [99] and Information systems have an important role in producing reliable information from raw data [46] so that managers can make decisions accordingly [92]. IoT systems are no exception; thus, the implementation of capable analytics processes (P6) are imperative to create reliable information and knowledge from all the collected data.

Many IoT projects require the involvement of other organizations [71]. This increases the potential risks of the project and therefore special attention should be paid to the efficient collaboration of the respective organizations (F2).

Nowadays, organizations are not able to compete or even survive without a strong IT function [99]. With the increasing importance of IT in organizations' success, enterprise governance of IT became critical to ensure business/IT alignment [100]. Thus, the implementation of an ITG framework (F8) is advised and well seen by the experts.

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

6. Conclusions, limitations and future research

At the beginning of this investigation the purpose was to identify a list of the main ITG enablers for IoT implementation, thus helping managers improve IoT project results with better governance. At the end, the main conclusions of this investigation are presented. The enabler "processes, principles, frameworks and policies" appears to be the most investigated in literature. This makes sense since many researchers have focused their research on evolving and extending ITG frameworks in different organizational contexts. The application of ITG frameworks in IoT is not an exception. Nevertheless, few studies exist clearly exploring how ITG may help IoT implementation projects. Both enabler categories "people, skills and competencies" and "information" are the less explored ones in literature

According to the practitioners, the less relevant ITG enabler categories are "Culture, Ethics, and Behaviour" and "Information". Such conclusion is grounded on the absence of recommendations of those enablers on the defined top 10, and according to the rate of efficiency the maximum score in the group's average was four in the Delphi results. However, the authors believe that the scarce enablers in the "information" category may have influenced this conclusion. On the contrary, "Principles, Policies and Frameworks" (4 of the top 10) and "Processes" (3 out of 10 in top 10) are seen as the most relevant enabler categories for IoT projects. All the enablers about data seem to be essential in IoT. Three of the first four enablers in the top 10 are Data-oriented. Implementation of roles and responsibilities are seen as an important step since the beginning of an IoT implementation. People still have an active role in IoT projects, thus managers should increase efforts in IoT acceptance by people. The "Process" category has a high correlation with "Principles, Policies, and Frameworks", given the focus in data and how organizations will manipulate that which is obtained by IoT systems. Such correlation is essential since the processes of data management and data analytics are critical to extracting information from data, and the implementation of data privacy and data protection is necessary to assure data integrity and trustful information. It is important to assign roles and responsibilities to the people involved in an IoT project, convincing them that it is necessary to adapt their tasks into the IoT implementation as well as to adapt the current processes of the organization to increase the efficiency of the implementation. When more than one organization is involved in the IoT project, the focus on the level of data must be reinforced since multiple organizations may need to access and use data to retrieve valuable information and knowledge necessary for their business. In addition, organizations working in silos may not succeed in the long term, because the collaboration between organizations may increase the success rate of an IoT implementation.

Last but not least, people seem to be a considerable barrier to increase the acceptance of IoT, and it is suggested (C5) to involve people from the beginning. Therefore, they can understand that these abnormal patterns always bring new ideas and new solutions into their business. The results indicate that data privacy, data protection, and data analysis are currently the most relevant enablers to consider in an IoT implementation because they increase the efficiency of the solution and data credibility.

This investigation has some limitations as well. The lack of studies relating to ITG enablers with IoT forced the authors to perform a more interpretive analysis of most studies. Moreover, some experts did not accept our invitation to participate in the Delphi study, reducing the possible number of contributions. The study has limitations regarding the type of organization given that it was carried out in the banking industry of a particular country, Portugal. Future research should go deeper in exploring the ITG enablers for IoT implementation in different kinds of organizations taking into account contingency factors such as regional differences, size of the organization, country, type of control, public or private, amongst others. An exploratory study upon each ITG enabler/mechanism can lead to a strengthening of the findings concerning this topic. Finally, we would recommend a quantitative study to be more precise in generalizing the order of importance in each ITG enabler for IoT implementation. We are currently working in the implementation of part of these mechanisms in an organization.

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

References

- J. D. Patón-Romero, M. T. Baldassarre, M. Rodríguez, and M. Piattini, "Green IT Governance and Management based on ISO/IEC 15504," *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, vol. 60, pp. 26–36, 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.CSI.2018.04.005.
- [2] R. Pereira and M. Mira Da Silva, "Designing a new integrated IT Governance and IT Management framework based on both scientific and practitioner viewpoint," *International Journal of Enterprise Information Systems* (*IJEIS*), vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 1–43, 2012, doi: doi:10.4018/jeis.2012100101.
- [3] I. S. Bianchi, R. D. Sousa, R. Pereira, and S. De Haes, "The Influence of Culture in IT Governance Implementation: A Higher Education Multi Case Study," *International Journal of Human Capital and Information Technology Professionals (IJHCITP)*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 55–68, 2019, doi: 10.4018/IJHCITP.2019100104.
- [4] D. Smits and J. Van Hillegersberg, "Evaluation of the usability of a new ITG instrument to measure hard and soft governance maturity," *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 37–58, 2019, doi: 10.12821/ijispm070203.
- [5] S. De Haes and W. Van Grembergen, "Analysing the relationship between IT governance and business/IT alignment maturity," *Proceedings of the Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, pp. 1–10, 2008, doi: 10.1109/HICSS.2008.66.
- [6] S. Vejseli, A. Rossmann, and T. Connolly, "IT Governance and Its Agile Dimensions: Exploratory Research in the Banking Sector," *Proceedings of the 52nd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences* /, vol. 6, p. 10, 2019.
- [7] G. J. Selig, "IT Governance An Integrated Framework and Roadmap for Planning, Deploying & Sustaining for Competitive Advantage," 2018 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET), pp. 1–15, 2018.
- [8] T. Huygh and S. De Haes, "Investigating IT Governance through the Viable System Model," *Information Systems Management*, vol. 00, no. 00, pp. 1–25, 2019, doi: 10.1080/10580530.2019.1589672.
- [9] I. S. Bianchi, R. D. Sousa, R. Pereira, and I. M. de Souza, "Effective IT governance mechanisms in higher education institutions: An empirical study," *RISTI - Revista Iberica de Sistemas e Tecnologias de Informacão*, no. E25, pp. 412–423, 2020.
- [10] D. Henriques, R. Pereira, R. Almeida, and M. Mira da Silva, "IT Governance Enablers," Foresight and STI Governance, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 48–59, 2020, doi: 10.17323/2500-2597.2020.1.48.59.
- [11] I. Bianchi, R. Sousa, R. Pereira, and J. Hillegersberg, "Baseline Mechanisms for IT Governance at Universities," in *Research Papers*, 2017, pp. 1551–1567, [Online]. Available: https://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2017_rp/100.
- [12] D. S. Kerr and U. S. Murthy, "The importance of the CobiT framework IT processes for effective internal control over financial reporting in organizations: An international survey," *Information and Management*, vol. 50, no. 7, pp. 590–597, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.im.2013.07.012.
- [13] E. W. N. Bernroider and M. Ivanov, "IT project management control and the Control Objectives for IT and related Technology (CobiT) framework," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 325– 336, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2010.03.002.
- [14] ISACA, COBIT 2019 Framework: Introduction and Methodology. 2018.

- [15] G. Ridley, J. Young, and P. Carroll, "Studies to evaluate COBIT's contribution to organisations: Opportunities from the literature, 2003-06," *Australian Accounting Review*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 334–342, 2008, doi: 10.1111/j.1835-2561.2008.0019.x.
- [16] D. Henriques, R. F. Pereira, R. Almeida, and M. Mira da Silva, "IT governance enablers in relation to IoT implementation: a systematic literature review," *Digital Policy, Regulation and Governance*, 2019, doi: 10.1108/DPRG-02-2019-0013.
- [17] L. Kappelman, V. Johnson, R. Torres, C. Maurer, and E. McLean, "A study of information systems issues, practices, and leadership in Europe," *European Journal of Information Systems*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 26–42, 2019, doi: 10.1080/0960085X.2018.1497929.
- [18] G. Maccani, N. Connolly, and B. Donnellan, "IT governance in smart cities: An exploratory case study of an European city authority," 2019.
- [19] A. R. Rincon, J. Jewer, G. Y. Ke, J. Jewer, and G. Y. Ke, "IT Governance and Continuous Digital Innovation: Insights from a Delphi Study," 2020, [Online]. Available: https://aisel.aisnet.org/amcis2020/strategic_uses_it/strategic_uses_it/23.
- [20] Y. Lu and J. Cecil, "An Internet of Things (IoT)-based collaborative framework for advanced manufacturing," *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, vol. 84, no. 5–8, pp. 1141–1152, 2016, doi: 10.1007/s00170-015-7772-0.
- [21] R. Alur *et al.*, "Systems Computing Challenges in the Internet of Things," *Computing Community Consortium Catalyst*, no. June, pp. 1–15, 2015, doi: 10.1109/MC.2011.291.
- [22] P. Zhang, X. Shi, and S. Khan, "Can quantitative finance benefit from IoT?," *Proceedings of the Workshop on Smart Internet of Things SmartIoT '17*, pp. 1–6, 2017, doi: 10.1145/3132479.3132491.
- [23] M. S. Balaji and S. K. Roy, "Value co-creation with Internet of things technology in the retail industry," *Journal of Marketing Management*, vol. 33, no. 1–2, pp. 7–31, 2017, doi: 10.1080/0267257X.2016.1217914.
- [24] I. Yaqoob *et al.*, "Internet of Things Architecture: Recent Advances, Taxonomy, Requirements, and Open Challenges," *IEEE Wireless Communications*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 10–16, 2017, doi: 10.1109/MWC.2017.1600421.
- [25] M. Tu, "An exploratory study of internet of things (IoT) adoption intention in logistics and supply chain management a mixed research approach," *International Journal of Logistics Management*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 131–151, 2018, doi: 10.1108/IJLM-11-2016-0274.
- [26] K. Peffers, T. Tuunanen, and B. Niehaves, "Design science research genres: introduction to the special issue on exemplars and criteria for applicable design science research," *European Journal of Information Systems*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 129–139, 2018, doi: 10.1080/0960085X.2018.1458066.
- [27] A. R. Hevner, "A Three Cycle View of Design Science Research A Three Cycle View of Design Science Research," *Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems*, vol. 19, no. 192, pp. 87–92, 2007, doi: http://aisel.aisnet.org/sjis/vol19/iss2/4.
- [28] K. Peffers, T. Tuunanen, M. A. Rothenberger, and A. S. Chatterjee, "A Design Science Research Methodology for Information Systems Research," *Journal of Management Information Systems*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 45–77, 2008.
- [29] B. Kitchenham, "Procedures for Performing Systematic Reviews," Keele University, United Kingdom, 2004.
- [30] J. Webster and R. T. Watson, "Analyzing the Past to Prepare for the Future: Writing a Literature Review.," *MIS Quarterly*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. xiii–xxiii, 2002, doi: 10.1.1.104.6570.

- [31] A. Prasad, P. Green, and J. Heales, "On IT governance structures and their effectiveness in collaborative organizational structures," *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 199– 220, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.accinf.2012.06.005.
- [32] M. Spremić, "IT Governance Mechanisms in Managing IT Business Value," *Corporate Governance*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 906–915, 2009.
- [33] M. Simonsson, P. Johnson, and M. Ekstedt, "The effect of IT governance maturity on IT governance performance," *Information Systems Management*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 10–24, 2010, doi: 10.1080/10580530903455106.
- [34] P. Weill and J. Ross, "A Matrixed Approach to Designing IT Governance," *MIT Sloan Management Review*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 26–34, 2005, doi: 10.1177/0275074007310556.
- [35] S. P. Wu, D. W. Straub, and T.-P. Liang, "How Information Technology Governance Mechanisms and Strategic Alignment Influence Organizational Performance: Insights from a Matched Survey of Business and IT Managers," *MIS Quarterly*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 497–518, 2017, doi: 10.25300/misq/2015/39.2.10.
- [36] H. Bin-Abbas and S. H. Bakry, "Assessment of IT governance in organizations: A simple integrated approach," *Computers in Human Behavior*, vol. 32, pp. 261–267, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.12.019.
- [37] P. L. Bowen, M. Y. D. Cheung, and F. H. Rohde, "Enhancing IT governance practices: A model and case study of an organization's efforts," *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 191– 221, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.accinf.2007.07.002.
- [38] K. Fink and C. Ploder, "Decision support framework for the implementation of IT-governance," in *Proceedings* of the Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2008, p. 432, doi: 10.1109/HICSS.2008.113.
- [39] M. Garsoux, "COBIT 5 ISACA's new framework for IT Governance, Risk, Security and Auditing An overview," *ISACA Whitepapers*, p. 39, 2013.
- [40] T. Kude, M. Lazic, A. Heinzl, and A. Neff, "Achieving IT-based synergies through regulation-oriented and consensus-oriented IT governance capabilities," *Information Systems Journal*, no. January 2015, pp. 1–31, 2017, doi: 10.1111/isj.12159.
- [41] M. Lockwood, J. Davidson, A. Curtis, E. Stratford, and R. Griffith, "Governance principles for natural resource management," *Society and Natural Resources*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 986–1001, 2010, doi: 10.1080/08941920802178214.
- [42] L. Higgins and D. Sinclair, "A new look at IT governance," *Journal of Corporate Accounting & Finance*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 31–36, 2008, doi: 10.1002/jcaf.20415.
- [43] M. Othman, M. N. Ahmad, A. Suliman, N. H. Arshad, and S. S. Maidin, "COBIT principles to govern flood management," *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, vol. 9, pp. 212–223, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ijdtr.2014.05.012.
- [44] E. W. N. Bernroider, "IT governance for enterprise resource planning supported by the DeLone-McLean model of information systems success," *Information and Management*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 257–269, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.im.2007.11.004.
- [45] W. A. Cram, M. K. Brohman, and R. B. Gallupe, "Hitting a moving target: A process model of information systems control change," *Information Systems Journal*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 195–226, 2016, doi: 10.1111/isj.12059.

- [46] P. P. Tallon, R. V. Ramirez, and J. E. Short, "The Information Artifact in IT Governance: Toward a Theory of Information Governance," *Journal of Management Information Systems*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 141–178, 2013, doi: 10.2753/MIS0742-1222300306.
- [47] H. Tsoukas and E. Vladimirou, "What is Organizational Knowledge?," *Journal of Management Studies*, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 973–993, 2001, doi: 10.1111/1467-6486.00268, 10.1111/1467-6486.00268.
- [48] H. Heier, H. P. Borgman, and M. G. Maistry, "Examining the relationship between IT governance software and business value of IT: Evidence from four case studies," *Proceedings of the Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, pp. 1–11, 2007, doi: 10.1109/HICSS.2007.216.
- [49] R. Huang, R. W. Zmud, and R. L. Price, "Influencing the effectiveness of IT governance practices through steering committees and communication policies," *European Journal of Information Systems*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 288–302, 2010, doi: 10.1057/ejis.2010.16.
- [50] ISACA, COBIT5: Enabling Information. ISACA, 2013.
- [51] J. M. Beyer and O. David Niñ, "Ethics and cultures in international business," *Journal of Management Inquiry*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 287–297, 1999, doi: 10.1177/105649269983006.
- [52] H. Heier, H. P. Borgman, and T. H. Hofbauer, "Making the most of IT governance software: Understanding implementation processes," *Proceedings of the Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, pp. 1–11, 2008, doi: 10.1109/HICSS.2008.239.
- [53] S. Wu, D. Straub, and T. Liang, "How information technology governance mechanisms and strategic alignment influence organizational performance: Insights from a matched survey of business and IT managers," *MIS Quarterly*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 497–518, 2015.
- [54] A. Joshi, L. Bollen, H. Hassink, S. De Haes, and W. Van Grembergen, "Explaining IT governance disclosure through the constructs of IT governance maturity and IT strategic role," *Information and Management*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 368–380, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.im.2017.09.003.
- [55] M. Queiroz, P. P. Tallon, R. Sharma, and T. Coltman, "The role of IT application orchestration capability in improving agility and performance," *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 4–21, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jsis.2017.10.002.
- [56] J. C. Simon, K. M. Kaiser, C. Beath, T. Goles, and K. Gallagher, "Information technology workforce skills: Does size matter?," *Information Systems Management*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 345–359, 2007, doi: 10.1080/10580530701586102.
- [57] M. Simonsson and M. Ekstedt, "Getting the priorities right: Literature vs practice on IT governance," in Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology, 2006, vol. 1, no. c, pp. 18– 26, doi: 10.1109/PICMET.2006.296548.
- [58] S. Ali and P. Green, "Effective information technology (IT) governance mechanisms: An IT outsourcing perspective," pp. 179–193, 2012, doi: 10.1007/s10796-009-9183-y.
- [59] C. Okoli and S. D. Pawlowski, "The Delphi method as a research tool: An example, design considerations and applications," *Information and Management*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 15–29, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.im.2003.11.002.
- [60] H. A. Linstone and M. Turoff, *The Delphi Method: Techniques and Applications*. 2002.
- [61] J. Landeta, "Current validity of the Delphi method in social sciences," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 467–482, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2005.09.002.

- [62] K. Birdir and T. E. Pearson, "Research chefs' competencies: a Delphi approach Kemal," *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 205–209, 2000, doi: 10.1108/09596110010309989.
- [63] G. J. Skulmoski, F. T. Hartman, and J. Krahn, "The Delphi Method for Graduate Research," *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, vol. 6, pp. 001–021, 2017, doi: 10.28945/199.
- [64] J. W. Murry and J. O. Hammons, "Delphi: A Versatile Methodology for Conducting Qualitative Research," *The Review of Higher Education*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 423–436, 2017, doi: 10.1353/rhe.1995.0008.
- [65] A. P. Verhagen *et al.*, "The Delphi list: A criteria list for quality assessment of randomized clinical trials for conducting systematic reviews developed by Delphi consensus," *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 1235–1241, 1998, doi: 10.1016/S0895-4356(98)00131-0.
- [66] S. De Haes, "An Exploratory Study into the Design of an IT Governance Minimum Baseline through Delphi," *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, vol. 22, 2008, doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.02224.
- [67] A. J. Fletcher and G. P. Marchildon, "Using the delphi method for qualitative, participatory action research in health leadership," *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–18, 2014, doi: 10.1177/160940691401300101.
- [68] K. Q. Hill and J. Fowles, "The methodological worth of the Delphi forecasting technique," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 179–192, 1975, doi: 10.1016/0040-1625(75)90057-8.
- [69] G. J. Skulmoski, F. T. Hartman, and J. Krahn, "The Delphi Method for Graduate Research Gregory," *Journal of Information Technology Education*, vol. 6, pp. 1–21, 2007, doi: 10.1007/3-540-47847-7_10.
- [70] R. Buyya and A. Vahid Dastjerdi, Internet of Things: Principles and Paradigms. 2016.
- [71] R. Roman, J. Zhou, and J. Lopez, "On the features and challenges of security and privacy in distributed internet of things," *Computer Networks*, vol. 57, no. 10, pp. 2266–2279, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.comnet.2012.12.018.
- [72] H. Derhamy, J. Eliasson, J. Delsing, and P. Priller, "A survey of commercial frameworks for the Internet of Things," *IEEE International Conference on Emerging Technologies and Factory Automation, ETFA*, vol. 2015-Octob, 2015, doi: 10.1109/ETFA.2015.7301661.
- [73] P. Jayashankar, S. Nilakanta, W. J. Johnston, P. Gill, and R. Burres, "IoT adoption in agriculture: the role of trust, perceived value and risk," *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 804–821, 2018, doi: 10.1108/JBIM-01-2018-0023.
- [74] R. H. Weber, "Internet of things Governance quo vadis?," *Computer Law and Security Review*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 341–347, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.clsr.2013.05.010.
- [75] V. A. F. Almeida, B. Goh, and D. Doneda, "A principles-based approach to govern the IoT ecosystem," *IEEE Internet Computing*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 78–81, 2017, doi: 10.1109/MIC.2017.2911433.
- [76] R. Neisse, G. Baldini, G. Steri, Y. Miyake, S. Kiyomoto, and A. R. Biswas, "An agent-based framework for Informed Consent in the internet of things," *IEEE World Forum on Internet of Things, WF-IoT 2015 -Proceedings*, no. 2, pp. 789–794, 2015, doi: 10.1109/WF-IoT.2015.7389154.
- [77] A. T. Chatfield and C. G. Reddick, "A framework for Internet of Things-enabled smart government: A case of IoT cybersecurity policies and use cases in U.S. federal government," *Government Information Quarterly*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 346–357, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2018.09.007.

- [78] D. De Cremer, B. Nguyen, and L. Simkin, "The integrity challenge of the Internet-of-Things (IoT): on understanding its dark side," *Journal of Marketing Management*, vol. 33, no. 1–2, pp. 145–158, 2017, doi: 10.1080/0267257X.2016.1247517.
- [79] M. Ruggieri, H. Nikookar, O. Vermesan, and P. Friess, *Internet of Things: Converging Technologies for Smart Environments and Integrated Ecosystems*. River Publishers, 2013.
- [80] L. Yao, Q. Z. Sheng, and S. Dustdar, "Web-Based Management of the Internet of Things," *IEEE Internet Computing*, 2015, doi: 10.1037/a0013730.
- [81] J. Gubbi, R. Buyya, S. Marusic, and M. Palaniswami, "Internet of Things (IoT): A vision, architectural elements, and future directions," *Future Generation Computer Systems*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 1645–1660, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.future.2013.01.010.
- [82] V. A. F. Almeida, D. Doneda, and M. Monteiro, "Governance challenges for the internet of things," *IEEE Internet Computing*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 56–59, 2015, doi: 10.1109/MIC.2015.86.
- [83] F. Wortmann and K. Flüchter, "Internet of Things: Technology and Value Added," *Business and Information Systems Engineering*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 221–224, 2015, doi: 10.1007/s12599-015-0383-3.
- [84] Z. Shen, H. Yu, L. Yu, C. Miao, Y. Chen, and V. R. Lesser, "Dynamic Generation of Internet of Things Organizational Structures Through Evolutionary Computing," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 943–954, 2018, doi: 10.1109/JIOT.2018.2795548.
- [85] D. Shin, "A socio-technical framework for Internet-of-Things design: A human-centered design for the Internet of Things," *Telematics and Informatics*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 519–531, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2014.02.003.
- [86] A. Abobakr and M. A. Azer, "IoT Ethics Challenges and Legal Issues," in *IEEE Internet Computing*, 2017, pp. 233–237, doi: 10.1109/ICCES.2017.8275309.
- [87] D. H. Shin and Y. Jin Park, "Understanding the Internet of Things ecosystem: multi-level analysis of users, society, and ecology," *Digital Policy, Regulation and Governance*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 77–100, 2017, doi: 10.1108/DPRG-07-2016-0035.
- [88] E. I. Vlahogianni, K. Kepaptsoglou, V. Tsetsos, and M. G. Karlaftis, "A Real-Time Parking Prediction System for Smart Cities," *Journal of Intelligent Transportation Systems: Technology, Planning, and Operations*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 192–204, 2016, doi: 10.1080/15472450.2015.1037955.
- [89] T. D. Cao *et al.*, "IoT Services for Solving Critical Problems in Vietnam: A Research Landscape and Directions," *IEEE Internet Computing*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 76–81, 2016, doi: 10.1109/MIC.2016.97.
- [90] Z. Wen, R. Yang, P. Garraghan, T. Lin, J. Xu, and M. Rovatsos, "Fog Orchestration for Internet of Things Services," *IEEE Internet Computing*, pp. 16–24, 2017, doi: 10.1109/mic.2017.36.
- [91] A. J. A. M. Van Deursen and K. Mossberger, "Any Thing for Anyone? A New Digital Divide in Internet-of-Things Skills," *Policy and Internet*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 122–140, 2018, doi: 10.1002/poi3.171.
- [92] E. Ismagilova, L. Hughes, Y. K. Dwivedi, and K. R. Raman, "Smart cities: Advances in research—An information systems perspective," *International Journal of Information Management*, vol. 47, pp. 88–100, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.01.004.
- [93] S. Rajput and S. P. Singh, "Connecting circular economy and industry 4.0," International Journal of Information Management, vol. 49, no. November 2018, pp. 98–113, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.03.002.

- [94] P. Brous, M. Janssen, and P. Herder, "The dual effects of the Internet of Things (IoT): A systematic review of the benefits and risks of IoT adoption by organizations," *International Journal of Information Management*, no. May, pp. 1–17, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.05.008.
- [95] D. Li, L. Deng, M. Lee, and H. Wang, "IoT data feature extraction and intrusion detection system for smart cities based on deep migration learning," *International Journal of Information Management*, vol. 49, pp. 533– 545, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.04.006.
- [96] H. Fu, G. Manogaran, K. Wu, M. Cao, S. Jiang, and A. Yang, "Intelligent decision-making of online shopping behavior based on internet of things," *International Journal of Information Management*, no. 50, pp. 515–525, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.03.010.
- [97] S. Moin, A. Karim, Z. Safdar, K. Safdar, E. Ahmed, and M. Imran, "Securing IoTs in distributed blockchain: Analysis, requirements and open issues," *Future Generation Computer Systems*, vol. 100, pp. 325–343, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.future.2019.05.023.
- [98] M. A. Khan and K. Salah, "IoT security: Review, blockchain solutions, and open challenges," *Future Generation Computer Systems*, vol. 82, pp. 395–411, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.future.2017.11.022.
- [99] P. Reynolds and P. Yetton, "Aligning business and IT strategies in multi-business organizations," *Journal of Information Technology*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 101–118, 2015, doi: 10.1057/jit.2015.1.
- [100] M. Queiroz, "Mixed results in strategic IT alignment research: A synthesis and empirical study," *European Journal of Information Systems*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 21–36, 2017, doi: 10.1057/s41303-016-0024-z.

How IT Governance can assist IoT project implementation

Biographical notes



David Henriques

David Henriques started in 2007 the Computer Science degree at Escola Superior de Tecnologia de Castelo Branco in Portugal and finished it in 2010. In 2011 he decided to enter in the Leonardo Da Vinci's program, being six months in the University of Applied Sciences at Kemi, Finland, to do an internship in software development. In August of 2011 joined Ericsson Portugal as an intern in the position "Field Service Technician". In May of 2012 joined Altran Portugal as a Junior Consultant in Telecommunications to perform tasks in Vodafone Portugal and NOS as a Field Engineer. In November of 2014 joined Vodafone Portugal as a Telecommunications Engineer to integrate the ANOC Operations 2 ND Line team for Vodafone UK to manage Ericsson RAN devices. He has a master degree in Computer Science and Management from ISCTE – Instituto Universitário de Lisboa. Currently, he is working at Schréder Hyperion as Customer Success Specialist. His current work is to give support and guidance in our IoT & Smart Cities products.



Ruben Pereira

Ruben Pereira is an Assistant Professor at ISCTE. He has a PhD in Information Systems at Instituto Superior Técnico where he also graduated as a Master in Computer Engineering and Computer Science. He has been a consultant in several industries, such as: services, banking, telecommunications, and Ecommerce, among others. He is the author of several scientific papers in the area of Information Technology Services Management and Information Technology Governance, covering the most adopted IT Frameworks like ITIL and COBIT. Its areas of scientific interest extend to: Information Technology Risk Management, Business Process Management, continuous improvement and innovation, process optimization, Digital Transformation, among others.



Isaías Scalabrin Bianchi

Isaías Scalabrin Bianchi has a Ph.D. in Technology and Systems Information at the University of Minho, Portugal. He is a civil servant at Federal University of Santa Catarina, where he has been working since 2010 holding several management positions. He investigates IT governance, Information Technology Services Management, Business Process Management, Business Intelligence in particular for public organizations and higher education institutions. His research has been published in leading IS conferences and international journals. Isaias is an assistant coordinator of the Open University of Brazil – UAB at Federal University of Santa Catarina and a professor in the Master's Program in Management in the same university. In addition, he collaborates with research and teaches at the Al-Farabi Kazakh National University. He also supervises master's students at the University of Minho and Instituto Universitário de Lisboa.



Rafael Almeida

Rafael Almeida is currently a Product Owner at a High-Growth Startup. Rafael completed his PhD at Instituto Superior Técnico and his undergraduate studies at the same university. His research interests lie in the areas of IT Governance, ranging from theory to concrete models such as COBIT or ITIL. Rafael has published several papers in high-standard conferences.



Miguel Mira da Silva

Miguel Mira da Silva is professor of information systems at the University of Lisbon in Portugal and leader of the digital transformation group at the INOV research institute. He has published more than 200 research papers in international journals and conferences and has supervised 10 PhD and more than 150 MSc students. His research interests are digital transformation and governance, in particular implementing best practices in real-world organizations.

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 25-45



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

Moutaz Haddara Kristiania University College Prinsens gate 7-9, 0107 Oslo Norway moutaz.haddara@kristiania.no

Angelo Constantini Kristiania University College Prinsens gate 7-9, 0107 Oslo Norway angelo.constantini@gmail.com



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X

Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

M. Haddara, A. Constantini, "Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II", International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 48-64, 2020.



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X

Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

Moutaz Haddara

Kristiania University College Prinsens gate 7-9, 0107 Oslo Norway moutaz.haddara@kristiania.no

Angelo Constantini

Kristiania University College Prinsens gate 7-9, 0107 Oslo Norway angelo.constantini@gmail.com

Abstract:

One of the major visions is having one system that covers all business functions and satisfies virtually all the standard processes and routine transactions within organizations. In the last decade, several academics and practitioners have predicted the rise of what is called enterprise resource planning systems II (ERP II). ERP II was sought to be a digital platform that is capable of supporting timely decision-making through covering all business functions' processes through having preloaded modules that will minimize the need for external systems like separate customer relationship management (CRM), e-business platforms, and supply chain management (SCM) systems, among others. While ERP systems nowadays have matured, and several packages come with CRM modules and other solutions, however separate CRM systems are still widely adopted by organizations. Thus, this study investigates why organizations that currently have ERPs with CRM modules are still investing in separate CRM systems. Our results show that the current ERP systems did not reach the ERP II state as envisioned, as most organizations are inclined to adopt separate CRM systems. Thus, we have presented five main reasons for this inclination, which are: scoping during ERP implementations, costs, features and functionalities, user-friendliness and ease of use, and finally integration with e-business platforms.

Keywords:

ERP systems; CRM systems; ERP II; ERP selection; ES integration.

DOI: 10.12821/ijispm080303

Manuscript received: 8 November 2018 Manuscript accepted: 17 May 2020

Copyright © 2020, SciKA. General permission to republish in print or electronic forms, but not for profit, all or part of this material is granted, provided that the International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management copyright notice is given and that reference made to the publication, to its date of issue, and to the fact that reprinting privileges were granted by permission of SciKA - Association for Promotion and Dissemination of Scientific Knowledge.

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

1. Introduction

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems evolved in order to address the islands of information challenge, or what is known as *stovepipe systems* within organizations. Stovepipe systems are functional systems, which lack seamless integration between the different business functions in organizations. Thus, ERP systems were created to support and solve the integration challenges among the various business functions through using one logical database with several functional modules [1]. Because ERP systems are pre-designed to fit many different organizations, ERP systems come with pre-loaded and embedded best practices and industry standard processes [2]. ERP vendors and their key customers often jointly develop and define these best practices and processes. Hence, those best practices do not necessarily represent how the majority of enterprises conduct their business [2]. Due to their size and complexity, ERP systems' implementations require a substantial amount of resources and careful project management procedures [3].

Since 2000, several authors and practitioners have predicted that customer relationship management (CRM) modules, domain-specific operations, and e-business enablement will become standard solutions in future ERP packages [4]. They called it ERP II, as an evolution and extension to the traditional ERP. Indeed, major ERP vendors have responded to this vision and currently offer pre-customized domain-specific systems, e-business ready modules or interfaces, and CRM modules and applications. While most ERP systems have a CRM module included, such as the major closed source and open source ERP packages, however in practice, we still observe that a large number of organizations is still adopting stand-alone CRM systems. Thus, in this paper we attempt to explore the reasons why organizations are still investing in separate CRM systems, which might not even be integrated to other core processes of the company, instead of using the CRM module that comes with their ERP system. Hence, we have conducted a multiple case study in which we have interviewed informants from seven case organizations in Austria, Egypt, Norway, and the United Kingdom. In addition, in an attempt to capture a wider spectrum of different perspectives on the topic under-study, we have also interviewed various ERP stakeholders including implementation partners, consultants, and vendors. We would therefore like to explore the main reasons and motivations that lead organizations that are using an ERP system already, for adopting a separate CRM system. The results from this research may aid ERP vendors in identifying the current weaknesses of their systems (if any) and aid them in developing future full-fledged systems that can replace most of the organisational digital infrastructure and scattered applications.

This paper is organized as follows: the following section presents the study's background literature. In section 3, we introduce our target cases and research methodology. Research results and discussion are presented in section 4, and finally our conclusions and recommendations for future research are provided in section 5.

2. Literature Background

This research focuses on the observed phenomenon of organizations investing in a separate CRM system even though several of these organizations might already have a CRM module in their acquired ERP system. The authors have observed this trend in several companies in practice. Below, we introduce the basic concepts and background literature for this study.

2.1 ERP Systems

ERP systems are the largest type of enterprise systems. Enterprise systems are enterprise-wide applications, which are virtually used by the various business functions inside organizations. Other types of enterprise systems include CRM systems, supply chain management (SCM) systems, and any other enterprise-wide scale system. ERP systems handle basic corporate and business functions, such as finance, human resources, materials management, sales and distribution [5]. In the 1990s, ERP systems were proliferating among companies and turnovers of software vendors were high [6]. ERP systems were initially targeting large enterprises, however due to market saturation, vendors started to create lighter versions that can fit small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) [7]. With the current trend of moving into the "cloud" and the accompanying change to subscription-based payment plans [8], the business model of many software vendors has changed. The most popular players in the market today are SAP, a German company with customers in 190

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

countries and an annual turnover of ca. 25 Billion Euros [9], and Oracle, a US-based company, which is also known for their database management systems among other products, has ca. 420 000 customers and a current annual turnover of 37 Billion USD [10].

In general, ERP implementation projects involve several stakeholders including the internal IT staff and key business users from inside the organization, as well as, external consultants, or consultants from the implementation partners/vendors [1, 11]. It is recommended that adopting organizations should develop control mechanisms to ensure that the external consultants work in favor of the project and its goals [12]. ERP system implementation projects may differ from traditional system implementations in scale, scope, complexity, organizational changes, project costs, and the need for business process reengineering [13]. The percentage of ERP project failures is over 60% and half of all top-10 failures of all time are from market leading ERP vendors [14]. A more recent survey conducted by Panorama Consulting Solutions reports that 74% of the participating organizations in the survey have crossed their estimated ERP implementation budgets for several reasons, but one of the main reasons was due to unexpected changes in organizational or technical requirements [15]. In addition, 59% of the projects crossed their go-live schedules, mainly due to project scoping issues [15]. Moreover, the survey results also show that 56% of the organizations have suffered from production disruptions for varying time periods [15]. Software vendors have established so-called 'best practices'. These are primarily processes, which are supposed to be the ideal and standard practices in particular industries. Software vendors dedicated a lot of effort in investigating and identifying these practices from organizations and academic theories [16]. Many ERP packages are implemented using these best practices, meaning that the implementing organization adopts all or parts of these best-practices. This implementation type is called "vanilla". When implementations are made which mainly use the suggested processes, most organizations need to commit themselves to some form of business process reengineering [16]. While this usually involves costs and efforts, Robey et al. [5] state that the primary benefit from implementing an ERP system might result from adopting new business processes.

In general, ERP system implementations are complex and resource-intensive projects [17], spanning from the *adoption decision*, the *acquisition* phase, the actual *implementation* phase to the *use and maintenance* phase, the *evolution* phase, and eventually followed by the *retirement* phase [18], as depicted in the figure below.



Fig. 1. The ERP lifecycle framework. Adapted from [18].

2.2 ERP System Selection

The selection of an ERP vendor and the respective product is a part of the acquisition phase in the ERP Lifecycle framework. Somers and Nelson [13] present several critical success factors (CSF) across the stages of an ERP implementation: they identified that besides architecture choice, the most important success factors in the selection phase are clear goals and objectives, partnership with vendor, top management support as well as a careful selection of the package. Especially the CSF "clear goals and objectives" and "careful selection of the package" seem at first glance to be two potential answers to the research question of this study.

During the selection phase, system and organization fitness is regarded as a crucial issue. Several information systems implementations fail due to the selection of a non-fitting system [1]. The fitting process happens between the ERP system and the organization needs, requirements, and expected future evolvement and scalability. The topic of "fit" has been regarded as of paramount importance and has been frequently discussed in IS literature in general, and specifically in enterprise resource planning domain [1]. A wrong ERP system selection would either totally fail the project, or critically weaken the system and negatively affect the company's performance [19], and also may lead to an early ERP

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

retirement in some cases [20]. When deciding on the desired functionalities in the potential ERP, it is useful and, in most cases also required, to separate the "nice to have" from the "need to have" functionalities [21], and to focus on the goals and objectives that are to be achieved with the system. In practice, consultants regularly conduct an evaluation of the requirements, often however, requirements are only inferred and indirectly suggested by the ERP adopting organizations [1].

In literature, several studies aimed at identifying factors that could potentially affect the ERP selection outcome in organizations, and provided recommendations and criteria to optimize the selection process [1]. For instance, a study presented several factors that may affect the selection criteria, which include the ERP-to-organization fitness as an important factor [22]. During the selection phase, it therefore seems beneficial to scrutinize the current processes, before matching the company's requirements with the features and functionalities of the potential system [1]. In addition, Deep et al. [23] developed a framework for the ERP system and vendor selection processes. The framework presents the various stages and phases in the selection process, which starts with the requirements and project planning, identifying potential vendors, evaluation, and finally ends with the selection of the appropriate ERP package. The framework also illustrates several iterative tasks to be accomplished by the project team at each stage. Thus, the ERP selection process is a challenging task. This is mainly due to the scarcity of available resources within organizations, the complex nature of ERP packages, and the various ERP system alternatives in the market [24]. In addition, Esteves & Pastor (1999) argue that the price of the package, training and maintenance services provided by the vendor, return on investment (ROI) estimation, and the contractual agreement are defined during the selection process.

In our theoretical background, we focus on the selection process of ERP systems. We do so, because we hypothesize that the main grounds for acquiring a separate CRM either lie in the selection process of the ERP system (in other words: has the wrong ERP solution been chosen?) or this happened due to other reasons, such as the ERP system's characteristics or issues that cannot be influenced directly (e.g. internal political decisions).

2.3 CRM Systems

Customer relationship management as such, is a comprehensive strategy, and includes the processes of acquiring, retaining, and cooperating with segmented customers in order to maximize the value for the organization and its customers [25]. This includes the full integration of marketing, sales, and customer service functions and processes in order to maximize efficiency and effectiveness in delivering customer value [25]. These processes can be supported technologically by CRM systems, which manage all the channels, interactions, and touch and contact points between the organization and the customers.

CRM literature points out the importance of a single-view of the customer across all contact channels [26]. In addition, CRM systems have been widely adopted and aided in helping organizations to reach and contact customers, and to generate comprehensive analyses of their customers by collecting, storing and analysing customer data [27].

CRM systems are typically considered a type of Enterprise Systems. Even though existing literature differentiates between the scope of ERP systems that mainly capture operational (internal) data, and CRM systems' scope of focusing and capturing customer (external) data [28], however most ERP systems nowadays include a customer relationship management module or related applications.

With many CRM solutions establishing themselves in the market, such as Microsoft Dynamics, Salesforce, SugarCRM, HubSpot and other providers, the CRM market has been estimated to a total of 12 Billion USD in 2019 [29]. According to Forbes [30], Salesforce is the current market leader and holds a market share of more than 19% of global share. Salesforce is a cloud-only provider, which, besides sales modules, offers modules for marketing, service desks, analytics, community (social networks) and e-commerce. In Reinartz et al. [26], they state that the use of CRM systems is projected to advance the ability of an organization to endure profitable customer relationships by enabling information to be integrated and shared smoothly. Customer relationship is assumed to be a people-driven process [26], meaning that building and enforcing customer relationships have to come from the organization and the people therein and software can only support this process. Prior research in this area found that by implementing a CRM system

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

without established processes and people in place, the actual customer relationship performance may drastically deteriorate [26].

2.4 ERP II

The ERP II vision refers to an extended version or the next generation of ERP systems [31]. In 2000, Gartner group defined ERP II as a business strategy and a set of industry-domain-specific applications, which optimize enterprise and inter-enterprise, collaborative-operational and financial processes, in order to build and maximize customer and shareholder value [32]. Thus, ERP II was envisaged to virtually provide all the related integrations among front- and back-office systems (ERP I), plus all system functionalities that are included within CRM, supply chain management (SCM) systems [4, 31], and provide business intelligence (BI) capabilities [33]. Most of these processes and functions would mainly be available through modular on-demand add-ons to the system, like CRM-related solutions, data warehousing applications, and web portals [33, 34].

Besides sales force automation (SFA) and cost (SFC) management, ERP II was also foreseen to integrate all ecommerce related processes with the corporate supply chain [33]. Figure 2 presents an overview of the organizational areas and processes that ERP II is intended to cover. The areas are CRM, PLM (product lifecycle management), SRM (supplier relationship management), HRM (human resource management), CPM (corporate performance management), and SCM. In addition, ERP II was envisioned to provide back and front-end applications to enable business-tocustomer, business-to-business and business-to-employee operations. Moreover, ERP II should facilitate the enterprise application integration (EAI) with other systems [4]. Thus, due to their massive scale and coverage of the micro and macro environments' stakeholders, and the different business functions and operations, ERP II systems were and are expected to be very complex to implement [31, 34, 35].



Fig. 2. ERP II Umbrella. Adapted from [33].

ERP II implementation projects should not be only regarded as IT projects, they rather should be considered as business projects. This is mainly due to the considerable time of business engagement of the various key employees from the various business functions within organizations in contrast to their IT departments' peers [34]. In the year 2005, Møller argued that Gartner's vision of the next generation ERP (ERP II) has been matched by ERP's vendors as major ERP

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

systems currently (in 2005) have several interfaces, modules, and add-ons to meet that vision [33]. Looking now, we can see that most ERP systems facilitate EAI within organizations (e.g. SOA), and their SCM related modules have satisfied the need for adopting separate SCM systems for many organizations, however, we argue that this is not yet the case when it comes to CRM systems. In general, the ERP literature lacks sufficient research on exploring the status of "ERP II" initiatives in the industry [33]. Based on the authors' experiences in the industry, it is hypothesized that organisations still prefer to have stand-alone CRM systems along with their ERP systems, instead of having all-in-one solutions. Thus, in this paper we attempt to test this hypothesis and explore the reasons why organizations are still investing in separate CRM systems, which might not even be integrated to other core processes of the company, instead of using the CRM module that comes with their ERP system.

3. Research Methodology

This research followed an explorative research methodology, which can potentially aid in providing a better understanding of the phenomenon or problem understudy [36]. In general, exploratory research is a satisfactory method for investigating and explaining why certain phenomena occur [37]. Exploratory research is usually undertaken for three main purposes, namely analysing a situation, assessment of alternatives and discovering new ideas and phenomena [38]. One of the foundations of this genre of research is the use of a hypothesis, in which the researchers test the viability of certain hypotheses or research questions [39]. Thus, the authors hypothesized and questioned the viability of ERP II in practice. Specifically, the authors conducted a multiple case study [37] with ten semi-structured qualitative interviews [36] in organizations, plus six additional interviews with other stakeholders. According to Yin [37], a case study research method is recommended when "how" and "why" questions are probed, when the researcher has diminutive control on the events, and when the focus of the investigator is on a current phenomenon that occurs in a real-life context. According to Thomas [40], case studies can include the analyses of events, persons, decisions, periods, projects, institutions, or any other systems that are scrutinised and studied holistically through one or more research methods.

The data collection process was conducted between February 2017 to June 2018. The interviews were carried out in various organizations working in different industries, and within various geographical regions. The industries included: banking, business consulting, construction building information management (BIM), retail, manufacturing, and telecommunications. Other interviews have also been conducted with ERP consultants, implementation partners and vendors. The participants included a mixture of stakeholders who have been involved in ERP and CRM systems implementations. Altogether sixteen interviews gathered information from these different stakeholders. The informants had experience in various local, international, and open source ERP and CRM systems. More details regarding the sampling and data collection process are presented in section 3.2.

In the following table, the informants' details from the eight target cases and other interviewees are introduced in more details. The company names are fictitious to preserve anonymity.

Case	Industry	Size	Location	Informant	
Organization 1	Banking	Large	Norway	Customer service employee	
Organization 2	Consulting	Small	United Kingdom	Marketing manager	
Omenniaution 2	Committing	C 11	A	Marketing employee	
Organization 3	Consulting	Small	Austria	Head of sales	
Organization 4	Construction-BIM	Large	Norway	IT Application consultant	
Organization 5	Clothing Manufacturer	Small	Norway	Sales manager	
Organization 6	Retail & Food Manufacturing	Large	Egypt	Senior ERP Consultant	

Table 1. Overview of cases and informant

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

Case	Industry	Size	Location	Informant
Organization 7	Telecom	Large	Egypt	Sales employee
Organization /	Telecom	Large		Marketing employee
Organization 8	Banking	Large	Norway	Senior business support employee
Imp. partner 1	Implementation Partner	Large	Czech Republic	Senior SAP Consultant
Imp. partner 2	Implementation Partner	Small	Egypt	Junior implementation consultant
V		Madium	Egypt	General manager
v	EKP venuor	Medium		ERP senior consultant
Cons 1	Not applicable	Not applicable	Norway	Independent ERP consultant
Cons 2	Not applicable	Not applicable	Sweden	Independent ERP consultant

3.1 Interview guide and cases

The interview guide was developed by the authors in order to gather insights about the topic understudy. The authors used constructs from the existing body of knowledge on CRM, ERP, and ERP II, plus their practical experience as basis for the questionnaire development. The questionnaire covered several topics, including reasons and motivations for CRM adoptions, capabilities of the CRM vs. ERP's CRM modules, challenges with current ERP and the CRM-related activities, CRM and ERP integration plans, and implementation costs. Moreover, we also asked about the status of ERP II from the points of view of our informants. In a column to the right of the questions, potential follow-up questions were listed. A sample of the pool of questions is presented below:

- What were the organization's motivations for investing in an ERP system?
- What were the organization's motivations for investing in a separate CRM system?
- Did you consider acquiring a single ERP II system instead of investing in multiple systems? Why/why not?
- In your opinion, what are the main challenges for implementing an ERP II solution?
- Is your ERP system integrated with the CRM system?
- Do you have other standalone systems (e.g. e-commerce platforms)?
- Are you planning on replacing your existing systems with ERP II solution in the near future? Why/why not?

Because of the adoption of an interview guide, there existed some systematic controls during the interviews [41]. The interview guide was sent to other peers in order to get feedback on the questions and clarity of the guide. Some important feedback was received about the vagueness of some questions, which were then enhanced. Later, the interview guide was again revised and enhanced after the first two interviews. The revision contained some rewording to some questions and also a change in the order of some questions, as the researchers learned what was more natural to ask consecutively during the interviews. More information about the target organizations is provided below.

Organization 1 is an international bank's branch located in Norway. The bank is a large bank with more than 20,000 employees worldwide. The bank operates in several countries around the world. Organization 1 offers offline and online banking services to its customers. The bank has a B2B platform available for its business customers. In addition to SAP ERP, the branch has a separate on-premise CRM system, and is currently in the process of evaluating other cloud-based CRM systems.

Organization 2 is a small consulting firm in the United Kingdom. The organization has ca. 30 employees and operates in several countries around Europe. The organization has various systems including ERP, CRM, plus a specialized lead-generation software. The organization operates in the area of business consulting focusing on aiding start-ups in establishing their businesses. The company implemented an Oracle ERP in 2015. Besides the ERP, the organization recently implemented a CRM system. In addition, the organization uses a specialized application that aids the sales

team to easily find information on the Internet for lead-generation purposes. This application is separate from the CRM system.

Organization 3 is a consulting company, located in Austria, which supports IT companies in the EMEA region by increasing their revenue in their indirect sales channels. Their main clients are market leaders in their industry. The company has approximately 35 employees, plus a network of approximately 20 independent partners (freelancers). It was founded in 2007 and implemented its first ERP System, SAP BusinessOne, in 2009. The system experienced a major upgrade to the latest available version then, in 2014. The decision to implement a CRM system was taken in 2015, after the company had used SharePoint and Excel Sheets to administrate their leads. The organization decided to use HubSpot CRM, a system provided by the US-based company HubSpot, which besides sales also offers solutions for marketing activities. The CRM system is free of charge, but has chargeable add-ons, especially in the area of advanced reporting and marketing. At the time of writing this paper, no add-ons have been acquired by the case organization.

Organization 4 is a large Norwegian company working in the area of building information management (BIM) for construction companies. The interviewee is an IT applications consultant and has around 20 years of experience in sales and 10 years of experience with digital business systems in the role of a product owner. The current position is described to be the bridge between the product owners of their many systems and the developers. The interviewee has in-depth experience with CRM systems since almost 20 years. The organization has a Visma ERP system, and Super office CRM system. Both are local Norwegian systems.

Organization 5 is a Norwegian company within the industry of manufacturing functional clothing. Originally founded as a start-up in Oslo few years ago, the company now has retailers in all Scandinavia, UK, US, Netherlands, Germany, Austria and Switzerland. We have conducted an interview with the Sales Manager, which was involved during the ERP and CRM implementations that the company had earlier. Currently, the organization has a Norwegian financial system (Tripletex) that has a CRM module.

Organization 6 is a retailer that deals with a various number of products, which are sold directly to customers through two outlets. The company has been established in 2005 in Cairo and is now one of the largest supermarket chains in Egypt. The organization is considered a large enterprise, and its current workforce consists of more than 2,500 employees. The retailing commodities vary from fresh food, fast moving goods, non-food commodities, textiles, and furniture. The company production mainly focuses on food manufacturing and packaging. Prior to the current ERP adoption, they had a previous Oracle JD Edwards ERP and the implemented modules were FC, Capital Asset Management, Manufacturing, Logistics, Procurement, and Sales & Distribution. The ERP went live in August 2007, and another upgrade was done in 2012. Recently, the organization has retired its Oracle JDE ERP and replaced it with SAP A1 ERP. The system went live in the mid of April 2017. The organization has also implemented an open-source CRM system (SugarCRM). We have conducted one interview with a senior ERP consultant that has been involved during the ERP and CRM adoption decisions, selection and implementations.

Organization 7 is one of the largest Telecom operators in Egypt. The organization has several systems and had several ERP implementations before. Currently, Organization 7 has an SAP A1 ERP and an on-premise Microsoft Dynamics CRM. We have conducted interviews with two personnel from the marketing and sales department. Both employees were key users during the ERP and CRM implementation projects.

Organization 8 is a Nordic bank located in Norway. The bank has presence in more than 15 countries worldwide, with more than 30,000 employees. Organization 8 offers offline and online banking services to its customers. In addition, the target organization offers open APIs (application programming interfaces) to its customers, in order to enable the integration of the customers' ERP systems with the bank's ERP to facilitate seamless B2B electronic transactions. The branch has a separate in-house developed CRM system, and an SAP A1 ERP.

Imp. partner 1 is a multinational organization and one of the largest ERP implementation partners and consulting firms in the Czech Republic. The organization implements several ERP systems including SAP and Oracle ERP systems. We have interviewed one of the senior SAP ERP consultants, which has been involved in several large implementations around Europe.

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

Imp. partner 2 is a small implementation partner and ERP reseller located in Alexandria and Cairo in Egypt. The case organization is specialized in implementing ERP systems and providing enterprise security solutions. The company operates in Egypt and the middle-east region in general. The organization mainly implements two international ERP packages. The ERP systems are Indian and Turkish packages. Both systems provide localized packages in Arabic for the Egyptian market. We have interviewed a junior ERP consultant that has been involved in few ERP implementations involving the Turkish ERP.

V is a local Egyptian vendor. The vendor provides an ERP system that targets medium to large organizations. The ERP can only be implemented on-premise; however, the organization is currently working on the cloud-based version. We have conducted two interviews with the organization's general manager and a senior consultant.

Cons 1 is an Oslo-based freelance and independent Enterprise Systems consultant that have been involved in more than twenty ERP and CRM implementations in several regions of the world. The consultant has also extensive experience with open-source ERP and CRM systems. In most of the ERP implementations, the consultant was mainly responsible for the sales and distribution of CRM modules.

Cons 2 is an independent Enterprise Systems consultant located in Sweden. The consultant has more than 20 years of consultancy experience with enterprise systems and data mining projects. The consultant has also been serving as a systems selection consultant for several international organizations with various sizes.

3.2 Sampling and data collection

The selection of target cases was completed through purposeful and snowball sampling methods [37]. First a small group of initial informants in organisations that have both a CRM and ERP system were identified. These potential informants were then contacted via phone and e-mail for interview requests. Some of the potential informants agreed to be interviewed, and others suggested other peers with more sufficient and relevant overview on the research topic. In addition, some informants suggested other target organisations which qualify for the research context. The target cases were therefore not preselected in this study. All interviews took between ca. 30 to 50 minutes. Fourteen of these were face-to-face interviews, and two interviews were conducted over the phone. All the interviews in the target cases were digitally recorded, and carried out with employees, which had deep knowledge about the technology (ERP & CRM) and the CRM related processes. In addition, all the interviews were conducted at organizations that have ERP with a CRM module, or/and CRM systems. Four interviews were conducted in Arabic language, one in German, and the rest were conducted in English. All the Arabic and German interviews were translated, and all the interviews were then transcribed.

It is important as researchers to envisage how many interviews are enough to reach data saturation. Data saturation is reached when the aptitude to gather additional new information is limited [42]. Thus, it is imperative to reach data saturation, as it directly impacts the content quality and validity [42]. The researchers experienced data saturation after the first five interviews in target organisations, that was confirmed when the remaining interviews were not yielding additional significant information. Therefore, recruiting more informants from user-organisations was deemed unnecessary, however, in order to have more insights over the research topic, informants from consulting and vendor organisations were then recruited.

The data gathering process was conducted over a period of ca. one year and a half. Two iterations of interviews were conducted. The first two interviews were the first pilot iteration. The reason for these two pilot interviews were conducted to enable the opportunity to listen to the interviews and evaluate in the first iteration in order to improve the interview guide if necessary, before conducting the rest of interviews. The data gathered represented the personal insights and opinions of the informants from the various stakeholders who represent the user, consulting, and vendor organizations.

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

3.3 Data and cross-case analysis

Data analysis and specifically cross-case analysis should preferably be used when searching for patterns among the various cases [43]. These patterns can be mainly identified by using three methods: a) the selection of categories and scanning for within-group similarities coupled with intergroup differences, b) the selection of pairs of cases and listing of the similarities and contrasts between each pair, and c) the classifying of data by data source to extract distinctive understandings from different types of data collection [43]. After the data collection process was completed, the data had to be electronically organized in order to be ready for analysis. Hence, the authors independently used colour coding [44] and tagging techniques, whereby the data gathered in each interview was classified according to the topic of discussion, and according to the question and interview guide's part in which it is situated. In addition, the authors also added notes, comments, and interpretations on some data segments. It was then possible to generate matrices, which can be classified by topic, interview, and/or case. This process eased the data analysis, because it enabled the authors to view the data related to the focus and theme per question and per interview. The colour coding system aided in visualising and the identification of patterns across the data.

With regard to the data analysis, several topics emerged during the discussions with informants in the interviews. Across all cases, data was usually analysed on the basis of topic and focus. For example, extracting the data from interviews that are related to challenges with using ERP system's CRM modules. In some other cases, the theme in the data collected has emerged, which is natural in semi-structured interview setting. Thus, two coding strategies were applied in this study. These can be classified as selective and theoretical coding [45], in which the categories were predefined and coded, and in other cases they were grounded and emerging from the data.

4. Results and Discussion

Based on the interviews and the findings, we were able to identify five main constructs that explain why our case organizations invested in separate CRM systems: scoping during ERP acquisition, costs, user-friendliness and ease of use, and the specialization on CRM-related processes (see figure 3).



Fig. 3. Overview of results.

4.1 Scope during ERP acquisition

In many cases, organizations either start with an ERP implementation first and then implement a CRM system at a later stage, or vice versa. It rarely happens that an organization would implement both simultaneously. While several of our informants stated that they would have gone for a separate CRM system anyway, some also mentioned that they didn't think about it during the ERP selection for several reasons. "Both systems are huge and require a lot of resources during

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

implementations, and it is almost impossible to work on both projects in parallel, as they also have different focus." (Marketing manager, Organization 2). Another informant added, "the company did not really think about the CRM solution when they chose their ERP system. The ERP system had to be SAP, which was a requirement by the CEO, and the company only had eight employees at that time." (Head of sales, Organization 3). Some also related to this state because of the complexity of the project scoping. "While we knew that we need a CRM system/module, still CRM as such was beyond our scope during the ERP selection phase. There are many factors that play a role on the chosen ERP and these factors suppress the CRM selection, which has to be looked at in a separate and later phase." (Sales employee, Organization 7). "It is very difficult to implement both systems in one shot, the ERP alone is considered a large milestone". (Senior consultant, V). In addition, at the time of the ERP selection, customer relationship was in an early phase at some of the organizations, "sales was done mainly by using the former professional network of the company's founder, no one really made strategic sales in the beginning, so we didn't really consider a CRM back then [...], however, due to the unforeseeable growth and the importance of sales that came along with the growth, a different ERP solution with a proper CRM module from the beginning could potentially have saved the parallel construction." (Head of sales, Organization 3).

One of the senior informants (Senior consultant, Organization 6) mentioned that organizations tend to go for a separate CRM solution anyway, "based on my experience, regardless of which ERP they have, the majority of companies go for a separate CRM system". Likewise, one of the independent consultants confirms this view, "Usually organization go for the two separate solutions, as it is very complex to combine both in the same project [...], even if the ERP systems has an established sales & distribution module, or even a complete CRM module, organization usually prefer to buy best-of-breed in both areas." (Cons 1). Another reason for this separation could be related to the different focus of each system, "The ERP is more of an internal system, SCM and CRM cross the boundaries of the firm, they are very different in scope." (Senior consultant, Organization 6).

4.2 Costs

While the majority of our case organizations have on-premise ERP systems, several of them went for a cloud-based CRM solution. In addition, several of the interviewees from the implementation partners, consultants, and vendors mentioned that the majority of their clients prefer a cloud-based CRM, but not a cloud-based ERP. This could be related to the following statement: "In our organization, one of the reasons for adopting a separate CRM was the cloud option. Our ERP is on-premise for several reasons, but we wanted a cloud CRM, thus we went for Salesforce." (Senior consultant, Imp. partner 2). The arguments for cloud-based CRM systems are several, like availability and leveraging the systems administration to the vendor. One of the ERP vendors we have interviewed also has a cloud-based CRM, "yes, we have chosen Salesforce because it is cloud-based and available 24/7 with less administration efforts from our side." (Junior consultant, Imp. partner 2). On the other hand, several other informants mentioned that the overall costs of having a cloud CRM could be less than running a CRM module in the ERP system. "The current ERP system is an on-premise solution and only 8 licenses had been acquired, which was mainly used by accounting and people from the operations department. The organization evaluated to purchase additional licenses for the sales staff, however decided to not purchase them, as the cost was comparably high", (Head of sales, Organization 3). Likewise, the marketing employee at Organization 3 argued for the cost savings from a cloud-based CRM, "beside the high cost for CRM users on the ERP system, also the low costs of the new solution had an effect on the decision, in both technical and consulting costs [...], the CRM was ready to be used after 5 clicks and came with an out-of-the-box sales funnel which could be used almost right away. [...] The fact that the CRM is in the cloud and that we therefore did not have to invest in architecture and server and so on, was definitely a main argument for us." Another informant also compared on-premise ERP and CRM systems, "the ERP systems are so monstrous, they have so many functionalities, so you need a specialist or somebody educated to be able to handle and adjust these systems, so it will be really expensive for the company, because you maybe need a full-time consultant for I don't know how long to just adjust the system, and if you want to do something you have to pay this consultant again and again for each time you want to do some changes and customization [...], cost is always an issue, and actually I think we save money by having another separate CRM system" (IT application consultant, Organization 4). In addition, informant at Imp. partner 1 elaborated on why they went for a cloud-based CRM system and was asked about how important costs are for his company, he stated "very

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

important, even though it's a huge company", (Senior SAP consultant, Imp. partner 1). On the other hand, other informants from large organizations mentioned that CRM systems, in cloud or on-premise, cost less in general, "separate CRM systems cost less in various ways, from training, learning time, consulting, maintenance, and errors-related costs." (Sales employee, Organization 7), "to buy 7000+ licenses from our ERP system vendor to use its CRM is very costly for us." (Senior business support employee, Organization 8).

4.3 User-friendliness and ease of use

Almost unanimously, our informants stated that specialized CRM systems' interfaces are by far more user-friendly than sales and marketing related modules or CRM modules in well-known ERP systems. "Current CRM systems in the market have very easy to use and learn interfaces, which take very little time for sales and marketing people to be able to use them efficiently", (Independent consultant, Cons 1). Other informants also mentioned that user-friendliness was one of the major reasons for acquiring a separate CRM system. For example, the head of sales at Organization 3 mentioned that the main features (administration of leads and opportunities) are similar in both solutions [ERP & CRM], however, the new CRM solution seems to be much easier to use, more intuitive and accessible from everywhere, and the data entry, therefore, is supposed to go fast and uncomplicated as the interviewees stated "This (userfriendliness) was a major, major, major reason! [...] I didn't want it to be complicated." (Head of sales, Organization 3). "You can move things forward and backward in the CRM system [...], but at the ERP system it is not that easy." (Marketing employee, Organization 3). One informant mentioned that some ERP systems have user-friendly CRM modules, however, still they are not as good as the modern CRM system interfaces, in his point of view, "I have seen very nice CRM modules in specifically some open-source ERP systems, however, they can't compete with specialized CRM systems." (Independent consultant, Cons 1). This view has been confirmed with another informant, "Salesforce and Soho and similar online-based systems are growing fast because they are easy to use, have easy to install plugins, and if you need extra functionality you can just add it and it will just work." (IT application consultant, Organization 4). "If a report needs change and new fields need to be added, every administration user can do the changes. Even though the system itself is free of charge, chargeable add-ons are available." (Head of sales, Organization 3). One of the ERP vendor's informants also confirmed this belief, "due to their smaller scale, specialized CRM systems are more intuitive and easier to use than ERP systems. If the ERP has the same process you want to do on a CRM system, it will be much easier to do it on the CRM." (General manager, V).

4.4 Features and Functionalities

While the main features and functionalities between CRM systems and CRM modules in ERPs are very similar, but by nature, CRM systems have a clearer focus on customer relationship related functionalities. Some features are only offered through CRM systems and this evidently had a strong effect on the decision to adopt a separate CRM system at our target cases.

Some of our informants stated that they went for a separate CRM solution, as the current sales and distribution module in the ERP is not sufficient. "We implemented SugarCRM as it is easily and fully integrated with our call centre system." (Senior consultant, Organization 6), "it was relatively easy to integrate our CRM system with the tele-sales system." (Senior business support employee, Organization 8). In addition, other informants stated that the current CRMrelated modules in ERP systems are not really covering the whole sales or marketing full cycles. "It is not easy to create a campaign, assign a team, manage the team, and follow-up on the campaign in ERP systems, if they have these features in first place." (Marketing employee, Organization 7). Likewise, "Current ERP systems lack the full sales and marketing cycles, for example, it is not possible to monitor and measure the customers' churn rate, retention, happiness factors, and customer experience." (Senior consultant, Organization 6). Regarding the features of CRM systems, the marketing employee at Organization 3 mentioned that, "The CRM system offers us a lot of things that we haven't even explored yet, you can send e-mails and even call customers through the system... something that our ERP might never offer us". "There are many details and workflows not existing in the ERP and cannot be traced, and most of them are non-financial transactions, including marketing, presales, after sales support and warranty". (Junior consultant, Imp. partner 2). Similarly, the Marketing employee at Organization 1 mentioned that "the CRM module in our ERP was

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

considered very restrictive in comparison to our separate CRM application". In addition, one independent consultant stated that some ERP systems lack competence in their CRM solutions and modules, "several ERP systems have lousy CRM modules and lack core functionalities that sales, marketing, and customer service teams need. By the way, this is not restricted to CRM modules, for example, some years back, several organizations which I served as a consultant for, implemented separate human resource management systems instead of using the HRM module from SAP, as they have seen it as mediocre module, however, this is not the case anymore as this module has been totally enhanced after the acquisition of the SuccessFactors resource management systems by SAP." (Cons 2).

Since the CRM solution at Organization 3 is cloud-based, the system is available and accessible from everywhere and apps can be used on mobile devices to track activities, which makes it particularly attractive for the organization, "we actually liked the thought of having something that could be accessible everywhere. And then you look at all the add-ons that you can do with HubSpot [...], you can even use it on your phone." (Head of sales, Organization 3). The same informant mentioned that if ERP systems' related CRM modules were comparably good with CRM systems, they would have gone for the one solution (ERP), "costs were definitely an argument, but if the (existing) ERP system had 10 times better features, we would, for sure, have bought additional licenses", (Head of sales, Organization 3).

4.5 Better integration with web and e-business platforms

Our main findings suggest that ERP systems of today are far from replacing e-commerce and e-business platforms. When our informants have been asked regarding this possibility, they have stated that this not attainable yet. "For sure our ERP system cannot replace the adoption of e-business platforms. We need sometimes several systems to act as our front and back-ends to our e-business platform." (Customer service employee, Organization 1). "In my experience, I did not see any ERP that is capable of replacing e-commerce and e-business platforms, not even decent store fronts. They definitely can be integrated with these infrastructures but will not provide all the functionalities that are usually needed by the marketing and sales teams." (Cons 1).

One of the main features of established and specialized CRM systems is the ease of integration with online and ebusiness platforms. For example, CRM systems facilitate the seamless integration with web marketing tools and landing pages of the companies', in order to potentially transfer a prospect into a lead, as stated by one of the interviewees: "When we implemented the ERP system, it was crucial to us to not only cover lead management, but also to administer lead generation and nurturing. [...], in other words, we needed a system that could track when someone downloads a whitepaper from our website, a cold-lead so-to-speak, so that we could follow-up on their downloads and offer them our products. [...], the combination of who downloaded, what, and when, and to be able to sell them something based on that, we simply didn't find that feature in our ERP." (Marketing employee, Organization 3). Also, the flexibility and the ability of CRM systems to integrate and import data in several formats are considered paramount advantages, "you can import contacts, you can import leads from 'XLS' files or you can have automated leads from Internet directly into your CRM system. So, all these specialized functionalities are for me the basic reason why organizations chose to have a separate CRM system." (IT application consultant, Organization 4). Our informant from Organization 2 have expressed the difficulty of having the ERP system integrated with their website, "it can be integrated with our website, which is a lot of work, but it can't replace our need for online and e-business platforms". Correspondingly, another interviewee mentioned that the CRM module in ERP systems are troublesome to integrate with e-business platforms, "we have a complex e-business web portal that we provide to our business customers, which in part is connected to our ERP system, however, our CRM provides more control on monitoring the online platform and provides better tracking and reporting capabilities." (Customer service employee, Organization 1).

5. Conclusions and Future Research

ERP systems have, no doubt, matured greatly since they were first introduced. Most of the current systems provide several modules that could virtually cover all the needs and business functions in organizations. Modern ERP systems also provide several enterprise application integration solutions through APIs or service-oriented architecture platforms. This partially corresponds to Gartner's vision of ERP II, which projected how ERP II will replace almost all

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

organizational and cross-organizational systems. While earlier research suggested that by now (e.g. 2020) ERP II systems will be available, however, this vision seems to be non-realistic and difficult to attain. Via conducting interviews with clients, consultants, vendors, and implementation partners, we have attempted to elucidate their perspectives and opinions on why ERP II is not a standard yet. Our informants believe that the existing ERP systems are definitely more flexible and integration-ready than their predecessor versions, but still non-replacing for specialized systems like CRM, e-business platforms, or specialized SCM systems. In addition, it could be more economically feasible for enterprises to implement separate best-of-breed systems instead of one large system at once. This could be due to the fact that some of our target organizations prefer to have on-premise ERP and in-cloud CRM systems, or because of the better user-friendliness and features of specialized CRM systems. In addition, several informants mentioned that training, consulting, maintenance, and license costs related to CRM systems are dramatically lower than ERP counterparts, especially if the CRM is cloud-based. Moreover, the difference in project scope, focus (internal & external) and motivations between CRM and ERP systems make it troublesome and complex to implement both simultaneously. Also, the results show that the vision of having one ERP II system implementation at an organization could be severely difficult and complex to manage, which goes in-line with what has been suggested in earlier literature. Current ERP systems are mainly lacking the full sales and marketing cycles, and also, they lack several other important needed features, special reports and forecasts. Interestingly, all of our cases did not integrate their ERP and CRM systems (yet) process-wise, and some informants even argued that they do not see the process integration between CRM and ERP systems as a needed effort, as they have different scopes, purposes and targets within organizations. Having said that, most of the case organizations either integrate both systems on a data-level or use data mapping techniques to enable analysing the merged data from their ERP and CRM systems. In brief, the systems are coupled data wise, uncoupled process wise. In addition, one independent consultant informant stated that ERP vendors nowadays have a different approach from the earlier ERP II vision. This means that the current vendors focus further on providing more flexible and open systems that are ready for integrations with other systems (e.g. via SOA platforms), rather than building comprehensive systems that attempt to replace other enterprise systems.

Our study implies at least five suggestions for future research. Firstly, more research is needed on the viability of ERP II systems in other industries or contexts than the ones covered in this study. Secondly, more research is needed on how vendors envision the future of ERP systems and the idea of 'one-system-fits-and-covers-all'. Thirdly, ERP vendors should work together with their customers to understand the needed features from the future ERP systems. Fourthly, researchers need to explore the process integration benefits between CRM and ERP systems, as our results suggest that some organizations view it as an unfeasible project. And finally, researchers and practitioners need to explore the topic of how ERP systems can replace e-business platforms, or at least ease their integration, which our findings suggest that they have failed in fulfilling this vision until now.

References

[1] M. Haddara, "ERP Systems Selection in Multinational Enterprises: A Practical Guide," *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 43-57, 2018.

[2] E. Hustad, M. Haddara, and B. Kalvenes, "ERP and Organizational Misfits: An ERP Customization Journey," *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 100, pp. 429-439, 2016.

[3] S. Demi and M. Haddara, "Do cloud ERP systems retire? An ERP lifecycle perspective," *Procedia computer science*, vol. 138, pp. 587-594, 2018.

[4] H. Beheshti, "What managers should know about ERP/ERP II," *Management Research News*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 184-193, 2006.

[5] D. Robey, J. W. Ross, and M.-C. Boudreau, "Learning to implement enterprise systems: An exploratory study of the dialectics of change," *Journal of Management Information Systems*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 17-46, 2002.

[6] T. H. Davenport, "Putting the enterprise into the enterprise system," *Harvard Business Review*, vol. 76, no. 4, pp. 121-131, July-August 1998.

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

[7] M. Haddara, "ERP systems in SMEs: Exploring ERP lifecycle cost issues," Doctoral dissertation/M. Haddara, 2013.

[8] G. F. H. Raihana, "Cloud ERP-a solution model," *International Journal of Computer Science and Information Technology & Security*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 76-79, 2012.

[9] S. SE, "Inteligent Enterprise - SAP Annual Report 2017 on Form 20-F," 2017.

[10] Oracle, "Oracle Fact Sheet: Empowering and Accelerating the Modern Business," 2016 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.oracle.com/us/corporate/oracle-fact-sheet-079219.pdf

[11] E. Bjelland and M. Haddara, "Evolution of ERP systems in the cloud: A study on system updates," *Systems*, vol. 6, no. 2, p. 22, 2018.

[12] J. Y. Chang, E. T. Wang, J. J. Jiang, and G. Klein, "Controlling ERP consultants: Client and provider practices," *Journal of Systems and Software*, vol. 86, no. 5, pp. 1453-1461, 2013.

[13] T. Somers, M and K. Nelson, "The impact of critical success factors across the stages of enterprise resource planning implementations," in *System Sciences, 2001. Proceedings of the 34th Annual Hawaii International Conference* on, 3-6 Jan. 2001, p. 10 pp.

[14] M. G. Morris and V. Venkatesh, "Job characteristics and job satisfaction: understanding the role of enterprise resource planning system implementation," *MIS Quarterly*, pp. 143-161, 2010.

[15] P. C. Solutions, "2017 Report on ERP Systems & Enterprise Software," 2017. Accessed: 07-03-2018. [Online]. Available: http://go.panorama-consulting.com/rs/603-UJX-107/images/2017-ERP-Report.pdf

[16] M. Markus, L and C. Tanis, "The enterprise systems experience-from adoption to success," *Framing the domains of IT research: Glimpsing the future through the past*, vol. 173, pp. 207-173, 2000.

[17] M. T. Kotb, M. Haddara, and Y. T. Kotb, "Back-propagation artificial neural network for ERP adoption cost estimation," in *Enterprise information systems* vol. 220, M. M. Cruz-Cunha, J. Varajao, P. Powell, and R. Martinho Eds.: Springer, 2011, pp. 180-187.

[18] J. Esteves and J. Pastor, "An ERP lifecycle-based research agenda," in *Published in: First International workshop in Enterprise Management and Resource. Planning: Methods, Tools and Architectures, EMRPS*, 1999, vol. 99, pp. 359-371.

[19] D. Aloini, R. Dulmin, and V. Mininno, "Risk assessment in ERP projects," *Information Systems*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 183-199, 2012, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.is.2011.10.001.

[20] M. Haddara and A. Elragal, "ERP Lifecycle: A Retirement Case Study," *Information Resources Management Journal (IRMJ)*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 1-11, 2012.

[21] P. Rikhardsson and P. Kræmmergaard, "Identifying the impacts of enterprise system implementation and use: Examples from Denmark," *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 36-49, 2006. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6W6B-4J8KNNG-1/2/11484260aa0a44812f1c49c7741d08cb.

[22] O. Velcu, "Strategic alignment of ERP implementation stages: An empirical investigation," *Information & Management*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 158-166, 4// 2010, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2010.01.005.

[23] A. Deep, P. Guttridge, S. Dani, and N. Burns, "Investigating factors affecting ERP selection in made-to-order SME sector," *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 430-446, 2008, doi: doi:10.1108/17410380810869905.

[24] B. Molnár, G. Szabó, and A. Benczúr, "Selection Process of ERP Systems," *Business Systems Research*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 36-48, 2013.

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

[25] H. de Juan-Jordán, M. Guijarro-García, and J. H. Gadea, "Feature Analysis of the "Customer Relationship Management" Systems for Higher Education Institutions," *Multidisciplinary Journal for Education, Social and Technological Sciences*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 30-43, 2018.

[26] W. Reinartz, M. Krafft, and W. D. Hoyer, "The customer relationship management process: Its measurement and impact on performance," *Journal of marketing research*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 293-305, 2004.

[27] T. K. Huang, C.-Y. Liao, Y.-T. Wang, and K.-Y. Lin, "How Does Social Media Interactivity Affect Brand Loyalty?," in *Proceedings of the 51st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 2018.

[28] H.-J. van Roekel and M. van der Steen, "Integration as unrealised ideal of ERP systems," *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 2019.

[29] I. Zajačko, I. Klačková, and I. Kuric, "CRM systems-from theory to practice," *Innovations*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 97-100, 2019.

[30] L. Colombus, "Salesforce Now Has Over 19% Of The CRM Market." [Online]. Available: https://www.forbes.com/sites/louiscolumbus/2019/06/22/salesforce-now-has-over-19-of-the-crm-market/

[31] W. F.D.Ted, Jr., "ERP II: The extended enterprise system," *Business Horizons*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 49-55, 2003/12// 2003. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0007681303000880.

[32] B. Bond, Y. Genovese, D. Miklovic, N. Wood, and B. Zrimsek, "ERP is dead-Long live ERP II," *Strategic Planning*, no. 4, pp. 12-15, 2000.

[33] C. Møller, "ERP II: a conceptual framework for next-generation enterprise systems?," *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 483 - 497, 2005.

[34] R. Beatty and C. Williams, "ERP II: best practices for successfully implementing an ERP upgrade," *Commun. ACM*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 105-109, 2006, doi: 10.1145/1118178.1118184.

[35] C. Møller, P. Kræmmergaard, and P. Rikhardsson, "A comprehensive ERP bibliography 2000–2004," Department of Marketing, Informatics and Statistics, Aarhus School of Business, 2004.

[36] I. Rubin and H. Rubin, Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data. Sage Publications, Incorporated, 2011.

[37] R. K. Yin, Case Study Research: Design and Methods. SAGE Publications, 2009.

[38] W. G. Zikmund, "Business Research Methods Florida," ed: The Dryden Press, 1997.

[39] R. Fellows and A. Liu, "Research methodology for construction," ed: Oxford: Blackwell Science Ltd, 2003.

[40] G. Thomas, How to do your case study: A guide for students and researchers. Sage Publications Limited, 2011.

[41] A. Bryman, Social research methods. OUP Oxford, 2012.

[42] P. I. Fusch and L. R. Ness, "Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research," *The qualitative report*, vol. 20, no. 9, p. 1408, 2015.

[43] K. M. Eisenhardt, "Building theories from case study research," *Academy of Management Review [AMR]*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 532-550, 1989.

[44] K. A. Knafl, D. C. Webster, J. Q. Benoliel, and J. M. Morse, "Managing and analyzing qualitative data a description of tasks, techniques, and materials," *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 195-218, 1988.

[45] B. G. Glaser, Doing Quantitative Grounded Theory. Sociology Press, 2008.

Fused or Unfused? The Parable of ERP II

Biographical notes



Moutaz Haddara

Haddara is a Professor of Information Systems and program manager of the Digital Business Systems master specialization and e-business bachelor's degrees at Kristiania University College in Oslo, Norway. Haddara is also a visiting professor at TIAS School for Business & Society, Utrecht, Netherlands, SP Jain School of Global Management, Dubai – Singapore – Sydney, University of South-Eastern Norway, Hønefoss- Horten, Norway, and the American University in Cairo, Cairo, Egypt. Formerly, he has been an associate professor at the Department of Computer Science, Electrical and Space Engineering, Luleå University of Technology (LTU), Sweden. Haddara holds a PhD in Information Systems from University of Agder, Norway. He has more than 60 publications in the areas of enterprise systems, big data, IoT, cloud computing, benefits management, and query optimization techniques. Haddara serves as an editorial and review board member for several international information systems journals and conferences. He also works closely with the industry and serves as an advisory council member for the Microsoft Dynamics Academic Alliance in the EMEA region. Haddara also serves as a researcher and consultant for several other international institutions, governments and NGOs including the European Union and the Norwegian government.



Angelo Constantini

Constantini has worked for over nine years at an Austrian consulting company delivering services in the area of sales enablement and developing online platforms to a major German ERP software provider. After that, he has worked as a project manager and integration manager at a medium-sized provider of a Central Reservation System (CRS) to the Nordic and European market in Sweden. He obtained his bachelor's degree at the AACSB accredited University of Applied Sciences Management Center Innsbruck (MCI) in Innsbruck-Austria, majoring in Business and Management, and his master's degree at the Westerdals School of Arts, Communication and Technology in Oslo-Norway (now Høyskolen Kristiania) in Information Systems - Digital Business Systems major.



International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Camilo Micán University of Valle Campus Meléndez, 760034 Cali, Colombia camilo.mican@correounivalle.edu.co

Gabriela Fernandes

Centre CEMMPRE, University of Coimbra Polo II Rua Luís Reis Santos, 3030-788 Coimbra, Portugal gabriela.fernandes@dem.uc.pt

Madalena Araújo

Centre ALGORITM, University of Minho Campus de Azurém, 4804-533 Guimarães, Portugal mmaraujo@dps.uminho.pt



C. Micán, G. Fernandes, M. Araújo, "Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research", *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 67-84, 2020.


International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/jijspm

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Camilo Micán

University of Valle Campus Meléndez, 760034 Cali, Colombia camilo.mican@correounivalle.edu.co

Gabriela Fernandes

Centre CEMMPRE, University of Coimbra Polo II Rua Luís Reis Santos, 3030-788 Coimbra, Portugal gabriela.fernandes@dem.uc.pt

Madalena Araújo

Centre ALGORITM, University of Minho Campus de Azurém, 4804-533 Guimarães, Portugal mmaraujo@dps.uminho

Abstract:

Project Portfolio Risk Management (PPRM) has been identified as a relevant area regarding project portfolio success. This paper reports on a structured literature review of PPRM. A structured search and selection process was carried out and conventional content analysis was conducted in the literature analysis of 62 papers published in international journals. PPRM has its theoretical and practical bases in the modern theory of portfolios, decision theory and risk management (RM). The content analysis reveals four main recurrent topics in PPRM: (1) The influence of RM on project portfolio success, based on project portfolio impact level, moderators or contingency factors between RM and project portfolio success, and PPRM dimensions; (2) risk and project interdependencies, highlighting resources, technology, outcome, value, and accomplishment project interdependencies; (3) project portfolio risk (PPR) identification, where four main risk source categories are identified; and (4) PPR assessment, composed of risk measures and the main methods used for risk assessment. Therefore, this study provides an overview of PPRM as a research field, while it also promotes four future research directions: (1) PPRM as part of organizational RM; (2) RM, success dimensions and strategic impact; (3) mechanisms for PPR assessment, and (4) PPRM as a complex and dynamic system.

Keywords:

project portfolio management; project portfolio risk management; structured literature review; research opportunities.

DOI: 10.12821/ijispm080304

Manuscript received: 3 December 2019 Manuscript accepted: 16 May 2020

Copyright © 2020, SciKA. General permission to republish in print or electronic forms, but not for profit, all or part of this material is granted, provided that the International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management copyright notice is given and that reference made to the publication, to its date of issue, and to the fact that reprinting privileges were granted by permission of SciKA - Association for Promotion and Dissemination of Scientific Knowledge.

International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, Vol. 8, No. 3, 2020, 67-84

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

1. Introduction

Project Management (PM) has gained increasingly more attention in organizations, generating a greater allocation of human and financial resources, organizing work into projects, increasing the number of projects to be implemented and establishing a relationship between projects and the organization's strategy, as well as expanding the scope and complexity of PM [1]. In this context, Project Portfolio Management (PPM) emerged, representing the coordinated management of a set of projects carried out by a specific organization, which allows for strategic management of the projects, throughout which scarce resources are balanced, and for guiding the portfolio to achieve strategic benefits [2-5]. Nevertheless, the positive impacts in the organization may not be as expected due to project and portfolio risk effects [6]. Therefore, one key area for PPM is risk management (RM) [7, 8].

The literature shows that managing risks only at the level of projects is not sufficient because a strategic and holistic view of risk is not considered [9, 10]. It does not include other important considerations about RM in its own project portfolio environment [6, 7, 10], or the effect generated by the interdependencies between projects and between risks [9, 11]. Project portfolio risk has been studied from different perspectives, for example from project portfolio selection with risk considerations[12, 13] and from project portfolio execution [9], as well as from the point of view of project portfolios in project-based companies, such as technology information portfolios [14-16], oil and gas production portfolios [17] and construction project portfolios [18]. It has also been studied from the perspective of project portfolios associated with organizational strategic development or generic portfolios [7, 12, 19, 20]. The above evidences that RM applied to project portfolio decisions is of interest and relevance for the different types of project portfolios identified in organizations.

Thus, a body of literature concerning Project Portfolio Risk Management (PPRM) has been generated, providing knowledge and understanding about objectives, features, and the impacts of PPRM. In this regard, a structured analysis of the literature would allow an overview of the current state of PPRM to be obtained, and a systematic classification of the progress to be made in acquiring knowledge in the PPRM field, thus contributing to a better understanding of the current issues and to the identification of the possible future research opportunities open to PPR researchers. Therefore, this research intends to contribute towards outlining PPRM as a research field, for which two research questions were formulated: (1) What are the main topics and debates in the literature on PPRM? (2) How can future research expand the PPRM research area? A structured review of the literature on PPRM was carried out and Content Analysis (CA) was conducted in order to answer the research questions. While it is recognized that projects, programs and portfolios are interrelated [21, 22], the scope of this literature review was limited only to RM applied to project portfolios.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents the PPRM conceptualization adopted in this research study. In Section 3, the methodology used in the literature search and analysis process are reported. The findings are described in Sections 4 and 5. Section 4 presents analysis of the 62 papers that met the inclusion criteria, which lead on to a description of four recurrent topics identified in the literature on PPRM, while in Section 5 future directions for research are identified and described. Finally, the conclusions are summarized in Section 6.

2. Project portfolio risk management conceptualization

A project portfolio is a collection of single projects and programs that are carried out in an integrated way, through which an organization seeks to achieve its strategic objectives, by managing the interfaces between projects and balancing scarce resources across projects and programs, as well as risks and benefits [7, 23]. In this regard, Bathallath et al. [24] highlight the importance of project interdependency management in the success of project portfolios. From a PPM process perspective, three generic, interdependent and recursive main phases are described in the literature [25, 26]: portfolio structuring, resource management and portfolio steering. Portfolio structuring is associated with strategic planning cycles, which include portfolio planning, and the selection of projects according to the organization's strategy. Resource management implies resource allocation across projects, with the resource management carried out in an integrated way. Portfolio steering comprises a permanent execution and coordination of the portfolio, monitoring the different aspects defined as key aspects for each portfolio.

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Establishing the difference between the concepts of risk and uncertainty is of the greatest importance because this determines the RM scope, as well as defining the characteristics of the risk assessment and the design of response strategies [7, 11, 14, 27]. Different risk perspectives have been identified in the project portfolio context: a first perspective proposes that the variability that can be quantified in terms of probabilities is considered as risk, while the variability that cannot be quantified at all is best thought of as uncertainty [28]. In this perspective, risk and uncertainty represent outcomes. A second perspective proposes that all uncertainty components can be measured and split in three components: insignificant events (events without major effects on the project portfolio), positive events, and risk events, where the latter are those that can threaten project portfolio success [11]. A third perspective has been widely used in project portfolio selection with risk considerations, where the uncertainty is represented using stochastic variables. These denote the inputs, while the risk is the output that represents the extent to which the expected results are affected as a consequence of the behavior of the inputs [29–32]. In all the approaches identified, the risk is characterized by its measurable attributes, such as probability distribution, occurrence likelihood or impact [11, 20, 33].

RM is concerned with how decision-makers define the type and level of risks that they consider appropriate for each decision at each time. RM is, therefore, focused on how to make choices concerning risks, considering the possible reward and its possibility of success by means of managing people, processes, data, and projects [28, 34]. In this regard, previous studies show the limitations of the traditional RM approach, since it is oriented to individual projects, ignoring the integration levels and the interaction of information, while the domain of PPRM allows RM activities to be consolidated, thus avoiding a duplication of effort and resources [6, 7, 9]. The origins of PPRM can be traced to the works of Markowitz [35]. Hofman et al. [7], Sanchez and Robert [36], and Teller [27], among others, has identified PPRM as one of the fundamental areas of work and research in PPM, and as a fundamental topic in relation to project portfolio success.

Consequently, this research has adopted the perspective that PPRM must focus, among other things, on the identification and balance of the risks of the project portfolio, while seeking to maximize the value delivered to the company, reflected in the impact achieved on strategic goals. As such, PPRM must focus on reducing negative risk impacts and potentializing opportunities, while considering and evaluating the interdependencies among risks and among projects, as well as the management capabilities of the organization [7, 9, 11, 37].

3. Methodology

3.1 Research design

This study follows a structured literature review process. In the PM field, structured literature reviews have been adopted, among others, by Araújo et al. [38], Laursen and Svejvig [39], and Miterev et al. [40]. Svejvig and Andersen [41] summarized the literature review process in five steps: planning and scope definition; conceptualization of topic; searching, evaluating, and selecting literature; literature analysis; and report and disseminate. Fig. 1 summarizes the literature review process.

3.2 Data collection

In the *planning and scope definition step*, it was defined that only articles published in scientific journals would be considered. According to Rowley and Slack [42], in professional disciplines, articles in scholarly and research journals should form the core of the literature review, since this literature source has been peer-refereed prior to acceptance for publication, and contains critical treatment of concepts and models. The articles selected should include PPRM as their main topic or, if the main topic is not PPRM, their main objective should show a specific and explicit relationship with PPRM. It was also defined that the literature search would be carried out using the SCOPUS and Web of Science -WoS-databases, given that they cover a wide range of peer-reviewed and high quality scientific journals.

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Some publications, such as Hällgren [43] and Söderlund [44], carried out their literature review process based, respectively, on the most relevant journals related to project management and on management and organization journals outside the conventional project management publications. However, and similarly to Laursen and Svejvig [39], the literature review carried out in this study had the goal of including a wider range of publications related to PPRM, and therefore the scope of the search process was not restricted to specific journals.





The second step is associated with *conceptualization of topic*, for which RM, PPM, and PPRM were conceptualized as key concepts, as well as the risk and uncertainty approaches in the PPRM context. Project portfolio selection with risk considerations is a research topic that has seen important developments and it represents the beginning of RM being applied to project portfolio decisions, with Markowitz' work seminal in the area [28]. The main publications used specifically to conceptualize the PPRM topic were: [2, 7, 9, 45-47].

Selecting literature corresponds to the third step. Based on the contextualization of the topic, it was defined that, for papers related to PPR applied to portfolio execution, in its function as an emergent topic [6, 7, 9, 27], the year filter would not be applied. Although, for project portfolio selection with risk considerations, the year filter selected was 2015 onwards (up to the end of December 2018), since this is a topic with a large number of publications, and according to Dobrovolskiene and Tamošiuniene [48] earlier works are generally included in the latest research. The keywords identified as part of the conceptualization of topic were used in an iterative evaluation of different search strings. The string search that best grouped the publications on PPRM was "project portfolio" and "risk" in the categories of keywords, title and abstract.

349 works that met the search equation used were identified in SCOPUS and 121 in WoS. Selecting only words published in academic journals and discarding paper duplicates between databases, 212 publications were identified. Applying the year constraint defined in the *planning and scope definition* step (2015 - 2018) for project portfolio selection with risk consideration publications, coupled with the abstract and introduction section reading of the papers selected, 62 papers were selected for the literature analysis process (30 related to project portfolio selection with risk considerations and 32 associated with PPR applied to project portfolio execution). Table 1 presents the five journals in which more than one paper was selected, representing a total of 18 of the 62 papers selected for this study.

The remaining 44 papers were each published in a different journal, such as 'Operations research', 'Omega (United Kingdom)', 'Production and operations management' or 'International journal of fuzzy systems', among others. The publications selected are identified with the character '*' in the list of references.

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Journal	Number of publications
Project Management journal	6
International Journal of Project Management	5
Sustainability (Switzerland)	3
International Journal of Managing Projects in Business	2
International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management	2
International Journal of Project Organisation and Management	2

Table 1. Jou	ırnals in	which	more t	than	one	paper	publishe	d
--------------	-----------	-------	--------	------	-----	-------	----------	---

3.3 Data analysis

Literature analysis was based on CA. CA allows for the interpretation of the meaning or usage of written data, organizing information into relevant categories for each specific research work, and establishing an understanding of the topic being studied [49, 50]. Three main approaches can be used to conduct CA: conventional, summative, or directed [49]. Summative CA is the most quantitative approach, seeking as it does to explore the contextual use of words, and the findings may be explained using descriptive statistics associated with the frequency of use of particular words or phrases in specific contexts. Directed CA requires that data codes and categories be defined in order to apply them deductively to code the data; as a fundamental purpose, it adds credibility to a theoretical framework or conceptually extends a theory. Conventional CA "provides a much more comprehensive picture of the phenomenon, through new insights exclusively grounded in the data, than the other two types" [49, p. 830].

In this regard, conventional CA was implemented for the literature analysis reported in this paper. Conventional CA is the most inductive type of CA, it being a descriptive approach [49]. In this approach preconceived categories are not defined; conversely, categories and new insights emerge from critical and reflexive analysis [49, 50]. In order to identify recurrent overarching topics and future directions, a sequential cumulative process was implemented. The literature analysis was based on a chronological analysis of the publications (from oldest published papers to most recent papers), and, for each analyzed publication, one or more preliminary categories and subcategories associated to current topics and related to future directions were identified.

To the extent that publications were analyzed, the categories identified (both recurrent topics in PPRM and future directions of PPRM) from each paper were contrasted among categories identified in the publications analyzed previously, defining a preliminary set of categories and their composition and attributes. To carry out this analytic process, a set of five papers were analyzed for each analysis cycle, and, once the preliminary categories were established, a new analysis cycle was carried out based on the next five papers.

As part of the literature analysis cycles, sometimes it was necessary to re-analyze some papers previously analyzed, in order to confirm, extend, or redefine the information established from those papers regarding the possible new categorization structure. Thus, as publication analysis progressed, it was necessary to define, add, merge, divide, or reconstruct the categories or the subcategories in accordance with the new information obtained from each newly analyzed publication, forthwith until a final categorization was reached.

Once a final categorization had been defined, the information regarding subcategories was analyzed in order to obtain a consolidated description of each general category, both regarding recurrent topics in PPRM and future directions of PPRM. The results concerning recurrent topics and future directions are shown in sections 4 and 5 respectively, in which each final established category corresponds to one subsection of each section.

In order to define the categories regarding recurrent topics in PPRM, for each publication the following issues were analyzed: the general problem that framed each study, the specific research question or research objective documented, and the background reported. Then, the method, approach, or methodology developed or applied and the results of each

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

study were analyzed, on the one hand, regarding the respective research objective, and, on the other hand, regarding a general perspective of PPRM as a research field.

To complement this, the analysis carried out regarding the general problem and the specific research question or research objective became an input for the identification of future directions. Thus, general research problems identified and RM requirements were contrasted with the results described in each paper analyzed, in order to identify and consolidate the future directions of PPRM. So, based on that information, a specific analysis of the limitations, assumptions, conclusions, or future directions reported by each publication or identified as part of the paper analysis, was carried out.

4. Analysis of project portfolio risk management

In order to answer the first research question: 'What are the main topics and debates in the literature on PPRM?', four main categories (topics) were derived from the inductive analysis, providing knowledge and understanding of the relevant concepts, approaches and methods regarding PPRM, so that it is natural that the categories present some overlapping between them. The main current topics identified were 'Influence of RM on project portfolio success', 'Risk and project interdependencies', 'PPR identification and categorization', and 'PPR assessment'.

4.1 Influence of RM on project portfolio success

Portfolio value cannot be measured only in monetary terms; it is also necessary that other measures and strategies to assess strategic impact be identified [19]. Table 2 summarizes the categories identified in the literature associated with RM and its relation and influence on project portfolio success.

Categories	Subcategories		References	
Project portfolio impact	Company strategic objectives and	[19, 36, 51]		
level	PPM objectives or project portfo	[9, 27]		
		Risk transparency		
Moderators or contingency	Risk management quality	Risk coping capacity	[8, 27]	
factors between RM and project portfolio success		RM efficiency		
	External turbulence and Portfolio	[6]		
	Role Clarity			
	Formalization			
PPRM dimensions	Risk management process		[8, 27, 52]	
	Integration of risk management			
	Risk management culture			

Table 2. Categories of influence between RM and project portfolio success

A concept related to portfolio risk and portfolio success is 'portfolio health', which represents the level of the project portfolio's performance in each evaluation period [36, 53]. Project performance analysis based on project success key indicators is considered as part of project health analysis [29]. As such, a healthy portfolio achieves adequate performance in its projects and at the portfolio level. In this regard, risks and unappropriated RM decisions could impact portfolio health [47]. Finally, in project-oriented companies, the PPR analysis is equivalent to the corporate or

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

operative risk analysis, because in this type of organization project portfolio success is directly associated with business operation success, since, in these companies the project portfolio is the central axis of operations [9, 15, 54].

4.2 Risk and project interdependencies

Although integration and cooperation between projects in a portfolio can increase efficiency, this, in turn, requires greater effort in PPRM because it also generates an increase in PPR [55]. Risks that can otherwise be considered as having a low impact on an isolated project may be correlated with the occurrence of the same risk in other projects in the portfolio, as well as with the materialization of other risks in the same project or in other projects [56]. The difference between correlation and interaction was an important aspect identified in the study, since the effect on PPR is significantly different for each case [57].

Interdependencies between projects are common, either in technical aspects related to project execution, or in commercial aspects associated with business issues. Interactions or synergies between projects can bring positive or negative contributions to the expected benefit and, as a whole, to the project portfolio [57, 58]. In temporal terms, two types of relationships between projects have been defined: inter-temporal or dependencies, associated with the impacts generated from the execution of previous projects; and intra-temporal or interdependencies, related to the common aspects between projects [9, 54, 59]. The relationship between projects can also be divided into inputs for PPM and outputs for project portfolio [11, 19]. Based on the works of Heinrich et al. [59], Olsson [54], Sanchez et al. [19], Guan et al. [11], Ghasemi et al. [9] and Neumeier et al. [55], Table 3 synthetizes the type of project interdependencies.

		Inter- temporal	Intra- temporal
	Resources: Sharing resources between projects		Х
Input	Technology: Using a specific technology in several projects		Х
	Outcome: Using the end result, knowledge or capabilities gained from other projects	Х	
Output -	Value: Total value of two projects being greater or less than the sum of their individual values		Х
	Accomplishment: Increase of probability of success of a project as a result of undertaking another project	Х	Х

Table 3. Categorization of project interdependencies

4.3 PPR identification and categorization

The concept related to systematic risks and non-systematic risks, derived from the Modern Portfolio Theory, is presented as the basic conceptual factor with regard to a project portfolio's risk sources [15, 53]. Project portfolio non-systematic risk, or independent risk, corresponds to the inherent risks of each project, while systematic risk, or interdependence risk, is related to the project portfolio's exposure to environmental and market conditions, corresponding to risks that affect the portfolio globally. However, systematic risk has two permutations in the literature: on the one hand, it is exclusively associated with environmental factors [15], while, on the other hand, apart from environmental factors, it includes risks from the relationships between projects [53].

Interdependent risks can generate two impacts. On the one hand, risk integration generates PPR reduction, but, on the other hand, new risks arise from the interaction, thus generating an increase in PPR [11]. For this reason, 'systematic risks' and 'non-systematic risks' represent a dichotomist risk categorization that allows for the establishment of the level (project or portfolio) at which the portfolio can be impacted, or impact level.

Regarding risk sources in the PPM context, different risk categorization structures have been proposed [7, 9, 11–13, 16, 17, 20, 53, 60], for both generic project portfolios and for specific project portfolios, such as those in IT, construction, or new product development projects. Risk categories identified by these authors are associated to a project portfolio's

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

level of risk source, without representing a specific relationship to the extent of impacts on the portfolio in general or only on some projects within the portfolio. Table 4 synthetizes the four risk source categories, under which more specific sub-groups of portfolio risk sources can be classified.

Category	Subcategories
Project portfolio management level	Inadequate aggregation and distribution of information, portfolio imbalance and stakeholder management [9, 20]. Conflicts among managers of projects, conflicts among portfolio element managers and the company's senior managers, conflicts between stakeholders or organizational culture adverse to change [20, 53]. Lack in project portfolio management capabilities [9, 20, 53].
Project interactions	Resource interdependencies and lack of sufficient resources [9, 13, 20]. Relationship between projects where developing one of them depends on one or more outputs from another project [11, 53].
External conditions	Supplier and contracts [16, 60]. Changes in external conditions, such as norms, competitive environment, policies, or economic conditions [12, 16, 17, 60, 61].
Organizational conditions	Improper portfolio structure, structural reorganizations of company or portfolio, or changes in internal policies [16, 45, 53]. Fund arrival rate [12, 17, 20]. Changes in the basic parameters of projects and programs [16, 20, 60]. Project and program life cycle management processes [12, 20, 60].

Table 4. PPR categories and subcategories

4.4 PPR assessment

In order to obtain an adequate representation of risk impact, two characteristics must be considered. The first characteristic is the consideration that risk corresponds to a multidimensional measure [19, 55]. The second is the strategy for risk factors, or uncertainty representation, in order to obtain a measure of risk as a consequence [32]. In order to represent or optimize project portfolio risk, different methods have been used. Table 5 summarizes the main methods used for this purpose.

Some approaches used to assess portfolio risk are based on historical data. However, the literature highlights that generally limited or imprecise information hinders whatever process occurs in this way [56, 63]. In order to address uncertainty from the real-world perspective, alternative approaches like Montecarlo simulation, fuzzy logic, and occurrence likelihood evaluation have been used, capturing, as they do, uncertainty as an input to decision-making models based on expert judgment [9, 67–70]. Recent studies show that the fuzzy approach has not yet been fully applied in the project selection problem [71], and it has not been implemented for risk analysis in the project portfolio execution context. Montecarlo simulation also shows a very low level of incorporation into the portfolio execution phase, while being widely implemented in project portfolio selection with risk considerations, as incorporated by Neumeier et al. [55] and Panadero et al. [29].

Expected shortfall, tail conditional expectation, standard deviation, semi-standard deviation, semi-variance, value at risk (VaR), and conditional value at risk have all been identified as project and project portfolio risk measures, of which the VaR method is most frequently used in RM [66, 72, 73]. However, it is important to consider that the conditional value at risk method "provides more information than VaR and is a commonly used risk measure in portfolio optimization models" [72, p. 1654]. In this regard, the set of projects selected for a specific strategic period may be different if the risk measure used is one or another, meaning that each risk measure may lead to a different set of projects to be selected [66].

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Method	Description
Modern Portfolio Theory [62–66]	This model uses the trade-off between risk and returns to find the efficient frontier. It is based on the traditional Markowitz mean-variance model, but other risk measures have been implemented in order to optimize a portfolio of non-divisible projects. In this regard, this approach establishes the set of projects that minimize the PPR level according to a defined return or that maximize the project portfolio return according to an established risk level.
Data Envelopment Analysis [60]	DEA is a non-parametric model for measuring efficiency or the capacity to have an input and an output and even several inputs and outputs using the ratio of outputs' weighted sum to the inputs' weighted sum. In the project portfolio context, the objective function of this model tends to maximize portfolio efficiency while minimizing the risk, generating an efficient frontier.
Analytic Hierarchy Process [12]	The process of project portfolio selection considers the set of projects and their decision criteria and sub-criteria. A comparison between each pair of criteria is carried out in order to obtain the weight (relative importance) of each criterion and sub- criterion. In the same way, each pair of projects are compared for each criterion. In this context, criteria related to risk for the project or for the portfolio are included as part of the evaluation process.
Complex network theory [10]	This is based on the identification of nodes that represent interdependencies between projects, establishing a structure of how projects are connected to each other. Based on the role analysis of nodes in a portfolio as a network, the method seeks to minimize the risk level while improving the efficiency of the portfolio through cooperation between projects, for which small communities or subgroups of projects are established.
Bayesian networks [9, 11, 18]	Bayesian networks assess cascading effects. They allow for technical, resource, and risk interdependencies to be assessed through a transitive dependencies model. In a Bayesian network, nodes correspond to random variables and arcs specify direct causal relationships between the linked nodes. A Bayesian network has conditional probability distributions for all variables.

Table 5. Main methods used for risk assessment or optimization in the project portfolio context

5. Future directions for research

In answer to the second research question: 'How can future research expand the PPRM research area?', four directions for future research on PPRM were identified, which should not be regarded as an exhaustive set of future directions given that each can be expanded upon and, indeed, other future directions could be identified through different or complementary analysis. Fig. 2 summarizes these future directions and outlines each main focus, also showing the relationship between future directions and the main current topics identified in the previous section.

5.1 PPRM as part of organizational RM

There is a gap between RM processes, the requirements of a project portfolio threats/opportunities management, and the strategic management of threats and opportunities [54, 74]. A RM system at the project portfolio level should generate high visibility of the state of the project portfolio for top management, and it should allow planning and execution of threats/opportunities management in an integrated and coordinated manner throughout both the project life cycle and the project portfolio life cycle [54, 75]. In this sense, the integration of PPRM into the project and program level and into the organizational level using Enterprise RM systems, and other methodologies that allow a global and dynamic vision, should be explored, both in a theoretical sense and in its practical dimension. As a complement to this, risk visualization systems - the relationship with performance variables, with decision variables and their behavior over time, need to be explored. Indeed, the proposal by Silva et al. [76] and Wang et al. [10] can be seen as an example of this.

RM skills as management and dynamic capabilities according to the dynamic and changing environment of current organizations, and according to the culture and competitive environment of each organization, can be considered as relevant topics in the decision-making process [74, 77]. However, descriptions of how to incorporate dynamic capabilities in practice are rare, for which reason empirical studies on this topic are needed [16].

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research



Fig. 2. PPRM main currents topics and future directions identified

5.2 RM, success dimensions and strategic impact

Different levels associated with the impact of PPRM have been explored. Thus, future research could focus on establishing hierarchies between the identified levels, as well as interrelations between levels and intra-relations within each level, which, in turn, would allow the impact of the risk factors in each decision level to be established. To pursue this, empirical studies, historical information analysis and expert judgment, among other means, can be used to obtain methods, methodologies and indicators that allow for the identification and evaluation, both qualitatively and quantitatively, of the relationships between each level and the effect of the threats/opportunity factors on each of the decision levels. In this regard, conceptual frameworks have been proposed to determine the impact of the risks and opportunities on strategic and operative aspects that allow the performance of the portfolio to be monitored from a strategic perspective [8, 19, 78]. The extension of these proposals to practical applications that allow for their validation in the real context of each organization is necessary [7, 78].

From another perspective, research focused on the evaluation of RM, riskiness, or the interdependencies between projects as contingent factors between PPM and project portfolio success will allow the importance of the PPRM to be qualified and quantified, and will identify which conditions, environment characteristics or project portfolio characteristics represent aspects to be considered for adequate PPRM [52, 77, 79]. Additionally, to identify and underline the time effects, longitudinal studies would have to be employed [79], which could allow for assessment of the time effect between RM and project portfolio success. Likewise, the identification and characterization of moderating or contingent factors between RM and project portfolio success has been and should continue to be a focus of attention. Thus, empirical studies based on practice and those methodological proposals oriented to establishing the

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

influence of different moderating factors must be developed. Identification of these factors allows for spotting RM capabilities and establishing strategies to deal with threats and opportunities [8, 19, 74].

5.3 Mechanism for PPR assessment

Different categories of risk factors have been proposed in the literature. However, additional studies are required to broaden the sample size and expand upon the approaches used to obtain results that can be generalized and that determine that the categories defined are feasible in practice [9, 15, 20]. PPR categorization should be developed based on practice and expert judgment.

PPR assessment raises the need to integrate different dimensions [12, 80]. In this regard, the definition of the weight for each of the risk dimensions is a determining factor that can generate major differences in the final result. Besides this, moderating factors must be taken into account, such as the fact that the project portfolio size may have a moderating effect on the allocation of weights [15, 61]. Thus, two aspects should continue to be explored. The first is associated with the types of methods and risk measures to be implemented according to the context and information available for each project portfolio, taking into account the differences established in the literature between risk measures [63, 81].

The second aspect to be considered is associated with the use of methods that allow for the incorporation of multidimensionality. Since the incorporation of risks into project portfolios is considered a multi-criteria problem, both optimization approaches and multi-attribute approaches should continue to be explored [48, 53, 82], in the perspective of seeking to consolidate the risk inherent in a measure or a subset of measures for the project portfolio and not just in each isolated project.

5.4 PPRM as a complex and dynamic system

It is generally assumed that projects are independent, with dependencies considered only when related to the sequence between projects, rarely exploring other types of dependencies [9, 55, 82]. The gaps in the literature regarding these issues, mainly associated with generic frameworks not adapted to the characteristics of the PPM environment, require that risk identification and RM go beyond this, considering the complexity associated with risks generated by the interaction between projects, risks at the project level and at strategic levels [9, 55].

Exploring alternatives to the traditional process-based approach is necessary: in the literature there are approaches to project portfolios, such as networks, knowledge networks, biological networks or complex and adaptive systems [9, 10, 55, 78], and it is necessary to deepen analysis of these alternative approaches and their application. The identification and exploration of other alternative approaches that allow a systemic, non-linear and dynamic representation, which supports the decision-making process, should also be considered [10, 55].

Approaches such as those proposed by Wang et al. [10], which look at finding the balance between project portfolio efficiency and risk through the identification of project subgroups, have great theoretical and practical importance. They make it possible to reduce not only the complexity of the decision-making process, but also to reduce the risk associated with interdependencies, generating a globally positive impact on PPR. In addition to this, approaches based on the concept of learning from information in projects and portfolios that have already been executed, such as artificial neural networks, can also help to understand the relationship between variables that make up the decision-making process [83].

6. Conclusions

The research reported in this paper has two main contributions to make. Firstly, it identifies the main topics and debates in the literature on PPRM. In this regard, this study has shown that PPRM has its theoretical and practical bases in the modern theory of portfolios, decision theory and RM. In addition to this, risk interdependencies, project interdependencies, and relationships between RM and project portfolio success have been shown to represent fundamental topics of PPRM. Likewise, PPR identification, categorization, and assessment were also identified as relevant to PPRM. The literature outlines some proposals oriented to defining methods, methodologies or approaches in order to support these topics. Secondly, it focuses on identifying future research directions, four of which are identified:

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

(1) PPRM as part of organizational RM; (2) RM, success factors and strategic impact; (3) Mechanisms for PPR assessment, and (4) PPRM as a complex and dynamic system. Therefore, the present study contributes to the current PPRM research by outlining the main topics and considering key characteristics and attributes for this field, as well as by identifying future directions, which give an informed overview for addressing PPRM challenges as a research area.

The present research process included works developed specifically in the PPRM field, as well as a structured search of those works analyzed. Conventional CA allowed for an understanding of each publication and made it possible to have a global and systemic insight into the current developments in PPRM. Between 2008 and 2014, a substantial part of the works focused on demonstrating the importance of the area, as well as exploring conceptual proposals. In recent years have specific proposals been published which identify, categorize and assess PPR, where the publications by Hofman et al. [35], Ghasemi et al. [9], and Wang et al. [10] can be seen as an example of this.

The structured literature review process carried out followed steps which are well-recognized in the literature, and which are specifically described in Svejvig and Andersen [41]. However, the step associated with the "conceptualization of topic" incorporated an unstructured and explorative search leading to the scope's definition. A set of string searches was defined and evaluated in order to obtain a string search that adequately represented the defined scope of the literature review. The above also allowed for the process of searching, evaluating, and selecting literature to be based on specific issues related to the topic under study, and not only on the authors' previous knowledge of the topic. In this regard, the incorporation of an unstructured and explorative search also brings a methodological contribution by this research towards the "conceptualization of topic" step within structured literature review processes.

Some limitations can be attributed to the findings presented. Although a structured search and analysis process was developed, Laursen and Svejvig [39] and Xia et al. [84] suggest that literature reviews can never be exhaustive and, therefore, in this process some articles or groups of articles may have been left out of the analysis. Possible exclusions may be the result of several factors: the keywords used, the search equation structure, the search scope or methodological deficiencies that could potentially be identified by other researchers. Overcoming these issues could be seen as opportunities for future work or for extensions of the research presented here. Besides this, in the literature analysis process related to qualitative analysis and CA, the cognitive bias cannot be fully eliminated, thus, the results obtained provide suggestions, but do not limit present and future directions for the PPRM research field [84].

Acknowledgements

This research was sponsored by the University of Valle, Colombia, and Colfuturo-Colciencias, Colombia.

References

*Indicates that the study is part of the structured literature review.

[1] M. Voss, "Impact of customer integration on project portfolio management and its success - Developing a conceptual framework," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 567-581, 2012.

[2] S. Clegg, C. P. Killen, C. Biesenthal and S. Sankaran, "Practices, projects and portfolios: Current research trends and new directions," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 762-772, 2018.

[3] M. Martinsuo, "Project portfolio management in practice and in context," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 794-803, 2013.

[4] S. Meskendahl, "The influence of business strategy on project portfolio management and its success - A conceptual framework," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 807-817, 2010.

[5] N. Hadjinicolaou and J. Dumrak, "Investigating Association of Benefits and Barriers in Project Portfolio Management to Project Success," *Procedia Engineering*, vol. 182, pp. 274-281, 2017.

*[6] J. Teller, A. Kock and H. G. Gemünden, "Risk management in project portfolios is more than managing project

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

risks: A contingency perspective on risk management," Project Management Journal, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 67-80, 2014.

*[7] M. Hofman, S. Spalek and G. Grela, "Shedding New Light on Project Portfolio Risk Management," *Sustainability*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 1798-1816, 2017.

*[8] J. Teller and A. Kock, "An empirical investigation on how portfolio risk management influences project portfolio success," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 817-829, 2013.

*[9] F. Ghasemi, M. Sari, V. Yousefi, R. Falsafi and J. Tamošaitienė, "Project Portfolio Risk Identification and Analysis, Considering Project Risk Interactions and Using Bayesian Networks," *Sustainability*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 1609-1631, 2018.

*[10] Q. Wang, G. Zeng and X. Tu, "Information Technology Project Portfolio Implementation Process Optimization Based on Complex Network Theory and Entropy," *Entropy*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 1-23, 2017.

*[11] D. Guan, P. Guo, K. Hipel and L. Fang, "Risk reduction in a project portfolio," *Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 3-22, 2017.

*[12] K. Chatterjee, S. Hossain and S. Kar, "Prioritization of project proposals in portfolio management using fuzzy AHP," *Opsearch*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 478-501, 2018.

*[13] M. Relich and P. Pawlewski, "A fuzzy weighted average approach for selecting portfolio of new product development projects," *Neurocomputing, vol.* 231, pp. 19-27, 2017.

*[14] R. J. Peters and C. Verhoef, "Quantifying the yield of risk-bearing IT-portfolios," *Science of Computer Programming*, vol. 71, no.1, pp. 17-56, 2008.

*[15] H. Costa, M. Barros and G. Travassos, "Evaluating software project portfolio risks," *Journal of Systems and Software*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 16-31, 2007.

*[16] Y. Petit and B. Hobbs, "Project Portfolios in Dynamic Environments: Sources of Uncertainty and Sensing Mechanisms," *Project Management Journal, vol.* 41, no. 4, pp. 46-58, 2010.

*[17] F. F. Razi, A. T. Eshlaghy, J. Nazemi, M. Alborzi and A. Poorebrahimi, "A hybrid grey-based fuzzy C-means and multiple objective genetic algorithms for project portfolio selection," *International Journal of Industrial and Systems Engineering*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 154-179, 2015.

*[18] A. Namazian and S. Yakhchali, "Modified Bayesian Network – Based Risk Analysis of Construction Projects: Case Study of South Pars Gas Field Development Projects," *ASCE-ASME Journal of Risk and Uncertainty in Engineering Systems, Part A: Civil Engineering*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1-11, 2018.

*[19] H. Sanchez, B. Robert and R. Pellerin, "A project portfolio risk-opportunity identification framework," *Project Management Journal*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 97-109, 2008.

*[20] M. Hofman and G. Grela, "Project portfolio risk identification-application of Delphi method," *Journal of Business and Economics*, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 1857-1867, 2015.

[21] Project Management Instituted, *The Standard for Portfolio Management*, 4th ed. Pennsylvania, United States: Project Management Institute, Inc., 2017.

*[22] H. Sanchez, B. Robert, M. Bourgault and R. Pellerin, "Risk management applied to projects, programs, and portfolios," *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 14-35, 2009.

*[23] A. Hasna and S. Raza, "The status of project portfolio management practices adoption and awareness in Gulf Cooperation Counties: an empirical study," *International Journal of Project Organisation and Management*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 174-192, 2010.

*[24] S. Bathallath, Å. Smedberg and H. Kjellin, "Managing project interdependencies in IT/IS project portfolios: A review of managerial issues," *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp.

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

67-82, 2016.

[25] D. Jonas, A. Kock and H. G. Gemünden, "Predicting project portfolio success by measuring management quality-a longitudinal study," *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 215-226, 2013.

[26] J. Kopmann, A. Kock, C. P. Killen, and H. G. Gemünden, "The role of project portfolio management in fostering both deliberate and emergent strategy," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 557-570, 2017.

*[27] J. Teller, "Portfolio risk management and its contribution to project portfolio success: An investigation of organization, process, and culture," *Project Management Journal*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 26-51, 2013.

[28] M. Crouhy, D. Galai and R. Mark, *The essentials of risk management*, 2nd Ed. New York, United States: McGraw-Hill, 2014.

*[29] J. Panadero, J. Doering, R. Kizys, A.A. Juan and A. Fito, "A variable neighborhood search simheuristic for project portfolio selection under uncertainty," *Journal of Heuristics*, Vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 1-23, 2020.

*[30] A. Tofighian, H. Moezzi, M. Khakzar and M. Shafiee, "Multi-period project portfolio selection under risk considerations and stochastic income," *Journal of Industrial Engineering International*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 571-584, 2018.

*[31] S. Yan and X. Ji, "Portfolio selection model of oil projects under uncertain environment," *Soft Computing*, Vol. 22, no. 17, pp. 5725-5734, 2018.

*[32] J. P. Paquin, D. Tessier and C. Gauthier, "The Effectiveness of Portfolio Risk Diversification: An Additive Approach by Project Replication," *Project Management Journal*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 94-110, 2015.

*[33] P. Smalley, S. Begg, M. Naylor, S. Johnsen, and A. Godi, "Handling risk and uncertainty in petroleum exploration and asset management: An overview," *AAPG Bulletin*, vol. 92, no. 10, pp. 1251-1261, 2008.

[34] T. Coleman, A practical guide to risk management, 1st ed. Charlottesville, United States: Research Foundation of CFA Instituted, 2011.

*[35] M. Hofman and G. Grela, "Project portfolio risk categorisation – Factor analysis results," *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 39-58, 2018.

*[36] H. Sanchez and B. Robert, "A matrix for monitoring the strategic performance of project portfolios," *International Journal of Project Organisation and Management*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 135-153, 2010.

*[37] K. Benaija and L. Kjiri, "Hybrid Approach for Project Portfolio Selection Taking Account of Resources Management and Interactions between Projects," *Journal of Digital Information Management*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 451-461, 2015.

[38] M. C. B. de Araújo, L. H. Alencar and C. M. Mota, "Project procurement management: A structured literature review," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 353-377, 2017.

[39] M. Laursen and P. Svejvig, "Taking stock of project value creation: A structured literature review with future directions for research and practice," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 736-747, 2016.

[40] M. Miterev, J. R. Turner and M. Mancini, "The organization design perspective on the project-based organization: a structured review," *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 527-549, 2017.

[41] P. Svejvig and P. Andersen, "Rethinking project management: A structured literature review with a critical look at the brave new world," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 278-290, 2015.

[42] J. Rowley and F. Slack, "Conducting a Literature Review," *Management Research News*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 21-29, 2004.

[43] M. Hällgren, "The construction of research questions in project management," International Journal of Project

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Management, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 804-816, 2012.

[44] J. Söderlund, "Pluralism in Project Management: Navigating the Crossroads of Specialization and Fragmentation," *International Journal of Management Reviews*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 153-176, 2011.

*[45] M. Hofman and G. Grela, "Taxonomy of the project portfolio risks-an empirical investigation," *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 121, pp. 137-144, 2017.

*[46] J. P. Paquin, C. Gauthier and P. P. Morin, "The downside risk of project portfolios: The impact of capital investment projects and the value of project efficiency and project risk management programmes," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol 34, no. 8, pp. 1460-1470, 2016.

[47] L. Hansen and P. Svejvig, "Towards rethinking Project portfolio management," in EURAM, Iceland, 2018.

*[48] N. Dobrovolskiene and R. Tamošiuniene, "Sustainability-Oriented financial resource allocation in a project portfolio through multi-criteria decision-making," *Sustainability*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 485-502, 2016.

[49] D. Leung and B. Chung, "Content Analysis: Using Critical Realism to Extend Its Utility," in *Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences*, 1st ed. Singapore: Pranee Liamputtong, Springer, 2019, ch 47, pp. 827-841.

[50] H. Hsieh and S. Shannon, "Three approaches to qualitative content analysis," *Qualitative Health Research*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 1277-1288, 2005.

*[51] J. A. Santos, P. Ohlhausen and M. Bucher, "Aligning innovation and Project Management by the Value Index," *International Journal of Technology Intelligence and Planning*, vol. 4, pp. 413-430, no. 4, 2008.

*[52] J. Rank, B. Unger and H. G. Gemünden, "Preparedness for the future in project portfolio management: The roles of proactiveness, riskiness and willingness to cannibalize," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 1730-1743, 2015.

*[53] J. Drake and T. Byrd, "Risk in Information Technology Project Portfolio Management," *Journal of Information Technology Theory and Application*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 1-11, 2006.

*[54] R. Olsson, "Risk management in a multi-project environment: An approach to manage portfolio risks," *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 60-71, 2008.

*[55] A. Neumeier, S. Radszuwill and T. Garizy, "Modeling project criticality in IT project portfolios," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 36, no. 6, 833-844, 2018.

*[56] D. Cooley, C. Galik, T. Holmes, C. Kousky and R. Cooke, "Managing dependencies in forest offset projects: Toward a more complete evaluation of reversal risk," *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 17-24, 2012.

*[57] N. Hall, D. Long, J. Qi and M. Sim, "Managing Underperformance Risk in Project Portfolio Selection," *Operations Research*, vol. 63, no. 3, pp. 660-675, 2015.

*[58] Y. Lopes and A. Almeida, "Assessment of synergies for selecting a project portfolio in the petroleum industry based on a multi-attribute utility function," *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, vol. 126, pp. 131-140, 2015.

*[59] B. Heinrich, D. Kundisch and S. Zimmermann, "Analyzing Cost and Risk Interaction Effects in IT Project Portfolios," *Banking and Information Technology*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 8-20, 2014.

*[60] M. Sharifighazvini, V. Ghezavati, S. Raissi and A. Makui, "Integration of a new mcdm approach based on the dea, fanp with monlp for efficiency-risk assessment to optimize project portfolio by branch and bound: A real case-study," *Economic Computation and Economic Cybernetics Studies and Research*, vol. 52, no.1, pp. 261-278, 2018.

*[61] F. F. Razi and S. Shariat, "A hybrid grey based artificial neural network and C&R tree for project portfolio selection Farshad," *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 651-665, 2017.

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

*[62] C. Brester, I. Ryzhikov and E. Semenkin, "Multi-objective Optimization Algorithms with the Island Metaheuristic for Effective Project Management Problem Solving," *Organizacija*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 364-373, 2017.

*[63] J. Kettunen and A. Salo, "Estimation of Downside Risks in Project Portfolio Selection," *Production and Operations Management*, vol. 26, no. 10, pp. 1839-1853, 2017.

*[64] B. J. Tang, H. L. Zhou and H. Cao, "Selection of overseas oil and gas projects under low oil price," *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, vol. 156, pp. 160–166, 2017.

*[65] W. Xu, G. Liu, H. Li and W. Luo, "A Study on Project Portfolio Models with Skewness Risk and Staffing," *International Journal of Fuzzy Systems*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 2033-2047, 2017.

*[66] V. Yousefi, S. Haji, J. Saparauskas and S. Kiani, "The impact made on project portfolio optimisation by the selection of various risk measures," *Engineering Economics*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 68-175, 2018.

*[67] K. Shafi, S. Elsayed, R. Sarker and M. Ryan, "Scenario-based multi-period program optimization for capability-based planning using evolutionary algorithms," *Applied Soft Computing Journal*, vol. 56, 717-729, 2017.

*[68] V. Mohagheghi, S. Mousavi, B. Vahdani and M. Shahriari, "R&D project evaluation and project portfolio selection by a new interval type-2 fuzzy optimization approach," *Neural Computing and Applications*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 3869-3888, 2017.

*[69] L. S. Mazelis and K. S. Solodukhin, "Optimization models of rolling planning for project portfolio in organizations taking into account risk and corporate social responsibility," *Journal of Applied Economic Sciences*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 795-805, 2015.

*[70] L. S. Mazelis, K. S. Solodukhin, A. D. Tarantaev and A. Y. Chen, "Fuzzy multi-period models for optimizing an institution's project portfolio inclusive of risks and corporate social responsibility," *Global Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 4089-4105, 2016.

*[71] V. Mohagheghi, S. M. Mousavi and B. Vahdani, "A new multi-objective optimization approach for sustainable project portfolio selection: A real-world application under interval-valued fuzzy environment," *Iranian Journal of Fuzzy Systems*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 41-68, 2016.

*[72] J. D. Molina, J. Contreras and H. Rudnick, "A risk-constrained project portfolio in centralized transmission expansion planning," *IEEE Systems Journal*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 1653-1661, 2017.

*[73] V. Mohagheghi, S. M. Mousavi and B. Vahdani, "A New Optimization Model for Project Portfolio Selection Under Interval-Valued Fuzzy Environment," *Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 3351-3361, 2015.

*[74] M. Arena, G. Azzone, E. Cagno, A. Silvestri and P. Trucco, "A model for operationalizing ERM in project-based operations through dynamic capabilities," *International Journal of Energy Sector Management*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 178-197, 2014.

*[75] M. I. Bolos, D. C. Sabau-Popa, E. Scarlat, I. A. Bradea and C. Delcea and E. Scarlat, "A business intelligence instrument for detection and mitigation of risk related to projects financed from structural funds," *Economic Computation & Economic Cybernetics Studies & Research*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 165-178, 2016.

*[76] C. G. da Silva, J. Meidanis, A. V. Moura, M. A. Souza, P. Viadanna, M. R. Oliveira, M. Oliveira, L. H. Jardim, G. A. Costa Lima and R. S. de Barros, "An improved visualization-based approach for project portfolio selection," *Computers in Human Behavior*, vol. 73, pp. 685-696, 2017.

*[77] S. Floricel and M. Ibanescu, "Using R & D portfolio management to deal with dynamic risk," *R&D Management*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 452-467, 2008.

*[78] H. Sanchez and B. Robert, "Measuring portfolio strategic performance using key performance indicators," *Project Management Journal*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 64-73, 2010.

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

[79] A. Kock, W. Heising and H. G. Gemünden, "A Contingency Approach on the Impact of Front-End Success on Project Portfolio Success," *Project Management Journal*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 115-129, 2016.

*[80] E. V. Broilo and I. G. Nazarova, "Methodological approach to assessing performance of the organization projects," *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, vol. 9, no. 27, pp. 1-12, 2016.

*[81] J. A. Sefair, C. Y. Méndez, O. Babat, A. L. Medaglia and L. F. Zuluaga, "Linear solution schemes for Mean-SemiVariance Project portfolio selection problems: An application in the oil and gas industry," *Omega*, vol. 68, pp. 39-48, 2017.

*[82] T. Heydari, S. M. Seyed Hosseini and A. Makui, "Developing and solving an One-Zero non linear goal programming model to R and D portfolio project selection with interactions between projects," *International Business Management*, vol. 10, no. 19, pp. 4516-4521, 2016.

*[83] F. Costantino, G. Di Gravio and F. Nonino, "Project selection in project portfolio management: An artificial neural network model based on critical success factors," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 1744-1754, 2015.

[84] N. Xia, P. X. Zou, M. A. Griffin, X. Wang and R. Zhong, "Towards integrating construction risk management and stakeholder management: A systematic literature review and future research agendas," *International Journal of Project Management*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 701-715, 2018.

Project portfolio risk management: a structured literature review with future directions for research

Biographical notes



Camilo Micán

Camilo Micán is an Industrial Engineering from University of Valle (Colombia), and holds a Master in Engineering from the same university. Student of the doctoral program in Industrial and System Engineering of the University of Minho (Portugal).

He is an Assistant Professor at the University of Valle, School of Industrial Engineering. His research interest are on project management, project risk management, project portfolio management, and related topics. Member of logistics and production research group at University of Valle. Professional experience as a project manager and consultant in planning and execution of projects both manufacturing and service organizations specifically projects focused to process improvement.



Gabriela Fernandes

Gabriela Fernandes is Assistant Professor at the Faculty of Sciences and Technology, University of Coimbra. Her research interests are in Organizational Project Management and Innovation Management, particularly in University-Industry R&D Collaborations context. She holds a PhD in Management from the University of Southampton (UK), MSc in Industrial Engineering - Evaluation and Project Management and Innovation and Graduation in Industrial Engineering and Management from the University of Minho (Portugal). She spent 10 years in the coordination and management of projects in different industries. Throughout her career, she served as an Executive Director. She developed and taught several project management training courses and as a consultant, coordinated the implementation of project management systems and project management office structures. She was Director of the PMI Portugal Chapter, and is Project Management Professional (PMP)® credential holder. She is author of several papers published in highly ranked international journals.



Madalena Araújo

Madalena Araújo is a Chemical Engineer and holds M.Sc. in Industrial Management and Ph.D. in Production Engineering, both from Birmingham University (U.K.). She is Full Professor on Industrial and Technology Management at Minho University (Portugal), Production and Systems Department, School of Engineering.

She is leader of the Industrial Engineering and Management Research Line of ALGORITMI Research Centre. Her research interests are on Economics of Engineering Systems and Management, mainly Decision and Utility Modelling, Project Evaluation and Management, Risk Analysis and their applications. She authored and coauthored over a hundred papers and supervised few dozen M.Sc. dissertations and Ph.D. theses.



International Journal of

Information Systems and Project Management

ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm

CENTERIS 2020

Conference on ENTERprise Information Systems

CENTERIS - Conference on ENTERprise Information Systems - aligning technology, organizations and people, intends to attract original, pertinent and relevant contributions on the technological, organizational and social dimensions of Enterprise Information Systems, including ERP, CRM, SCM, e-business, etc.

Detailed information available at: centeris.scika.org

ADVERTISING



International Conference on Project MANagement

ProjMAN - International Conference on Project MANagement, is a forum for academics, managers and solution providers, which brings together researchers and practitioners from all over the world, promoting opportunities to share experiences, debate ideas, identify tendencies, and introduce the latest developments in the largely multidisciplinary field of Project Management.

Detailed information available at: projman.scika.org

ADVERSTISING









International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management ISSN (print):2182-7796, ISSN (online):2182-7788, ISSN (cd-rom):2182-780X Available online at www.sciencesphere.org/ijispm